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Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below, as well
as the other information in this Annual Report, including our financial statements and the related notes thereto and
Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, ” before deciding whether to invest
in our securities. The occurrence of any of the risks, the events or developments described below could harm our business,
financial condition, operating results, and growth prospects. In such an event, the market price of our common stock could
decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we
currently deem immaterial also may impair our business operations. You should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties
summarized and set forth in detail below and elsewhere in this Annual Report before you decide to invest in our common stock.
Summary of Risk Factors We are providing the following summary of the risk factors contained in this Annual Report to
enhance the readability and accessibility of our risk factor disclosures. This summary does not address all of the risks that we
face. We encourage you to carefully review the full risk factors contained in this Report in their entirety for additional
information regarding the material factors that make an investment in our securities speculative or risky. The primary categories
by which we classify risks include those related to: (i) our business, (ii) regulatory and industry, (iii) country and currency, and
(iv) common stock. Set forth below within each of these categories is a summary of the principal factors that make an
investment in our common stock speculative or risky. Business Risks ® Our future performance is difficult to evaluate because
we have a limited operating history. ® We have a history of losses and expect to continue to incur losses in the future. ® We are
an exploration stage company, and there is no guarantee that our properties will result in the commercial extraction of mineral
deposits. ® Because the probability of an individual prospect ever having reserves is not known, our properties may not contain
any reserves, and any funds spent on exploration and evaluation may be lost. ® We face risks related to mining, exploration and
mine construction, if warranted, on our properties. ® Our long- term success will depend ultimately on our ability to achieve and
maintain profitability and to develop positive cash flow from our mining activities. ® We depend on our ability to successfully
access the capital and financial markets. Any inability to access the capital or financial markets may limit our ability to fund our
ongoing operations, execute our business plan or pursue investments that we may rely on for future growth. @ Our quarterly and
annual operating and financial results and our revenue are likely to fluctuate significantly in future periods. @ Our ability to
manage growth will have an impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. ® We depend upon Marc
Fogassa, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman. @ Our growth will require new personnel, which we will be required to
recruit, hire, train and retain. e Certain exeeuttve-of our officers and-direetors-may be in a position of conflict of interest.
Regulatory and Industry Risks @ The mining industry subjects us to several risks. @ Our operations are, and our mineral
projects will be subject to, significant government regulations, including environmental laws and regulations. ® We will be
required to obtain governmental permits in order to conduct development and mining operations, a process which is often costly
and time- consuming. ® Compliance with environmental regulations and litigation based on environmental regulations could
require 51gn1ﬁcant expenditures. ® Qur operatlons face substantial regulation of health and safety. e Our-eperations-are-subjeet
-Mineral prices are subject to unpredictable fluctuations . © Demand and
market prices for lithium will greatly affect the value of our investment in our lithium resources and our future revenues
and profitability generally . Country and Currency Risks @ Our ability to execute our business plan depends primarily on the
continuation of a favorable mining environment in Brazil and our ability to freely sell our minerals. ® The perception of Brazil
by the international community may affect us. ® Exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations and capital controls may adversely
affect our costs, earnings and the value of some of our assets. Common Stock Risks @ Our common stock price has been and
may continue to be volatile , and you could lose all or part of your investment . ¢ We do not intend to pay regular future
dividends on our common stock and thus stockholders must look to appreciation of our common stock to realize a gain on their
investments. @ We may seek to raise additional funds, finance acquisitions, or develop strategic relationships by issuing equity
securities that-woudd-. Any future issuances of equity will dilute your ownership. @ Our Series A Preferred Stock has the effect
of concentrating voting control over us in Marc Fogassa, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman —e-Mare-Fogassa-, our
Chief Exeeutive-Offieer-and member-with control of eu%Beafd-ef—Bifeefefs—ewns—greater than 50 % of our the-Company—s
voting securities, whieh-means-we are deemed a controlled company under the rules of Nasdaq e Our Chlef Executlve
Officer steelepﬂee-may—be—ve}aﬂ}e—and Chalrman y otid o y
difuttorras-has a y tStitg ders-have substant1al 1nfluence over eut-eompany-us as
a result of his voting control and -t-het%hls 1nterests may not be ahgned with the interests of our other stockholders, which may
discourage, delay or prevent a change in our control ef-eureempany-, which could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to
receive a premium for their securities. ® Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock by our stockholders in the
public market could cause our stock price to fall. @ Costs as a result of operating as a public company are significant, and our
management is required to devote substantial time to compliance with our public company responsibilities and corporate
governance practices. ® Our internal control over financial reporting may not meet the standards required by Section 404 of the
Sarbanes- Oxley Act, and failure to achieve and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with
Section 404 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act, could have a material adverse effect on our business and share price. Our future
performance is difficult to evaluate because we have a limited operating history. Investors should evaluate an investment in us
considering the uncertainties encountered by mineral exploration companies. Although we were incorporated in 2011, we began




to implement our current business strategy in 2646-2018 , which is primarily focused on the exploration of strategic minerals.
We have generated limited revenues from operations and our cash flow needs have been financed primarily-through equity and
debt issuances er-equity-and not through cash flows derived from our operations. As a result, we have little historical financial
and operating information available to help you evaluate and predict our future performance. In addition, advancing our projects
will require significant capital and time, and we are subject to all of the risks associated with developing and establishing new
mining operations and business enterprises as further described in these risk factors. There can be no assurance that our efforts
will be successful or that we will ultimately be able to attain profitability. We have a history of losses and expect to continue to
incur losses in the future. We have incurred losses in each of the twe-three past years, have negative cash flow from operating
activities, have had limited revenues and expect to continue to incur losses in the future. We have an accumulated deficit of
approximately $ 58-101 . 7 million as of December 31, 2622-2023 . We expect to continue to incur losses unless and until such
time as our projects or ene-of-otr-properties acqulred in the future aequired-properties-enters— enter into commercial
productlon and generates— generate sufficient revenues to fund continuing operations and we are able to develop at least one
economic deposit. If We-reeegnize-thatif-we are unable to generate cash flows from our operations, we will not be able to earn
profits er-and may be unable to continue operations. At this early stage of our operation, we also expect to face the risks,
uncertainties, expenses and difficulties encountered by companies at the mineral exploration stage. We cannot be sure that we
will be successful in addressing these risks and uncertainties and our failure to do so could have a materially adverse effect on
our financial condition. There is uncertainty regarding our ability to implement our business plan and to grow our operations
with our existing financial resources without additional financing. Our ability to implement our business plan is dependent on us
generating cash from operations, the sale of our commen stock and / or obtaining debt financing. Historically, we have funded
our operations primarity-through the issuance of debt and equity securities. Management’ s plan is to fund our capital
requirements and ongoing operations itelade-through the generation of revenue from our mining operations and projects =
Managements-seeondary-plan-, and until such time that we generate such revenue, to fund operations by eever-any
shortfalHs-selling our equity securities, including our common stock, or common stock in Apollo Resources and Jupiter Gold
that we own, entering into royalty agreements for the future sales of minerals or off- take agreements related to future
sales of negotiated quantities of minerals, and obtaining debt financing . For example , in 2023 we entered into a royalty
agreement with Lithium Royalty Corp., and in November 2023 we entered into Offtake and Sales Agreements with each
of Sichuan Yahua Industrial Group Co., Ltd. and Sheng Wei Zhi Yuan International Limited, a subsidiary of Shenzhen
Chengxin Lithium Group Co., Ltd., pursuant to which we agreed among other things, that for a period of five years, to
sell to each of the buyers 60, 000 dry metric tons of lithium concentrate per year. There is no assurance that we will be
successful in implementing our business plan or that we will be able to generate sufficient cash from operations, sell securities or
borrow funds on favorable terms or at all. Our inability to generate significant revenue or obtain additional financing could have
a material adverse effect on our ability to fully implement our business plan and grow our business . to-a-greater-extent-than-we
eatrwithrour-existing-finanetalresetrees-\We are an exploration stage company, and there is no guarantee that our properties will
result in the commercial extraction of mineral deposits. We are engaged in the business of exploring and developing mineral
properties with the intention of locating economic deposits of minerals. An economic deposit is a mineral property which can be
reasonably expected to generate profits upon extraction and commercialization of its minerals after considering all costs
involved. Our property interests are at the exploration stage. Accordingly, it is unlikely that we will realize profits in the short
term, and we also cannot assure you that we will realize profits in the medium to long term. Any profitability in the future from
our business will be dependent upon development of at least one economic deposit and most likely further exploration and
development of other economic deposits, each of which is subject to numerous riskrisks , faetors—including all of the risks
associated with developing and establishing new mining operations and business enterprises including: ® completion of studies
to verify reserves and commercial viability, including the ability to find sufficient ore reserves to support a commercial mining
operation; e the timing and cost, which can be considerable, of further exploration, preparing studies, permitting and
construction of infrastructure, mining and processing facilities; ® the availability and costs of drill equipment, exploration
personnel, skilled labor, and mining and processing equipment, if required; ® the availability and cost of appropriate smelting
and / or refining arrangements, if required; ® compliance with stringent environmental and other governmental approval and
permit requirements; ® the availability of funds to finance exploration, development, and construction activities, as warranted; ®
potential opposition from non- governmental organizations, local groups or local inhabitants that may delay or prevent
development activities; ® potential increases in exploration, construction, and operating costs due to changes in the cost of fuel,
power, materials, and supplies; and e potential shortages of mineral processing, construction, and other facilities related
supplies. Further, we cannot assure you that, even if an economic deposit of minerals is located, any of our property interests can
be commercially mined. The exploration and development of mineral deposits involves a high degree of financial risk over a
significant period which a-eembinationr-of-may not be mitigated or eliminated by carcful evaluation, experience and / or
knowledge of management maynotehminate- While discovery of additional ore- bearlng deposits may result in substantiat
rewards, few properties which are explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. Significant expenses may be
required to establish reserves by drilling and to construct mining and processing facilities at a particular site. It is impossible to
ensure that our current exploration programs will result in profitable commercial mining operations. The profitability of our
operations will be, in part, related to the cost and success of its exploration and development programs which may be affected by
several factors. Additional expenditures are required to establish reserves which are sufficient to commercially mine and to
construct, complete and install mining and processing facilities in those properties that are mined and developed. In addition,
exploration- stage projects like ours have no operating history upon which to base estimates of future operating costs and capital
requirements. Exploration project items, such as any future estimates of reserves, metal recoveries or cash operating costs will to
a large extent be based upon the interpretation of geologic data, obtained from a limited number of drill holes and other



sampling techniques, as well as future studies. Actual operating costs and economic returns of all exploration projects may
materially differ from the costs and returns estimated, and accordingly our financial condition, results of operations, and cash
flows may be negatively affected. Because the probability of an individual prospect ever having reserves is unknown, our
properties may not contain any reserves, and any funds spent on exploration and evaluation may be lost. We are an exploration
stage company, and we have no “ reserves. ” A mineral reserve is defined in Regulation S- K 1300 as an estimate of tonnage and
grade or quality of ““ indicated mineral resources ” and “ measured mineral resources ” (as those terms are defined in Regulation
S- K 1300) that, in the opinion of a “ qualified person ” (as defined in Regulation S- K 1300), can be the basis of an
economically viable project. We cannot assure you about the existence of economically extractable mineralization at this time,
nor about the quantity or grade of any mineralization we may have found. Because the probability of an individual prospect ever
having reserves is uncertain, our properties may not contain any reserves and any funds spent on evaluation and exploration may
be lost. Even if we confirm reserves on our properties, any quantity or grade of reserves we indicate must be considered as
estimates only until such reserves are mined. We do not know with certainty that economically recoverable minerals exist on our
properties. In addition, the quantity of any reserves may vary depending on commodity prices. Any material change in the
quantity or grade of reserves may affect the economic viability of our properties. Further, our lack of established reserves means
that we are uncertain about our ability to generate revenue from our operations. Even if we do eventually discover a mineral
reserve on one or more of our properties, there can be no assurance that they can be developed into producing mines and that we
can extract those minerals. Both mineral exploration and development involve a high degree of risk, and few mineral properties
that are explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. Exploration activities require significant amounts of capital
that may not be recovered and may exceed our budget. Mineral exploration activities are subject to many risks, including the
risk that no commercially productive or extractable resources will be encountered. There can be no assurance that our the
Company-s-activities will ultimately lead to an economically feasible project or that it will recover all or any portion of its
investment. Mineral exploration often involves unprofitable efforts, including drilling operations that ultimately do not further
exploration efforts. Despite our efforts to budget such costs, the cost of minerals exploration is often uncertain, and cost
overruns are common. Substantial expenditures are required to establish reserves through drilling, to develop processes to
extract the ore and, in the case of new properties, to develop the extraction and processing facilities and infrastructure at any site
chosen for extraction. Although sabstanttal-benefits may be derived from the discovery of a major deposit, we cannot provide
any assurance that any such deposit will be commercially viable or that we will be able to obtain the funds required for
development on a timely basis. Drilling and exploration operations may be curtailed, delayed or eaneeled-cancelled as a result
of numerous factors, many of which are beyond our the-Cempany>s-control, including title problems, weather conditions,
protests, compliance with governmental requirements, including permitting issues, and shortages or delays in the delivery of
equipment and services. For example, following recent results of our exploration plans of our Minas Gerais Lithium Project, we
expect to incur greater eest-costs related to such exploration activities than originally budgeted for. While we believe we have
sufficient resources to fund our operations for the next twelve months, an increase in our drilling campaigns to keep pace with
positive findings of potential economic deposits ;may require us to raise additional capital which, if not available on reasonable
terms, may cause us to curtail our operations and impair our ability to become profitable. We face risks related to mining,
exploration and mine construction, if warranted, on our properties. Our level of profitability, if any, in future years will depend
to a great degree on prices of minerals set by global markets and whether our exploration- stage properties can be brought into
production. We cannot provide any assurances that the current and future exploration programs and / or studies on our existing
properties will establish reserves. Whether it will be economically feasible to extract a mineral depends on a number of factors,
including, but not limited to: the particular attributes of the deposit, such as size, grade and proximity to infrastructure; drilling
costs; mineral prices; mining, processing and transportation costs; the willingness of lenders and investors to provide project
financing; labor costs and possible labor strikes; and governmental regulations, including, without limitation, regulations
relating to prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure, land use, importing and exporting materials, foreign exchange, environmental
protection, employment, worker safety, transportation, and reclamation and closure obligations. The exact effect of these factors
cannot be accurately predicted, but the combination of these factors may result in us receiving an inadequate return on invested
capital. Our long- term success will depend ultimately on our ability to achieve and maintain profitability and to develop
positive cash flow from our mining activities. Our long- term success, including the recoverability of the carrying values of our
assets, and our ability to continue with exploration, development and commissioning and mining activities on our existing
projects or to acquire additional projects, depends ultimately on our ability to achieve and maintain profitability and to develop
positive cash flow from our operations by establishing ore bodies that contain commercially recoverable minerals and to develop
these into profitable mining activities. We cannot assure you that any ore body that we extract mineralized materials from will
result in achieving and maintaining profitability and developing positive cash flow. We depend on our ability to successfully
access the capital and financial markets. Any inability to access the capital or financial markets may limit our ability to fund our
ongoing operations, execute our business plan or pursue investments that we may rely on for future growth. Until commercial
production is achieved from one of our larger projects, we will continue to incur operating and investing net cash outflows
associated with among other things maintaining and acquiring exploration properties, undertaking ongoing exploration activities
and the development of mines. As a result, we rely on access to capital markets as a source of funding for our capital and
operating requirements. We cannot assure you that such additional funding will be available to us on satisfactory terms, or at all.
In order to finance our current operations and future capital needs, we will require additional funds through the issuance of
additional equity and / or debt securities or other financings . Depending on the type and the terms of any financing we pursue,
sharehotders-stockholders ’ rights and the value of their investment in our shares could be reduced. Any additional equity
financing will dilute shareholdings, and new or additional debt financing, if available, may involve restrictions on financing and

operating activities. For example, enJanaary-36-during the year ended December 31 , 2023, we issued the-Company-ratsed-an



aggregate of 2, 707, 417 shares $4-mitlionin-gross-proeecedsfronrthesale-of #s-our common stock in capital raising

transaetton-transactions exemptunderRegutation-S-ofthe-SeeurittesAet- [n addition, if we issue secured debt securities, the
holders of the debt would have a claim to our assets that would be prior to the rights of sharehetders-stockholders until the debt

is paid. Interest on such debt securities would increase costs and negatively impact operating results. The global decline in
economic conditions, geopolitical instability, and other macroeconomic factors, including inflation, interest rate and foreign
currency rate fluctuations, and volatility in capital markets could negatively impact our business, financial condition, and results
of operations, including our ability to raise capital. If we are unable to obtain additional financing, as needed, at competitive
rates, our ability to fund our current operations and implement our business plan and strategy will be affected, and we would be
required to reduce the scope of our operations and scale back our exploration, development and mining programs. There is 5
hewever;no guarantee that we will be able to secure any additional funding or be able to secure funding which will provide us
with sufficient funds to meet our objectives, which may-would adversely affect our business and financial position. Our
quarterly and annual operating and financial results and our revenue are likely to fluctuate significantly in future periods. Our
quarterly and annual operating and financial results are difficult to predict and may fluctuate significantly from period to period
—based on activities related to our exploration projects. For example, for the year ended December 31, 2023, costs associated
with our exploration activities were significantly higher than in prior years, which contributed to a substantial increase
to our net loss for the year as compared to the prior year. Our revenues, if any, net ineeme-loss and results of operations
may also fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors that are outside our control including, but not limited to, lack of sufficient
working capital, equipment malfunction and breakdowns, inability to timely find spare machines or parts to fix the broken
equipment, regulatory or licensing delays and severe weather phenomena. Our ability to manage growth will have an impact on
our business, financial condition and results of operations. Future growth may place strains on our financial, technical,
operational and administrative resources and cause us to rely more on project partners and independent contractors, potentially
adversely affecting our financial position and results of operations. Our ability to grow will depend on several factors, including:
e our ability to successfully complete our exploration activities and develop existing projects; ® our ability to identify new
projects; @ our ability to continue to retain and attract skilled personnel; ® our ability to maintain or enter into relationships with
project partners and independent contractors; @ the results of our exploration programs; @ the market prices for our minerals; ®
our access to capital; and e our ability to enter into agreements for the sale of our minerals. We may not be successful in
upgrading our technical, operational and administrative resources or increasing our internal resources sufficiently to provide
certain of the services currently provided by third parties, and we may not be able to maintain or enter into new relationships
with project partners and independent contractors on financially attractive terms, if at all. Our inability to achieve or manage
growth may materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. We depend upon Marc
Fogassa, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman. Our existing operations and continued future development are largely
dependent upon the personal efforts and continued performance of Marc Fogassa, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
and principal stockholder. The loss of the services of Mr. Fogassa would have a material adverse effect on our business and
prospects. We maintain key- man life insurance on the life of Mr. Fogassa. See“Management—=If we were to lose Mr.
Fogassa, we may not be able to find appropriate replacements on a timely basis and our financial condition and results of
operations could be materially adversely affected. Although Mr. Fogassa spends significant time with us the-Cempany-and is
highly active in our management, he does not devote his full time and attention to Atlas Lithium. Mr. Fogassa also currently
serves as Chief Executive Officer and director of Apollo Resources Corporation (“ Apollo Resources ) and Jupiter Gold
Corporation (“ Jupiter Gold ). Our growth will require new personnel, which we will be required to recruit, hire, train and
retain. Our ability to recruit and assimilate new personnel will be critical to our performance. We compete with other mining
companies in the recruitment and retention of qualified managerial and technical employees. As we grow, we will be required to
recruit additional personnel and to train, motivate and manage employees. If we are unable to successfully compete for qualified
employees, our exploration and development programs may be slowed down or suspended. Certain exeeutive-officers and
direetors-may be in a position of conflict of interest. Marc Fogassa, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, also serves as
chief executive officer and director of Apollo Resources and Jupiter Gold. Joel Monteiro, Esq., one of our officers, is a director
#rof both Apollo Resources and Jupiter Gold. Areli Nogueira, one of our officers, is a director #-of Jupiter Gold. We have
partial equity ownership in both Apollo Resources and Jupiter Gold. There exists the possibility that one or more of these
individuals, or others, may in the future be in a position of conflict of interest —, where their interests may not be aligned with the
interests of our other stockholders, and he-they may from time to time be incentivized to take certain actions that benefit his
other—- the interests of Apollo Resources and / or Jupiter Gold and that our other stockholders do not view as being in their
interest as investors in us eureompany-. Adverse developments affecting the financial services industry, including events or
concerns involving liquidity, defaults or non- performance by financial institutions or transactional counterparties, could
adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. Events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-
performance or other adverse developments that affect financial institutions, transactional counterparties or other companies in
the financial services industry or the financial services industry generally, or concerns or rumors about any events of these kinds
or other similar risks, have in the past and may in the future lead to market Wlde 11qu1d1ty problems. We regularly malntaln
cash balances at third- party v ; ; v ; ;
DepartmentofFinanetal-financial 1nst1tut10ns in excess of Pfefeeﬁen—aﬂd—}nﬂev&ﬁefl—ﬁfhie}rappeﬁﬁed-the F ederal Deposn
Insurance Corporation ( the “ FDIC ) insurance limit. The FDIC took control and as-was appointed receiver —Stmitarby;-of
Silicon Valley Bank and New York Signature Bank on March 10, 2023, and March 12, 2023, respectively, and JPMorgan
Chase Bank assumed all deposits and substantially all assets of First Republic Bank on May 1, 2023. The Company did
not have any direct exposure to Silicon Valley Bank, New York Signature Bank and-Stivergate-Capital-Corp-or First
Republic Bank . svere-each-sweptinto-However, if other banks and financial institutions enter receivership —Adthetngh-we




assess-our—- or become insolvent in the future in response to financial conditions affecting the banking system and eustomer

relationships-as-we-believe-neeessary-financial markets, our ability to access our ex1st1ng cash, cash equivalents and

investments, or apprepriate;eur-access to-funding sources and other credit arrangements in amounts adequate to finance or
capitalize our current and projected future business operations may be threatened and could have a material adverse be

s&g&rﬁeaﬁ%y—r&m&rre&ay—faetefs—ﬂ&at—&ffeet—effect us-the-on our busmess and ﬁnanc1a1 condltlon sew-tees—md-ustfyhe%eeeﬂemy

ﬁﬂ&ﬂeia-l-seﬁﬁees—md-us&y— In addltlon investor concerns regardlng the U.S. or mternatlonal ﬁnan01a1 %y%tem% could result in
less favorable commercial financing terms, including higher interest rates or costs and tighter financial and operating covenants,
or systemic limitations on access to credit and liquidity sources, thereby making it more difficult for us to acquire financing on
acceptable terms or at all. Any decline in available funding or access to our cash and liquidity resources could, among other
risks, adversely impact our ability to meet our operating expenses, financial obligations or fulfill our other obligations, result in
breaches of our contractual obligations or result in violations of federal or state wage and hour laws. Any of these impacts, or
any other impacts resulting from the factors described above or other related or similar factors not described above, could have
material adverse impacts on our liquidity and our business, financial condition or results of operations. We may be unable to
retain the third - party contractors upon which we rely, including for drilling. We have agreements with consultants to perform
services for us , including with respect to performing-drilling services forts-. Each of these contractors perform functions that
require the services of persons in high demand in the industry and these persons may or may not always be available when
needed based on their status as contractors or at affordable prices. The implementation of our business plan and our exploration
activities may be impaired if we are not able to retain or afford our significant contractors or if they do not perform in
accordance with their agreements and the failure to conduct our exploration activities could result in delays in our ability to
execute on our business plan will could have an adverse effect on the value of our company and our common stock.
Implementation of our new ERP system could have a material adverse impact on our operations, business, financial
results and financial condition. We are implementing a new ERP system, which has required and may continue to
require significant investments of time, money and resources and may result in the diversion of senior management’ s
attention from our ongoing operations. Furthermore, the implementation will likely result in changes to many of our
existing operational, financial and administrative business processes, including, but not limited to, our budgeting,
purchasing, receiving, provisioning, servicing, accounting and reporting processes. The new ERP system will require
both the implementation of new internal controls and changes to existing internal control frameworks and procedures. If
technical problems or other significant issues arise in connection with the implementation or operation of the new ERP
system, it could have a material adverse impact on our operations, business, financial results and financial condition. The
mining industry subjects us to several risks. In our operations, we are subject to the significant risks normally encountered in the
mining industry, such as: e the discovery of unusual or unexpected geological formations; @ accidental fires, floods,
earthquakes or other natural disasters; ® unplanned power outages and water shortages; ® controlling water and other similar
mining hazards; e industrial and mining accidents; ® operating labor disruptions and labor disputes; @ the ability to obtain
suitable or adequate machinery, equipment, or labor; e our liability for pollution or other hazards; and e other known and
unknown risks involved in the conduct of exploration and operation of mines. These hazardous activities pose significant
management challenges and could result in loss of life, a mine shutdown, damage to or destruction of our properties and
surrounding properties, production facilities or equipment, production delays or business interruption. Our mineral projects are
swHbe-subject to significant governmental regulations. Mining activities in Brazil are subject to extensive federal, state, and
local laws and regulations governing environmental protection, natural resources, prospecting, development, production post-
closure reclamation costs, taxes, labor standards and occupational health and safety laws and regulations, including mine safety,
toxic substances and other matters. The costs asseetated-with-eomphianee-we will incur to comply with such laws and
regulations ean-are expected to substantially increase once we progress from exploration activities to mining and
production operations as is our intention. We also will be substanttal-subject to periodic inspections by governmental
authorities, which could result in fines, penalties or other actions by such authorities, any of which could have a material
adverse effect on our future operations . In addition, changes in such laws and regulations, or more restrictive interpretations
of current laws and regulations by governmental authorities, could result in unanticipated capital expenditures, expenses, or
restrictions on, or suspensions of our operations and delays in the development of our properties. We are swi-be-required to
obtain governmental permits in order to conduct development and mining operations, a process which is often costly and time-
consuming. We are required to obtain and renew governmental permits for our exploration activities and, prior to developing or
mining any mineralization that we discover, we will be required to obtain new governmental permits. Obtaining and renewing
governmental permits is a complex, costly and time- consuming process. The timeliness and success of permitting efforts are
contingent upon many variables not within our control, including the interpretation of permit approval requirements
administered by the applicable permitting authority. We may not be able to obtain or renew permits that are necessary te-for our
planned operations or the cost and time required to obtain or renew such permits may exceed our expectations. Any unexpected
delays or costs associated with the permitting process could delay the exploration, development or operation of our properties,
which in turn could materially adversely affect our future revenues and profitability. In addition, key permits and approvals may
be revoked or suspended or may be changed in a manner that adversely affects our activities. Private parties, such as
environmental activists, frequently attempt to intervene in the permitting process and to persuade regulators to deny necessary
permits or seek to overturn permits that have been issued. Obtaining the necessary governmental permits involves numerous
jurisdictions, public hearings and possibly costly undertakings. These third- party actions can materially increase the costs and



cause delays in the permitting process and could cause us to not proceed with the development or operation of a property. In
addition, our ability to successfully obtain key permits and approvals to explore for, develop, operate and expand operations will
likely depend on our ability to undertake such activities in a manner consistent with the creation of social and economic benefits
in the surrounding communities, which may or may not be required by law. Our ability to obtain permits and approvals and to
successfully operate in particular communities may be adversely affected by real or perceived detrimental events associated with
our activities . Our operations are subject to extensive environmental laws and regulations.Our exploration,development,mining
and processing operations are subject to extensive laws and regulations governing land use and the protection of the
environment,which generally apply to air and water quality,protection of endangered,protected or other specified
species,hazardous waste management and reclamation.We have made,and expect to make in the future,significant expenditures
to comply with such laws and regulations.Compliance with these laws and regulations imposes substantial costs and burdens,and
can cause delays in obtaining,or failure to obtain,government permits and approvals which may adversely impact our closure
processes and operations — Compliance with environmental regulations and litigation based on environmental regulations could
require significant expenditures. Environmental regulations mandate, among other things, the maintenance of air and water
quality standards, and the rules on land development and reclamation. They also set forth limitations on the generation,
transportation, storage, and disposal of solid and hazardous waste. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner that may
require stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non- compliance, more stringent environmental
assessments of proposed projects, and a heightened degree of responsibility for mining companies and their officers, directors
and employees. In connection with our current exploration activities or with our prior mining operations, we may incur
environmental costs that could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Any failure to
remedy an environmental problem could require us to suspend operations or enter into interim compliance measures pending
completion of the required remedy. Moreover, governmental authorities and private parties may bring lawsuits based upon
damage to property and injury to persons resulting from the environmental, health and safety impacts of prior and current
operations, including operations conducted by other mining companies many years ago at sites located on properties that we
currently own or formerly owned. These lawsuits could lead to the imposition of substantial fines, remediation costs, penalties
and other civil and criminal sanctions. We cannot assure you that any such law, regulation, enforcement or private claim would
not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. @u+-Mining operations face
substantial regulation of health and safety. ©a+Mining operations are subject to extensive and complex laws and regulations
governing worker health and safety aeress-europeratingregions-and eur-failure to comply with applicable legal requirements
can result in substantial penalties. Future changes in applicable laws, regulations, permits and approvals or changes in their
enforcement or regulatory interpretation could substantially increase costs to achieve compliance, lead to the revocation of
existing or future exploration or mining rights or otherwise have an adverse impact on our results of operations and financial
position. In addition to potential government restrictions and regulatory fines, penalties or sanctions, our ability to operate
(including the effect of any impact on our workforce) and thus, our results of operations and our financial position (including
because of potential related fines and sanctions), could be adversely affected by accidents, injuries, fatalities or events
detrimental (or perceived to be detrimental) to the health and safety of our employees, the environment or the communities in
which we operate. Our operations are subject to extensive environmental...... to increased compliance and input costs. Mineral
prices are subject to unpredictable fluctuations. Portions of our revenues may come from the extraction and sale of minerals. The
price of minerals may fluctuate widely and is affected by numerous factors beyond our control, including international,
economic and political trends, expectations of inflation, currency exchange fluctuations, interest rates, global or regional
consumptive patterns, speculative activities, increased production due to new extraction developments and improved extraction
and production methods and technological changes in the markets for the end products. For instance, the price of spodumene
concentrate has varied from a high of approximately $ 8, 000 per ton during the fourth quarter of 2022 to a low of
approximately $ 850 during the first quarter of 2024, as reported by industry publications. The effect of these factors on
the price of minerals, and therefore the economic viability of any of our exploration properties, cannot accurately be predicted .
The development of non- lithium battery technologies could adversely affect us. The development and adoption of new
battery technologies that rely on inputs other than lithium compounds could significantly impact our prospects and
future revenues. Current and next generation high energy density batteries for use in electric vehicles rely on lithium
compounds as a critical input. Alternative materials and technologies are being researched with the goal of making
batteries lighter, more efficient, faster charging and less expensive, and some of these could be less reliant on lithium
compounds. We cannot predict which new technologies may ultimately prove to be commercially viable and on what
time horizon. Commercialized battery technologies that use no, or significantly less, lithium could materially and
adversely impact our prospects and future revenues. There is risk to the growth of lithium markets. Our lithium
business will be significantly dependent on the development and adoption of new applications for lithium batteries and
the growth in demand for plug- in hybrid electric vehicles and battery electric vehicles. As such, our business results will
inherently depend on decarbonization of the global economy. To the extent that such development, adoption,
decarbonization and growth do not occur in the volume and / or manner that we contemplate, including for reasons
described under the heading “ The development of non- lithium battery technologies could adversely affect us, ” above,
the long- term growth in the markets for lithium products may be adversely affected, which would have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results. Demand and market prices for lithium will
greatly affect the value of our investment in our lithium resources and our future revenues and profitability generally.
Our ability to successfully develop our lithium resources and generate a return on investment will be affected by changes
in the demand for and market price of lithium- based end products. The market price of these products can fluctuate
and is affected by numerous factors beyond our control, primarily world supply and demand. Such external economic



factors are influenced by changes in international investment patterns, global economic activity and growth, the
unknown geopolitical consequences of the wars between Ukraine and Russia and between Israel and Hamas and macro-
economic circumstances. For example, in 2023, lithium prices significantly decreased by approximately 75 % to 85 %
from their high in January 2023 to the end of the year. In addition, the price of lithium products is impacted by their
purity and performance. We may not be able to effectively mitigate against such fluctuations. High volatility or declines
in the lithium prices could have a material and adverse effect on our ability to generate revenues and the future
profitability of our company generally. Changes in public policies and legislative initiatives could materially affect our
business and prospects. There has been substantial debate in the United States and abroad in the context of
environmental and energy policies affecting climate change, the outcome of which could have a positive or negative
influence on our prospects for growing our business. A change in the presidential administration may favor traditional
energy technologies and our future prospects could be adversely affected if renewable technologies were either (i)
disfavored in any new laws or regulations pursued by a future administration, or (ii) not included among those
technologies identified in any final laws or regulations as favoring renewable technologies, or not included in the state
plans to reduce carbon emissions, and therefore not entitled to the benefits of such laws, regulations, or plans . Our ability
to execute our business plan depends primarily on the continuation of a favorable mining environment in Brazil and our ability
to freely sell our minerals. Mining operations in Brazil are heavily regulated. Any significant change in mining legislation or
other changes in Brazil’ s current mining environment may slow down or alter our business prospects. Further, countries in
which we may wish to sell our mined minerals may impose special taxes, tariffs, or otherwise place limits and controls on
consumption of our mined minerals. The perception of Brazil by the international community may affect us. Brazil” s political
environment and its environmental policies, in particular the preservation of the Amazon rain forest, are continuously
scrutinized by the global media. If Brazil” s situation or policies are perceived as being inadequate, we may lose the interest of
investor groups or potential buyers of our minerals, which will have a negative impact on us. Exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations and capital controls may adversely affect our costs, earnings and the value of some of our assets. Our reporting
currency is the U. S. dollar; however, we conduct our business in Brazil utilizing the Brazilian real. A large portion of our
operating expenses are incurred in Brazilian real. An appreciation of the Brazilian real against the U. S. dollar would increase
our costs in U. S. dollar terms. Our consolidated financials are directly impacted by movements in the Brazilian real to U. S.
dollar exchange rate. While not expected, Brazil may choose to adopt measures to restrict the entry of U. S. dollars or the
repatriation of capital across borders. These measures would have a number of negative effects on us, reducing the immediately
available capital that we could otherwise deploy for investment opportunities or the payment of expenses, and the ability to
repatriate any profits. Our common stock price has been and...... other securities or instruments senior to our Common Stock
Risks . The holders of any debt securities...... or otherwise harm our stock price. Our stock price may be volatile, and you could
lose all or part of your investment. The trading price of our common stock may fluctuate substantially and will depend on
several factors, including those described in this “ Risk Factors ” section, many of which are beyond our control and may not be
related to our operating performance. These fluctuations could cause you to lose all or part of your investment in our securities.
Factors that could cause fluctuations in the trading price of our common stock include: e results from our exploration and / or 5
Hwarranted;project development efforts; ® changes to our industry, including demand and regulations ; @ actions by our
competitors or other industry participants ; e failure to achieve commercial extraction of mineral deposits from any of our
properties; ® absence of any reserves contained within our properties, and loss of any funds spent on exploration and evaluation;
e we may not be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors; ® competitive pricing pressures; ® our
ability to obtain working capital financing as required; ® additions or departures of key personnel; @ sales of our common stock;
e our ability to execute our business plan; ® operating results that fall below expectations; ® any major change in our
management; ® changes in accounting standards, procedures, guidelines, interpretations or principals; and ® economic, geo-
political and other external factors, particularly within the country of Brazil. In addition, the stock market in general has
experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating
performance of those companies. Broad market and industry factors, including actions by and the results of operations of our
competitors, as well as general economic, political and market conditions such as recessions or interest rate changes, may
seriously affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual operating performance. Further, in the past,
following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market prices of particular companies’ securities, securities class
action litigations have often been instituted against these companies. Litigation of this type, if instituted against us, could result
in substantial costs and a diversion of our management’ s attention and resources. Any adverse determination in any such
litigation or any amounts paid to settle any such actual or threatened litigation could require that we make significant payments.

shares-of-Sertes-APreferred-Stoekthenoutstanding;-.Our existing stockholders have substantial influence over our

company and the-helders-efeommeon-stoelkand-any-other— their interests may not be aligned elass-orseries-efeapital-stoek
entitedto-vote-with the eommon-stoekbeing-entitled-interests of our other stockholders,which may discourage,delay or

prevent a change in control of our company,which could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a
premium for their propertional-share-securities.As of the date remaining49-%-of this Annual Report,certain stockholders
control the tetal-votesbased-ontheirrespeetive-voting power in us,including management AS a result, MrFogassa-has-the
these ability-to-stockholders have substantial influence over our business

,including decisions regarding mergers, con@ohdatlonq and the sale of all or iub@tantlally all of our assets, election of directors
and other significant corporate actions €l
aetivittes- This concentration of ownerghlp may discourage, delay or prevent a change in our Control Wthh could deprlve our
stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their shares as part of any contemplated sale of #s-our Company and
may reduce the price of our common stock “We-are-You will experience dilution as a result of future equity offerings. We may




in the future offer additional shares of our common stock or other securities convertible into or exchangeable for our common
stock. Although no assurances can be given that we will consummate a future financing, in the event we do, or in the event we
sell shares of common stock or other securities convertible into shares of our common stock in the future, additional and
potentially substantial dilution will occur . Our existing stockholders have substantial influence...... reduce the price of our
common stock . Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock by our stockholders in the public market could
cause our stock price to fall. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market or the perception
that these sales might occur could significantly reduce the market price of our common stock and impair our ability to raise
adequate capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We are unable to predict the effect that such sales may have on
the prevailing market price of our common stock. Costs as a result of operating as a public company are significant, and our
management is required to devote substantial time to compliance with our public company responsibilities and corporate
governance practices. As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that private companies do
not incur. The Sarbanes- Oxley Act, the Dodd- Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the listing requirements
of the Nasdaq Capital Market, and other applicable securities rules and regulations impose various requirements on public
companies. Our management and other personnel will devote a substantial amount of time to compliance with these
requirements. Moreover, these rules and regulations will increase our legal and financial compliance costs and will make some
activities more time- consuming and costly. We cannot predict or estimate the amount of additional costs we will incur as a
public company or the specific timing of such costs. Our internal control over financial reporting may not meet the standards
required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act, and failure to achieve and maintain effective internal control over financial
reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act, could have a material adverse effect on our business and
share price. Our management is required to report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. The rules
governing the standards that must be met for our management to assess our internal control over financial reporting are complex
and require significant documentation, testing and possible remediation. We cannot assure you that there will not be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting in the future. Any failure to maintain
internal control over financial reporting could severely inhibit our ability to accurately report our financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows. If we are unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our
independent registered public accounting firm determines we have a material weakness or significant deficiency in our internal
control over financial reporting once that firm begins our Section 404 reviews, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy
and completeness of our financial reports, the market price of our common stock could decline, and we could be subject to
sanctions or investigations by Nasdaq, the SEC or other regulatory authorities. Failure to remedy any material weakness in our
internal control over financial reporting, or to implement or maintain other effective control systems required of public
companies, could also restrict our future access to the capital markets. Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments. None. Item 1C.
Cybersecurity As an exploration stage company, we have limited operations and our business activity to date has been
identifying, acquiring, and exploring mineral properties. We have not yet adopted formal cybersecurity risk
management programs or formal processes for assessing cybersecurity risks. We understand the importance of
managing material risks from cybersecurity threats and are committed, as part of our continuing growth, to
implementing and maintaining an adequate information security program to manage such risks and safeguard our
systems and data. Data used and stored on our information systems currently is limited to basic information related to
our core business operations, which at this time are not materially dependent on information technology. Also, we do not
store in our systems any customer or similar data. We currently manage our cybersecurity risk through practices that
are applicable to all users of our information technology and information assets, including our employees and
contractors. We notify these users of expectations regarding acceptable uses of our information systems and alert them
to potential sources of cybersecurity threats. We use a combination of technology and monitoring to prevent security
incidents. The technologies we utilize for cybersecurity monitoring across our information technology environment are
designed to prevent, detect and minimize cybersecurity attacks, as well as alert management of such attacks. In the last
three years, we have not experienced a cybersecurity threat or incident that materially affected our business strategy,
results of operations, or financial condition. However, there can be no guarantee that we will not experience such an
incident in the future. Our executive management team is responsible for the development of our policies and procedures
relating to our risk management, including cybersecurity risks. Our board of directors has ultimate oversight of our risk
management processes, including any cybersecurity- related risk and activities. In particular, our Audit Committee is
responsible for monitoring compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, in addition to considering and discussing
guidelines and policies to govern the process by which risk assessment and mitigation is undertaken. Item 2. Properties.
Lithium Projects Our lithium projects are listed in the following table with-respeetive-maps-below-. Mineral Name Location in
Brazil Aggregate Mineral Rights Area Lithium Minas Gerais Lithium Project State of Minas Gerais 468 km2 23;-785-heetares
58 FF4aeresy-Lithium Nertheastern-Other Brazil Lithium Project States of Paraiba ané-, Rio Grande do Norte 6-, and
Tocantins 71 km2With 583-heetares(16;266-aeres)-With-respect to the Minas Gerais Lithium Project, our current exploration
plan as-efthe-date-of this Anatal Report-is: @ a)-to continue both our exploratory and essresource- delineating drilling
campaigns to assess identified targets and to continue to estimate the size of our lithium- bearing mineral deposits; ® B}-to
present a maiden resource report in accordance with the standards set forth in Regulation S- K 1300, and to update plen-ot
eontinuaty-updating-such report as more drilling and data become available; ® €)to continue exploratory drilling on many-new
and existing target areas with pegmatites which our field geologists have identified; ® €)to continue careful geological map on
foot of the sast-mineral rights landbank that we have for presence of additional pegmatites; and ® e}to-presentthe-metaturgieat

reportexpeeted-fromSGSTakefieldand-to continuc mineratogieal-analysis-ofimplementing the early- revenue strategy
outlined in our depesitsMD & A with the intentintention of developing-aproeessing-progressing retite-for-to production of



the lithium concentrate, our designated commercial product , for sale. With respect to the Nertheastern-Other Brazil Lithium

Project, our cxplomuon plan as—e-ﬁfhe—&a-te—e-ﬁ&nsﬂ%nﬂﬁa-l—Repeﬁ—ls currently bemg desngned fe—rm&a-l-l-y—epeﬂ—ﬁ’v‘e—m—teﬁ

éeserrpﬁeﬁ-e-ﬁfhe—tefms—e%ﬁheﬁeqbﬂst&efh‘rgfeeﬁ%eﬂt— ()lhu (1111u11 Mmudls Our 0th1 umcal minerals pl()lellLS are llslul
in the following table wwith-respeetive-maps-betew-. Mineral (s) Name Location in Brazil {states)-Aggregate Mineral Rights Area
Nickel Nickel Properties States of Goids and Piaui 22;238-heetares(54;956-aeres)449 km2 Copper Copper Properties
States of Bahia and Piaui 251 km2 Rare Earths Rare Earths +Properties States of Bahia, Goias, and Tocantins 42-121 km2 5
+62-heetares{30;-054-aeres)-Titanium Titanium Properties State of Minas Gerais 69 km2 8;-923-heetares{(22;-050-aeresy
Graphite Graphite Properties State of Minas Gerais 39 km2With 5-57heetares-(13;-766-aeres)-Withrespect to the critical
mineral properties listed in the table above niekel;rare-earths;titantum;-and-graphitey-, we do not have detailed exploration

plans or budﬂcls as we hd\L focused our attention and limited resources to dalu pllmdlll toward our -I:l-t-hruﬂa—llthlum P-fejeefs

-I-I—M-rﬂas—Gefais—hee’fafes—H—l%S—aefesﬂ-lmn 3. Lugdl Pl()LLCdanS W are not a party to any material legal plouculm(*s llun 4.

Mine Safety Disclosures. Not applicable. PART II Item 5. Market for Registrant’ s Common Equity, Related Stockholder

Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities. Market Information and Current Stockholders Since January 10, 2023, our

common stock has been lladlmr on the Naxddq Capital Market LLC (* Nasdaq ") under the symbol “ ATLX. ” Quetationsfor
bleo sdag—eom—Prior to January 10, 2023, our common was quolcd on the OTCQB

Mar I\LlpldLL (“ ()T( QB ) opualui by the ()T( Markets Group, Inc. under the symbol “ ATLXD. ” As The-feHowing-tablesets

forth;-for-each-of March 20, 2024, the-there were 132 holders quarterlyperiods-indieated;-therange-of record of high-andHow
sales-priees;in-U—S—deHars;for-our common stock , which does not include beneficial owners for whom CEDE & Co each

qﬁ&ﬁeﬁnée%l—&nd—z-e%z— or others act as nommees ¥e&r—Eﬁ&ed-Qﬁaﬁefs—Beeember—3H92—H{fgh—Eeﬁ#Frfs&9H9+—93+

v y . Dividends We have nol pdld any msh div ldLI]d\ since our
inception and do not expect to dcclau any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
Exeeptas-In addition to the sales of unregistered securities previously disclosed in #em+5-efour Registration-Statement
Quarterly Reports on Form $-10 - Q or Current Reports +-deelared-effeetive-by-the-SEC-on January9;-Form 8- K (the «
2023 Periodic Reports ”) , we consummated there--- the following have-beenrno-othersales of unregistered securities during
the period-eovered-fourth quarter of fiscal 2023, which sales were exempt from registration under the Securities Act upon
reliance on Section 4 (a) (2) thereof, and Regulation S promulgated thereunder: ¢ On November 20, 2023, we issued an
aggregate of 18, 001 shares of common stock upon exercise of three outstanding warrants that were originally issued in
July, August and November of 2021. The warrants had exercise prices ranging from $ 9. 00 to $ 15. 00 per share and we
received proceeds of $ 222, 015 in connection with such exercises. ® On November 20, 2023, we issued an aggregate of 40,
000 shares of common stock upon exercise of a stock option held by this-Anntat-a consultant to us that was issued in
exchange for services rendered. The exercise price of the stock option was $ 7. 00 per share, and we received proceeds of
$ 280, 000 upon exercise. ® On December 11, 2023, we issued an aggregated of 18, 003 shares of common stock upon
exercise of six outstanding warrants that were originally issued in August and December of 2021. The warrants had
exercise prices ranging from $ 9. 00 to $ 15. 00 per share and we received proceeds of $ 191, 035. 50 in connection with
such exercises. ¢ On December 21, 2023, we issued to a director an aggregate of 151, 141 shares of common stock upon
exercise for $ 0. 0075 per share of a stock option that had been granted in April of 2019. e Between December 22, 2023,
and December 27, 2023, we issued an aggregate of 30, 630 shares of common stock upon exercise of six outstanding
warrants, four of which were originally issued in August, September, October and December 2021 and two of which
were issued in August and September of 2022. The warrants had exercise prices ranging from $ 5. 625 to $ 15. 00 per
share. An aggregate of 3, 962 of shares of common stock were issued pursuant to cashless exercises of two of the
warrants, for which we received no proceeds. As the result of the exercises of the remaining four warrants, we received
cash proceeds of $ 305, 016. In May 2023 and December 2023, the Company issued to Mr. Fogassa an aggregate of 180,
819 shares of common stock for achievement of performance targets in 2022, and upon exercise of a stock option granted
in April 2019. Finally, in April 2023, In addition to the sales of unregistered securities disclosure included in our 2023
Periodic Report-Reports , and as otherwise disclosed above, during the first three quarters of fiscal year ended December
2023, we issued an aggregate of 85, 042 shares of common stock pursuant to certain employee and consultant
compensation arrangements prior to the adoption of our 2023 Stock Incentive Plan; 240, 796 shares of common stock
pursuant to the cashless exercises of warrants and 16, 667 shares of common stock pursuant to a cash exercise of a
warrant, for which we received $ 137, 502 in cash proceeds, each originally issued in 2021; and 28, 149 shares of common
stock in other transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act., for which we received cash



proceeds of $ 380, 012. Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers Neither we nor any
affiliated purchaser or anyone acting on our behalf or on behalf of an affiliated purchaser made any purchases of shares
of our common stock during the year ended December 31, 2023 . Item 6. [ Reserved | [tem 7. Management’ s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation. The following discussion of our financial condition and results of
operations should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and the notes to those financial
statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report. This discussion and analysis below iekades— include forward- looking
statements that are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors described in the “ Risk Factors ” section that could cause
actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward- looking statements as a result of various factors.
Additionally, our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any period in the future.
—We caution you to read the “ Forward Looking Statements ” section of our Annual Report. Overview Atlas Lithium
Corporation (“ Atlas Lithium - “BraztbMinerals-, 2the “ Company 7, “we 7, “us3", or “ our "’ refer to Atlas Lithium
Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries ) is a mineral exploration and mining-development company with lithium
projects and multiple lithium exploration properties . In addition, we own exploration properties in other eritieat-and-battery
minerals , including to-power-the-GreenEnergyReveolation—nickel , copper , rare earths, graphite, and titanium. Our current
focus is emrthe devetoping-development from exploration to active mining of our hard- rock lithium project located in the
state of Minas Gerais State-in Brazil at a well- known spremter-pegmatitic district in Brazil , which has been denominated by
the government of Minas Gerais as “ Lithium Valley . ” We intend to mine and then process our lithium- containing ore
to prodme ﬁnd-sel-l—llthmm concentr: dte (also known as spodumene concentrate) a l<ey muedlent for the battery supply
cham h 3 v e m ppty—We arc building inr-the

S P § a modular plant targeted at l-rthrttm—eeﬂeeﬂtfa-t-teﬂ—faeﬁ-rw—e&pable—ef
producms_ 150, 000 tons ot 11th1um concentrate annwaty-per annum (“ tpa ) in what we describe as Phase I. We plan on
adding additional modules to the plant with the intent of doubling its production capacity to 300, 000 tpa in Phase II .
However, there can be no assurance that we will have the necessary capital resources to develop such facility or, if developed,
that we will reach the production capacity necessary to commercialize our products and with the quality needed to meet market
demand. All efour mineral projects and properties are located in Brazil and-eur-, a well- established mining jurisdiction. Our
mineral rights pertfolto-for-eritieal-and-battery-minerals-ineludes— include approximately #5-: @ 53 | 640-aeres-942 hectares (
364-539 km?2) for lithium in 64-95 mineral rights (2 in pre- mining concession stage , 54-85 in exploration stage , 956-acres
and 8 in pre- exploration stage); ® 44, 913 hectares (449 km2) for nickel 222dem2)-in +5-29 mineral rights ;736;-054-aeres(
23 in exploration stage, and 6 in pre- exploration stage); e 25, 050 hectares (251 km2) for copper in 13 mineral rights (
+22-- 12 in exploration stage, and 1 in pre- exploration stage); e 12, 144 hectares (121 km?2) for rare earths in sever7
mineral rights, 22-all in exploration stage; ® 6 , 650-aeres-927 hectares ( 89-69 km?2) for titanium in sever-5 mineral rights, and
+43-all in exploration stage; ® 3 , 766-aeres-910 hectares ( 56-39 km?2) for graphite in three-2 mineral rights , all in exploration
stage; ® 1, 030 hectares (10 km2) for gold mineral rights, all in exploration stage. In addition, we also have a few
additional mineral rights in the process of being acquired and not yet titled in our name . We believe that we hold the
largest portfolio of thiwmmineral-exploration properties for lithium and other battery minerals in Brazil ;-a-premter-and

%H—eﬁabhshedjﬁﬂsdieﬁeﬂ—feﬁhaf&—feel&h&ﬂ&m— We are prlmdnly focused on adv dncmo and developms_ our hdld rock

MGLP ”) is our lcl.l gest prOJect and cons1sts of 52—85 mmeldl rlohts spredd over appr0x1mately 468 56—97—8—aefes—€2—2—7—km2}
and predominantly located within the Brazilian Eastern Pegmatitic Province which has been surveyed by the Brazilian
Geologmal Surv ey and is known for the presence of hdld rock formatlons known as pegmatltes which contdm 11thlum bedrmg

e*peeted—htgh—gfewt-lrfer—t-he-ﬂext—sevefal-éee&des—We behe\ e that we can ma-teﬂa-l-l—y—mmedse our value by contmulng the

aeeelerationof our exploratory work and quantification of our lithium mineralization as well as by expanding our exploration
campaign to new, high- potential areas within our portfolio of mineral rights . Our initial commercial goal is to be able to
enter production of lithium —bearirg-concentrate, a product which is highly sought after in the battery supply chain for E¥s
electric vehicles . We also have 100 %- ownership of early- stage projects and properties in other minerals that are needed in
the battery supply chain and high technology applications such as nickel, copper, rare earths, graphite, and titanium. We believe
that the shift from fossil fuels to battery power s+H-may yield long- term opportunmes for us not only in lithium but also in such
other mmemls Addtﬁeﬂ&l-l-y—ln addltlon to these prolects we hay oV al-mining-eoneesstons g

2622-The-company-owns—- own 45—58 HT1 % of the shares of common stock of Apollo Resourtes Corporation{“Apoto
-Resettfees—)— a private company ewfrenthy-primarily focused on the development of its initial iron mine. We Fhe-eompany-also
- own approximately 2827 . 72-42 % of the shares of common stock of Jupiter Gold €orperation{“Jupiter-Gotd>)- a
comp"lny focused on the development-exploration of two gold projects and efa quartzite mine, and whose common stock are
quoted on the OTCQB marketplace under the symbol * JUPGF ” The quartz1te mine ﬁ—ful-l-y—peiﬁrtted—aﬁd-rs—e*peeted—te%t&ﬁ-
started preliminary operations mie-in June 2023 —ApeHe have-notgenerated-an vertes :
. The results of operations from both Apollo Resources and Juplter Gold are consohdated in our f1mnc1dl statements under

aeeounting prineiples-generally-aeeeptedin-U. S. GAAP. Operational Update Lithium Exploration Campaign Our ongoing




drilling campaign is delineating the United-States-lithium resources of our 100 %- owned Neves Project, a cluster of four
lithium mineral rights within MGLP. Our current geological team is comprised of 16 geologists, all of whom are full-
time employees. To support the work of our geologists we have 13 full- time field and support technicians and machinery
operators, as well as 3 trainee technicians and over 19 field assistants. Our geological team and our exploration
campaign is supervised by James Abson, a Qualified Person for lithium as such term is defined in Subpart 1300 of
Regulation S- K promulgated by the SEC (“ Regulation S —“GAAP-- K 1300 ”) . Mr. Abson was appointed as our Chief
Geology Officer in October 2023 and has over 29 years of diverse experience in mining and mineral exploration. Under
Mr. Abson’ s leadership, our technical team adopted a systematic approach to exploration of additional potential target
areas within the Neves Project. These efforts involve geological mapping, sampling of historical artisanal mining sites
and exposed pegmatites to analyze potassium- rubidium ratios, as well as soil sampling using both XRF and ICP testing
for both LCT pathfinders and Li. Geophysical surveys, including magnetics, are used when warranted to pinpoint
additional pegmatite deposits and related structures. Deep trenching of anomalous areas is used to identify and confirm
lithium- cesium- tantalum (LCT) pegmatites and estimate width, strike, dip and mineralization prior to drilling. Finally,
scout drilling is aimed at testing the highest priority pegmatite targets that appear widest and most mineralized. Within
Neves Project area, four confirmed pegmatite bodies with spodumene mineralization were identified (designated as
Anitta 1 through 4) with six other target areas remaining open to further exploration. Expanding beyond the Neves
Project area, our regional exploration is now centered on the other mineral rights for lithium within the broader Minas
Gerais Lithium Project (“ MGLP ”), a large footprint of 468 km2 of lithium mineral claims, many of which are located in
Brazil’ s Lithium Valley, a well- known hard- rock lithium district. A specialized exploration geology team has been
assembled to initiate reconnaissance work across this wider land package. Initial efforts involve LIDAR and geological
mapping with a specific focus on historical artisanal mining sites, sampling of known and previously identified
pegmatites, as well as first- pass soil sampling lines and geophysics to identify anomalies. This phased approach has
systematically advanced regional prospecting across our mineral rights in MGLP with a number of targets generated for
further exploration by our exploration team. We have engaged SGS Canada Inc. (“ SGS ”), and, in particular, their
geologist Marc- Antoine Laporte, a Qualified Person for lithium under Regulation S- K 1300, to produce a mineral
resource estimate report (the “ Maiden Resource Report ) for our Neves Project in accordance with Regulation S- K
1300. Mr. Laporte is the author of mineral resource reports for two other companies which have hard- rock lithium
projects in Lithium Valley, the general area where our Neves Project is located, and has worked on lithium properties in
Lithium Valley since 2017. Mr. Laporte visited our Neves Project between May 4 and May 6, 2023. On March 19, 2024,
our Board appointed Brian Talbot to serve as director on the Board, effective as of April 1, 2024. In addition to joining
the Board, Mr. Talbot was also appointed by the Board as our Chief Operating Officer (“ COO ), effective as of April 1,
2024. In his capacity as COO, Mr. Talbot will be responsible for both the Company’ s development of its lithium mine
and processing plant as well as all of its lithium exploration geology program. Mr. Talbot is a qualified person for
lithium as such a term is defined in Item 1300 of Regulation S- K. Mr. Talbot has an extensive track record as a technical
and operational leader throughout his career with over 30 years of experience in mining operations. In particular, he has
extensive experience in DMS (dense media separation) plant development and operation. Most recently, Mr. Talbot was
employed by RTEK International DMCC (“ RTEK ”), a consulting firm that advises lithium developers and producers.
From July 2022 to September 2023, Mr. Talbot was the Chief Operating Officer at Sigma Lithium Corporation (“ Sigma
Lithium ), a Canadian lithium producer with operations in Brazil. At Sigma Lithium, he oversaw the development of
that company’ s flagship Grota do Cirilo project from construction through commissioning and operations. From 2017
to 2022, Mr. Talbot held positions as General Manager and Head of Australian Operations at Galaxy Resources, now
part of Arcadium Lithium PLC, one of the world’ s largest fully integrated lithium companies. While at Galaxy
Resources, Mr. Talbot was instrumental in increasing the production at Mt. Cattlin (a hard- rock lithium mine in
Ravensthorpe, Western Australia) which resulted in record production. From 2015 to 2017, Mr. Talbot was at Bikita
Minerals in Zimbabwe, which owns and operates the longest running hard- rock lithium mine in the world. Mr. Talbot
holds a bachelor’ s degree in chemical engineering with Honors from the University of Witwatersrand, South Africa.
Please refer to Part III, Item 10, for further information on Mr. Talbot. Recent geological soil sampling anomalies
discovered at our Anitta 1 location have determined that such ore body is larger than initially predicted. A decision was
made to extend drilling of the Anitta 1 pegmatite to the east, with several drill holes already yielding further significant
and shallow additional spodumene intersects with lithium mineralization confirmed by ultraviolet light testing while the
geochemical test results are still pending. We expect that these results will add further volume to the Anitta 1 deposit
size, and, most importantly, the lithium- bearing material appears to be relatively close to the surface to permit eventual
open pit mining. Under Brian Talbot’ s leadership as incoming Chief Operating Officer, the exploration plans for our
lithium tenements will be focused to support our early revenue strategy. Figure 1: Core sample from recent drilling at
Anitta 1. Figure 2: Anitta 1 sample illuminated by ultraviolet light and showing spodumene mineralization. As of
December 31, 2023, we had drilled an aggregate of 72, 899 meters. Early- Revenue Strategy On December 4, 2023, we
announced implementing an early- revenue strategy. With the well- delineated initial Anitta pegmatites, positive
metallurgical test work and well- advanced mining and environmental permits Atlas Lithium’ s technical team opted to
expedite the production timeline for its 100 %- owned Neves Project. This early- revenue strategy targets initial “ Phase I
” production of spodumene concentrate by the fourth quarter of 2024, ramping up to “ Phase II ” production in mid-
2025. The early- revenue Phase I plant is expected to have a maximum capacity of 150, 000 tons per annum of
spodumene concentrate. We intend to deploy compacted modular dense media separation (DMS) technology together
with contracting the crushing and mining operations. The total capital expenditures, including the initial production and



ramp- up is estimated at $ 49. 5 million, which includes the modular DMS plants, tailings management module for dry
stacked tailings; engineering, procurement, construction management costs; earthworks and civils; site access upgrade,
mining preparation and pre- strip, commissioning and ramp- up. The fabrication of the DMS modules, tailing
management module, and associated materials handling equipment is advancing. On February 26, 2024, we announced
that the fabrication of the DMS modules, tailing management module, and associated materials handling equipment is
progressing on schedule, with delivery to Brazil expected in Q2 2024 and first commissioning and production of high-
quality, environmentally sustainable lithium concentrate anticipated in Q4 2024. The manufacturing orders were placed
by us in December 2023. By condensing components into modules with significantly reduced footprint and weight versus
recent DMS plants, Atlas Lithium plans to streamline installation and commissioning. For example, whereas fully
assembled traditional DMS facilities commonly weigh 250- 300 tons, the Company’ s modular plant is predicted to weigh
only approximately 41 tonnes. Modular DMS construction and preassembly are well advanced on the primary 100 tons
per hour (tph) module and the secondary 50 tph module. We plan to carry out a full pre- assembly and testing of these
two modules before they are shipped to Brazil. We engaged CDM Group as engineering contractor and construction
coordinator and ADP Marine & Modular for plant manufacturing, with both of these firms located in South Africa. The
manufacturing facility located in South Africa has recently been visited by our technical team and photographs of parts
completed and in progress of our modular DMS lithium processing plant under construction can be seen in Figures 3- 5
below. Figures 6- 8 depict 3- D model views of our planned modular DMS lithium processing plant. Figure 3: Our
modular DMS lithium processing plant under construction. Figure 4: View of part of our DMS lithium processing plant
under construction. Figure 5: View of part of our modular DMS lithium processing plant under construction. Figure 6:
View of 3- D model of our planned DMS lithium processing plant. Figure 7: Additional view of 3- D model of our
planned DMS lithium processing plant. Figure 8: Additional view of 3- D Model of our planned DMS lithium processing
plant. Drilling Campaign Highlights (drill holes sorted by location) Shown below are the results from our ongoing Neves
Project drilling campaign, which include certain results obtained after December 31, 2023. Drill Hole Intercepts
Location DHAB- 39B 1. 00 % Li2O over 9. 1m from 107. 4m to 116. 6m 1. 48 % Li20 over 9. 0m from 119. 2m to 128.
2m Anitta 1 DHAB- 44 1. 30 % Li20 over 17. 9m from 141. 8m to 159. 7m 1. 88 % Li20 over 9. 0m from 150. Om to 159.
Om Anitta 1 DHAB- 15 1. 40 % Li20 over 15. Om from 60. Sm to 65. Sm 1. 83 % Li2O over 5. 0m from 66. Sm to 71. Sm
Anitta 1 DHAB- 11B 1. 57 % Li20O over 13. 1m from 74. Om to 87. 1m 2. 25 % Li20 over 4. 0m from 76. 7m to 80. 8m 2.
00 % Li20O over 3. 1m from 84. O0m to 87. 1m Anitta 1 DHAB- 183 1. 00 % Li2O over 11. 0m from 247. Om to 258. 0m 1.
32 % Li20 over 2. 1m from 261. 7m to 263. 8m Anitta 2 DHAB- 77 1. 08 % Li20 over 3. 2m from 65. 8m to 69. 0m 1. 46
% Li20 over 14. 0m from 70. Om to 84. 0m 2. 04 % Li20O over 5. 0m from 70. Om to 75. 0m Anitta 2 DHAB- 145EX 1. 09
% Li20 over 73. 85m from 210. Om to 283. 8m 1. 34 % Li20 over 21. Om from 211. 0m to 232. Om 2. 18 % Li20 over 17.
Om from 237. Om to 254. 0m Anitta 2 DHAB- 190 1. 10 % Li2O over 17. 4m from 136. 0 to 153. 4m 1. 75 % Li20 over 3.
8m from 139. 2 to 143. 0m Anitta 2DHAB- 162 1. 13 % Li20 over 77. 1m from 179. Om to 256. 1m 2. 71 % Li20O over 14.
Om from 219. 1 to 233. 1m Anitta 2 DHAB- 70 1. 16 % Li20O over 14. 9m from 43. 8m to 58. 6m 1. 20 % Li2O over 2. 4m
from 78. 3m to 80. 7m Anitta 2 DHAB- 104 1. 18 % Li20O over 11. 2m from 95. 4m to 106. 6m 2. 26 % Li20O over 2. 7Tm
from 97. 9m to 100. 6m 1. 71 % Li20 over 3. 2m from 103. 4m to 106. 6m 1. 51 % Li2O over 84. 0m from 113. 8 to 197.
8m 2. 19 % Li20 over 5. 1m from 127. 0m to 132. 1m 1. 95 % Li20 over 13. 7m from 137. 3m to 151. Om 2. 10 % Li2O
over 14. 6m from 15S. Om to 169. 6m 2. 31 % Li20 over 9. 1m from 176. 2m to 185. 3m Anitta 2 DHAB- 85 1. 18 % Li20
over 47. 0m from 7. 0m to 54. 0m 2. 12 % Li2O over 7. 0m from 13. 0m to 20. 0m 2. 23 % Li20O over 10. 0m from 24. 0m
to 34. 0m 1. 39 % Li20 over 4. 0m from 40. Om to 44. 0Om Anitta 2 DHAB- 159 1. 27 % Li20O over 19. 7m from 114. 4m to
134. O0m Anitta 2 DHAB- 68 1. 36 % Li2O over 25. 4m from 54. 2m to 79. 6m 2. 02 % Li2O over 6. Sm from 54. 2m to 60.
2m 4. 40 % Li20O over 0. 6m from 60. 2m to 60. 7m 1. 89 % Li20O over 5. 0m from 71. Sm to 76. Sm 1. 89 % Li20O over 5.
Om from 71. Sm to 76. Sm Anitta 2 DHAB- 47 2. 80 % Li2O over 9. 9m from 54. 2m to 64. 1m Anitta 2DHAB- 356 0. 96
% Li20 over 12. 55 m from 29. 15m to 47. 70m 1. 96 % Li20O over 3. 40 m from 126. 60m to 130. 00m Anitta 3 DHAB-
160 0. 98 % Li20O over 6. 0 m from 205. 4m to 211. 4m 2. 23 % Li20O over 17. 8 m from 216. 1m to 233. 9m 2. 71 % Li2O
over 14. 0 m from 219. 1m to 233. 1m Anitta 3 DHAB- 354 1. 06 % Li20 over 11. 60 m from 152. 60m to 164. 20m Anitta
3 DHAB- 185 1. 22 % Li20O over 56. 4m from 7. 0m to 63. 4m 2. 10 % Li20O over 6. 2m from 8. 1m to 140. 3m 3. 16 %
Li20 over 4. 3m from 16. 7m to 21. Om Anitta 3 DHAB- 214 1. 25 % Li20 over 10. 6m from 144. 25m to 154. 85m 1. 70
% Li20 over 26. 55m from 158. 25m to 184. 8m 2. 12 % Li2O over 20. 0m from 159. 25m to 179. 25m Anitta 3 DHAB-
211 1. 31 % Li20O over 14. 89m from 158. 92m to 173. 81m 1. 49 % Li20 over 4. 6m from 228. 7m to 233. 3m Anitta 3
DHAB- 347 1. 32 % Li20 over 42. 88 m from 133. 12m t0176. 00m 1. 20 % Li20 over 9. 65 m from 223. 35m to 233. 00m
Anitta 3 DHAB- 220 1. 34 % Li20O over 9. 72m from 201. 886m to 211. 6m Anitta 3 DHAB- 206 1. 40 % Li20 over 6. 2m
from 179. 2 to 283. 42 Anitta 3 DHAB- 200 1. 43 % Li2O over 27. 8m from 64. Sm to 92. 4m 1. 49 % Li20 over 15. 0m
from 192. 5Sm to 207. Sm Anitta 3 DHAB- 345 1. 44 % Li20O over 47. 00 m from 59. 00m to 106. 00m Anitta 3DHAB- 369
1. 47 % Li20 over 16. 00 m from 114. 00m to 130. 00m Anitta 3 DHAB- 339 1. 52 % Li20O over 20. 90 m from 82. 00m
t0102. 90m 1. 70 % Li20 over 9. 00 m from 162. 00m to 171. 00m Anitta 3 DHAB- 208 1. 64 % Li20O over 18. 0m from
67.56m to 85. 56m 1. 61 % Li2O over 5. 71m from 190. 39m to 196. 1m Anitta 3 DHAB- 362 1. 41 % Li20O over 6. 30 m
from 101. 85m to 108. 35m Anitta 4 DHAB- 353 1. 41 % Li2O over 7. 63 m from 79. 37m to 87. 00m Anitta 4Our drilling
and sampling follow strict best practices established under industry- standard quality assurance and quality control
protocols. All lithium samples are analyzed at SGS- Geosol, an established analytical laboratory used by mining
companies in Brazil. Normally geochemical results are obtained from SGS- Geosol three weeks after submission of the
samples for analysis. Metallurgical Report On April 24, 2023, we announced the receipt of the metallurgical report (the «
Metallurgical Report ”) from SGS- Geosol for studies performed over several months on a representative ore sample



from our Neves Project. The Metallurgical Report showed that a very high grade of 7. 22 % was achieved for heavy
liquid separation. Commercial- grade lithium concentrate was obtained from our representative sample using standard
dense media separation, a gravity- based approach which does not use any harmful chemicals or flotation. The
Metallurgical Report also showed final lithium concentrate grading of 6. 04 % Li2O with only 0. 53 % Fe203, and a
lithium recovery of 70 %. Our desired target was the production of concentrate grading 6. 0 % Li2O with less than 1. 0
% Fe203, and these targets were exceeded. The Metallurgical Report will become a chapter in the Maiden Resource
Report described above. The Metallurgical Report also allows SGS- Geosol to begin work towards a Preliminary
Economic Assessment of the Neves Project which is a technical study expected to be issued after the Maiden Resource
Report. Business Development Update Mitsui & Co., Ltd. On January 18, 2023, we announced that we had signed a
non- binding, non- exclusive Memorandum of Understanding (“ MOU ”) with Mitsui & Co., Ltd. (“ Mitsui ) with
respect to Mitsui’ s potential interest in acquiring the right to purchase our future lithium concentrate production. In
November 2023, we entered into the Chengxin and Yahua agreements, described below, at which time we ceased
discussions with Mitsui regarding a potential offtake arrangement as contemplated by the MOU. We have continued
discussions with Mitsui regarding other possible strategic opportunities and / or partnerships. Lithium Royalty Corp.
Royalty Agreement On May 2, 2023, our 99. 9 % owned subsidiary, Atlas Litio Brasil Ltda. (“ Atlas Brasil ”), entered
into a written agreement pursuant to which it sold a royalty interest equaling 3 % of the future gross revenue from the
sale of products from certain 19 mineral rights and properties owned by Atlas Brasil and located in Brazil, to Lithium
Royalty Corp., a Canadian company listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“ LRC ”), for $ 20, 000, 000 in cash. The
royalty will be calculated, and royalty payment will be made, on a quarterly basis commencing from the first receipt of
the sales proceeds with respect to the products. Atlas Brasil also granted LRC an option to purchase additional royalty
interests with respect to certain additional Brazilian mineral rights and properties on the same terms and conditions, at a
total purchase price of $ 5, 000, 000. Chengxin and Yahua Agreements On November 29, 2023, we entered into Offtake
and Sales Agreements (the “ Offtake Agreements ) with each of Sichuan Yahua Industrial Group Co., Ltd. and Sheng
Wei Zhi Yuan International Limited, a subsidiary of Shenzhen Chengxin Lithium Group Co., Ltd., pursuant to which
we agreed, for a period of five years, to sell to each of the buyers 60, 000 dry metric tons of lithium concentrate per year,
subject to our ability to increase or decrease such quantity by up to ten percent (10 %) each year. The price for the
lithium concentrate is determined according to a formula as set forth in the Offtake Agreements. Each of the buyers
agreed to invest $ 5 million into shares of our common stock at $ 29. 77, and when we receive final permits, to invest an
additional $ 20 million as offtake pre- payment for future deliveries of the lithium concentrate after we obtain customary
licenses. Each pre- payment amount will be used to offset the buyer’ s future payment obligations under the Offtake
Agreements . Results of Operations Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2622-2023 , Compared to Fiscal Year Ended December
31,2024-2022 Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 |, totaled $ 0, compared to revenue of $ 6, 765 -eempared
toreventeof $10,232-during the year ended December 31, 20242022 | representing a decrease of 100 33-9-%. Suehrevente
Revenue in 2022 was comprised solely of sales of industrial sand that we mine-mined in one of our mineral rights. Industrial
sand is a residual business line , as we are primarily focused on our lithium exploration program. In December 2022, the
eompany-elosed-its-we ceased operations of our industrial sand business line . Cost of goods sold for the year ended
December 31, 20222023 |, totaled $ 0637548, as compared to cost of goods sold of § 245-63 , 8+8-548 during the year ended
December 31, 26242022 , representing a decrease of 100 74—15-%. Cost of goods sold is primarily comprised of labor, fuel,
repairs and maintenance on our mining equipment. The As—n‘leﬂt-reﬁed—&bev&t-h-ts-eesfs— cost fefer—of g00ds sold in 2022
related to Industriatindustrial sand production whie arest resstine-a ; y 55
explorattonrprogranr. Gross loss for the year ended December 31, %92—2—2023 1omled $ 0564-8—3— eomp(ued lo gross lo\s of §
235-56 , 578-783 during the year ended December 31, 26242022 , representing decrease of 100 #5-9-%. Operating expenses for
the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 |, totaled $ 4-42 , 608588 , 887044 , compared to operating expulscs of $3-5 , 286-446
, 544984 during the year ended December 31, 26242022 , ILPILSLHUI]Q an mumxe 0f 682 46-—49-%. The increase was mostly
due to increases in general and administrative expenses related sting-otr-eommon-stoe n-Nasdag-and-trereased

finanetng-efforts-, andnon—eash-stock- based compensation expense and exploratlon expenses, as descrlbed below General
and admlnlstratlve expenses 1ncreased by 278 %, Tom $ 22 722 197 ﬁsuaﬂees—e-ﬁsfeeleepﬁefrs—te-efﬁeefs—&nd-&rfeefefs—

for lhe year uniul Duembu al 7()7" totaled-, to %-155—10 -8-1—2—303 340 f0ree¥n1%tred—te—e+her—e*penses—ef—$é99—344—d-&ﬂ&g

the year ended December 31, 26242023 , mainly due to: e approximately $ 1, 030, 000 in non- recurring transaction costs
associated with our public offering in January 2023 in connection with the listing of our common stock on the Nasdaq
Capital Market., ® higher compensation costs due to the increase in employee headcount approximately of § 1, 940, 000,
e increased legal fees of approximately of $ 1, 160, 000, ® consulting expenses approximately $ 1, 950, 000. Stock- based
compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2023, was $ 15, 609, 698, compared to $ 2, 269, 566 in the prior
year, an increase of 588 %. The increase was primarily due to the increase in the market price of our common stock and
an increase in stock- based compensation awarded to new members of our management team. Exploration expenses for
the year ended December 31, 2023, were $ 16, 553, 830, compared to $ 0 for the year ended December 31, 2022. The
increase was primarily due to increased exploration activities related to the execution of the drilling program on our 100
% owned Minas Gerais Lithium Project. Other expense (income) for the year ended December 31, 2023, totaled a net $
45, 876, compared to $ 155, 812 during the year ended December 31, 2022, representing a decrease of 69-4-other expense of

71 %. The decrease is mainly due to non- cash fair value adjustments and interest expense-on-promissory-notes-due-to
ameﬁzaﬁeﬂ—debt—d-tseetmts—&nd-recelved from cash dep0s1ts durlng 2023 As a result we 1ncurred a net loss attrlbutable

orthe-extinguishment-of debtrelated-to




stockholders of $ 41, 393, 525, or $ 4. 11 per share, for the year ended December 31, 26242023 —As-a-result-, we-ineurred
compared to a net loss attributable to our stockholders of § 3-4 , 796-628 , 423-520 , or $ 6-1 . 82-00 per share, for-during the
year ended December 31, 2022 . Liquidity and Capital Resources We have historically incurred net operating losses and
have not yet received material revenues from the sale of products or services. As a result, our primary sources of
liquidity have been derived through proceeds from the (i) sales of our equity and the equity of one of our subsidiaries,
and (ii) issuance of convertible debt. As of December 31, 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents of $ 29, 549, 927 and
working capital of $ 24, 044, 931 , compared to cash and cash equivalents $ 280, 525 and a working capital deficit nettoss
attributable-to-otrstoekholders-of § 2, 772-452 | 358-553 as of December 31 , 2022. We believe our cash on hand will be
sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditure requirements for a period of at least twelve months
through March 2025. However, our future short- and long- term capital requirements will depend on several factors,
including but not limited to, the rate of our growth, our ability to identify areas for mineral exploration and the economic
potential of such areas, the exploration and other drilling campaigns needed to verify and expand our mineral resources,
the types of processing facilities we would need to install to obtain commercial- ready products, and the ability to attract
talent to manage our different areas of endeavor. To the extent that our current resources are insufficient to satisfy our
cash requirements, we may need to seek additional equity or debt financing. If the needed financing is not available, or if
the terms of financing are less desirable than we expect, we may be forced to scale back our existing operations and
growth plans, which could have an adverse impact on our business and financial prospects and could raise substantial
doubt about our ability to continue as a gomg concern. Net cash used in operatlng act1v1t1es totaled $ 5 9—7é—pefshafe—
&u-rrﬁg—029 318 for the year ended Dcccmbu 31 —W e h hs

eapital-defieitof $2,452-553- compared to net each andeach eamivalente § 29 T7E and o coarling oo
as—e-f—BeeefnbeH—l,—}GQ—l—Net—cash used of-rn—epef&t-mg—&et-ﬁ‘r&es—teta-}ed—S 1, 4‘%() 5 »() -fefdurlng the year cnded Dcccmbu 31

2022, eompared-to-iet-representing an increase in cash used of § +3 , +64+-548 , 686-during-788, or 240 %. The increase was
primarily due to the net loss in the period offset by proceeds from the sale of future royalties. Net cash used in investing
activities totaled $7, 082 467 for the year cndcd Dcccmbu 31, %92—1—2023 fepreseﬁt-rng—an-rnefease-rn- compared to net cash
used of § - sedHH ;

2022, d se tre-the-yes

of $ +4 , 884-236 , 994—111 or -1-96—149 “o The increase is mdml\ duc to cash advances for Ihc m-m-mg—rig-hts—purehases
eomptetecHmrlithium processing plant construction during 2622-2023 . Net cash provided by financing activities totaled $ 4
41 , 562214 , 356-684 for the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 , compared to $ +4 , 789-502 , 938-356 during the year
ended December 31, 2024-2022 , representing an increase in cash provided of § 2-36, 712, 448-328, or +$5+-815 % . The
increase is due to net proceeds from the sales of common stock of $ 31, 214, 660 and from the issuance of convertible debt
in the amount of $ 10 000, 024 as descrlbed below under Fmancmg Act1v1t1es \N e cumml have no off- balance sheet

On ldl]udl\ 12, 2( 2w we -t-he—Geﬂap&ny—wmp ted -rts—our firm undu\\llllcn public o lunw of 776, 250 shares of our-t-he
Company—s-common stock (which includes the halcs subject to the over- allotment option, exercised by the underwriter in
full), for aggregate gross proceeds of $ 4, 657 500 (prior to deducting any underwriting discounts, commissions, and other
offering expenses). ® On Adse;en-January 30, 2023, we the-Company-raised an aggregate of $ 4 million in gross proceeds from
the sale of 640, 000 shares of its common stock in transaction exempt under Regulation S of the Securities Act. We-beleve-o
On July 18, 2023, we consummated a transaction with eur-four eask-investors, pursuant to which we agreed to issue and
sell to the investors in a Regulation S private placement an aggregate of 526, 317 restricted shares of our common stock.
The purchase price for the shares was $ 19. 00 per share, for total gross proceeds of $ 10, 000, 023. ¢ On November 7,
2023, we issued convertible promissory notes with an aggregate total principal amount of $ 20, 000, 000, accruing
interest at a rate of 6. 5 % per annum, in a private placement in reliance upon the exemption from registration provided
by Regulation D under the Securities Act. The notes are convertible into shares of our common stock at the option of the
holders at any time up until the maturity date at a conversion price of $ 28. 224 per share. The notes will mature on
November 24, 2026. ¢ On November 29, 2023, we entered into two securities purchase agreements with certain
accredited investors pursuant to which we agreed to sell hand-- and wil-be-suffietentissue 167, 954 shares of its common
stock, to meet-our-working-eapital-each of the investors in a registered direct offering at a purchase price of $ 29. 77 per
share. The total gross proceeds from the registered offering were $ 10, 000, 000. e Additionally, during the 2023, we sold
and-- an e&pﬁa-l—e*peﬂd-rture—reqturen&eﬂts-aggregate of 192 817 shares of common stock to Triton Funds, LP for a—peﬂe&

total gross proceeds of $ 1 4

will-depend-on-several-factors-, 675 -x-nel-udtng—bttt—net—l-uﬁ-ted-te— 797 pursuant t-he—ra-te—e-f—etu*grewt-h—etukabﬁ-rw—lo a Common

Stock Purchase Agreement (
aﬂd-etheﬁ the « CSPA ”) entered 1nto between us drihngeampaten
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exposes us to currency risks. Our business acthltles may generate mtercompany receivables or payables that are in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity. Changes in exchange rates from the time the activity occurs to the time
payments are made may result in it receiving either more or less in local currency than the local currency equivalent at the time
of the original activity. Our consolidated financial statements are denominated in U. S. dollars. Accordingly, changes in
exchange rates between the applicable foreign currency and the U. S. dollar affect the translation of each foreign subsidiary’ s
financial results into U. S. dollars for purposes of reporting in the consolidated financial statements. Our foreign subsidiaries
translate their financial results from the local currency into U. S. dollars in the following manner: (a) income statement accounts
are translated at average exchange rates for the period; (b) balance sheet asset and liability accounts are translated at end of
period exchange rates; and (c) equity accounts are translated at historical exchange rates. Translation in this manner affects the
shareholders’ equity account referred to as the foreign currency translation adjustment account. This account exists only in the
foreign subsidiaries’ U. S. dollar balance sheets and is necessary to keep the foreign subsidiaries’ balance sheets in agreement.
Critical Accounting Pehetes— Pollces and Estimates theThe discussion and analys1s of our financial condition instraments
eeﬁs*lst—ef—eas-h—and results va d d

of operatlons are based upon these

fates—an-}ess—e&rervﬂs*e-dis‘e}esed—na—our tmancul statements whlch have been prepared in accordance w1th the accountlng
principles generally accepted in the United States of Amerlcan (“ U . HourS. GAAP ”). Preparing financial statements
requires management to make estimate-estimates of-and assumptions that affect the fair-vatae-reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenue, and expenses. These estimates and assumptions are affected by management’ s application of
accounting policies. We believe that understanding the basis and nature of the estimates and assumptions involved with
the following aspects of our financial statements is cr1t1cal to an understandlng of tneeﬁeet—at—BeeembeH-l—Z-GQ—Z—rt—eeu-}d
negatively-affeetour financial statements pe y 6

Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity W1th generally accepted accountm principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and llablhties and disclosure of
contingencies at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting
perlod ACtU'll results may dlﬁer from those estlmates Exploratlon Stage Company F&rH‘a-}ue-e-PF-rﬂanetal—I-nst-rtmaeﬁts—We

been prepared in accordance w1th generally accepted accountlng principles related to accountlng and reportlng by
exploration stage companies. An exploration stage company is one in which planned principal operations have not
commenced or if its operations have commenced, there has been no significant revenues there from . Property and
Equipment Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Major improvements and betterments are
capitalized. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Depreciation is computed using the straight- line method over
the estimated useful life. At the time of retirement or other disposition of property and equipment, the cost and accumulated
depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in the statements of operations as other
gain or loss, net. The diamend-and-geld-processing plant and other machinery are depreciated over an estimated useful life of ten
years; vehicles are depreciated over an estimated life of feurfive years; and computer and other office equipment over an
estimated useful life of three-five years. Mineral Properties Costs of exploration, carrying and retaining unproven mineral lease
properties are expensed as incurred. Mineral property acquisition costs, including licenses and lease payments, are capitalized.
Although we have taken steps to verify title to mineral properties in which it has an interest, these procedures do not guarantee
our rights. Such properties may be subject to prior agreements or transfers and title may be affected by undetected defects.
Impairment losses are recorded on mineral properties used in operations when indicators of impairment are present and the
undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the assets’ carrying amount. As of December 31,
2023, and 2022 and-20824, we did not recognize any impairment losses related to mineral properties held. Impairment of
Intangible Assets with Indefinite Useful Lives We account for intangible assets in accordance with Accounting Standards
Codification (“ ASC ”) 350, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other (“ ASC 350 ). ASC 350 requires that intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives no longer be amortized, but instead be evaluated for impairment at least annually. On an annual basis, in



the fourth quarter of the fiscal year, we review our intangible assets with indefinite useful lives for impairment by first assessing
qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances makes it more- likely- than- not that the fair
value of an intangible asset is less than its carrying amount. If it is determined that it is more- likely- than- not that the fair value
of an intangible asset is less than its carrying amount, the intangible asset is further tested for impairment by comparing the
carrying amount to its estimated fair value using a discounted cash flow. Impairment, if any, is measured as the amount by
which an indefinite- lived intangible asset’ s carrying amount exceeds its fair value. Application of impairment tests requires
significant management judgment, including the determination of fair value of each indefinite- lived intangible asset. Judgment
applied when performing the qualitative analysis includes consideration of macroeconomic, industry and market conditions,
overall financial performance of the entity, composition, or strategy changes affecting the recoverability of asset groups.
Judgments applied when performing the quantitative analysis includes estimating future cash flows, determining appropriate
discount rates and making other assumptions. Changes in these judgments, estimates and assumptions could materially affect the
determination of fair value for each indefinite- lived intangible asset. Impairment of Long- Lived Assets For long- lived assets,
such as property and equipment and intangible assets subject to amortization, we continually monitor events and changes in
circumstances that could indicate carrying amounts of long- lived assets may not be recoverable. When such events or changes
in circumstances are present, we assess the recoverability of long- lived assets by determining whether the carrying value of
such assets will be recovered through undiscounted expected future cash flows. If the total of the future cash flows is less than
the carrying amount of those assets, we recognize an impairment loss based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair
value ofthe assets. Assets to be drqposed of are reported at the lower ofthe carrying amount or the f"ur value le@% costs to sell.

ﬁiafed—debt—t&&le%stﬂted—d&te—ef—redemp&eﬁ—Varrable lnterest Entmeq We determrne at the 1ncept10n of each arrangement

whether an entity in which we hold an investment or in which we have other variable interests in is considered a variable interest
entity. We consolidate VIEs when we are the primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary of a VIE is the party that meets both
of the following criteria: (1) has the power to make decisions that most significantly affect the economic performance of the
VIE; and (2) has the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits that in either case could potentially be significant
to the VIE. Periodically, we assess whether any changes in the interest or relationship with the entity affect the determination of
whether the entity is still a VIE and, if so, whether we are the primary beneficiary. If we are not the primary beneficiary in a
VIE, we account for the investment under the equity method or cost method in accordance with the applicable GAAP. We have
concluded that Apollo Resources, Jupiter Gold and their subsidiaries are VIEs in accordance with applicable accounting
standards and guidance; and although the operations of Apollo Resources and Jupiter Gold are independent of ours, because our
chief executive officer, Marc Fogassa, is also the controlling shareholder of both Apollo Resources and Jupiter Gold, we may be
considered to have power to direct the activities that are most significant to Apollo Resources and Jupiter Gold. Therefore, we
concluded that we are the primary beneficiary of both Apollo Resources and Jupiter Gold. Stock- Based Compensation We
measure and reeerd-records stock- based compensation expense in accordance with ASC Topic 718 -Cempensatiorrfor share
- based payments related to Steelcstock Compensation-options, restricted stock, and performance- based awards granted
to certain directors, employees and consultants . ASC 718 requires companies to measure compensation cost for stock- based
employee compensation at fair value at the grant date and recognize the expense over the employee’ s requisite service period.
Under ASC 718, volatility is based on the historical volatility of our stock or the expected volatility of the stock of similar
companies. The expected life assumption is primarily based on historical exercise patterns and employee post- vesting
termination behavior. The risk- free interest rate for the expected term of the option is based on the U. S. Treasury yield curve in
effect at the time of grant. We-utilize-The fair value of stock options and performance awards without a market condition
is estimated at the date of grant using the Black- Scholes option- pricing model . The ;whieh-was-developedfortuse-in
estimating-the-fair value of restricted stock awards and stock options with a market condition is estimated at the date of
grant, using the Monte Carlo Simulation model . ©ptionr-The fair value of restricted stock awards with a required lock -
prieing-up period without a market condition is estimated at the date of grant, using the Hull- White Lattice (binomial)
model. The Black- Scholes, Monte Carlo Slmulatlon, and Hull- Whlte Lattlce valuatlon modelq incorporate assumptions
as to stock price volatility, ding-the expected life of options
granted-or awards, a risk- free interest rate, 1lllqu1d1ty dlscount and d1v1dend yield. In valuing our stock options,
significant judgment is required in determining the expected volatility of our commeon stock and priee-overa-pertod-equat-to
orgreater-thamthe expected life efthat individuals will hold the-their stock options prior to exercising. Expected volatility
for stock options is based on the historical and implied volatility of our common stock while the volatility for restricted
stock awards with a market condition is based on the historical volatility of our own stock and the stock of companies
within our defined peer group . Because changes in the subjective assumptions can materially affect the estimated value of our




employee stock options, it is management’ s opinion that the valuation Blaelk—Seholes-option—prieing-medel-models may not

provide an accurate measure of the fair value of our empleyee-stock options , restricted stock and performance- based
awards . Although the fair value of empleyee-stock optlons and restricted stock awards is determined in accordance with

AS( Toplc 718 ttsrﬂg—&n—epﬁeﬂ-—pﬂerﬂg—medel- thdt value may not be mdledme of the fdll \dlue obsel\ edinaw 1llmg buyer/

subsidiaries use a lOLdl currency as the funetlonal currency. Resultnm tlanslatlon Lams or losses are recognized as a Component
of accumulated other comprehensive income. Transaction gains or losses related to balances denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. Net foreign currency transaction losses
included in our consolidated statements of operations were negligible for all periods presented. Recent Accounting
Pronouncements ©Gur-Accounting Standards Updates Adopted In March 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB ”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ ASU ”) 2020- 04 (“ ASU 2020- 04 ), Reference Rate Reform (Topic
848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting, which provides optional guidance for
a limited period of time to ease the potential burden on accounting for contract modifications caused by reference rate
reform. In January 2021, ASU 2021- 01, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Scope was issued which broadened the
scope of ASU 2020- 04 to include certain derivative instruments. In December 2022, ASU 2022- 06, Reference Rate
Reform (Topic 848): Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848, was issued which deferred the sunset date of ASU 2020-
04. The guidance is effective for all entities as of March 12, 2020, through December 31, 2024. The guidance may be
adopted over time as reference rate reform activities occur and should be applied on a prospective basis. There has been
no significant effect that may impact its financial statements and does not believe that there are any other new
pronouncements that have been issued that might have a material impact on its financial position or results of
operations. Accounting Standards Updates to Become Effective in Future Period In August 2023, the FASB issued ASU
2023- 05, Business Combinations- Joint Venture Formations (Subtopic 805- 60): Recognition and Initial Measurement,
which clarifies the business combination accounting for joint venture formations. The amendments in the ASU seek to
reduce diversity in practice that has resulted from a lack of authoritative guidance regarding the accounting for the
formation of joint ventures in separate financial statements. The amendments also seek to clarify the initial measurement
of joint venture net assets, including businesses contributed to a joint venture. The guidance is applicable to all entities
involved in the formation of a joint venture. The amendments are effective for all joint venture formations with a
formation date on or after January 1, 2025. Early adoption and retrospective application of the amendments are
permitted. We do not expect adoption of the new guidance to have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements and disclosures. In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023- 07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280):
Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, amending reportable segment disclosure requirements to include
disclosure of incremental segment mformatlon on an annual and interim basis. Among the dlsclosure enhancements are
new disclosures regarding prepared-traceordanee-with-b—S—gene atty-aceepted-aceo g s—Our-significant
aceotnting polietes-segment expenses that are &eseﬂbed-rn—Nete—l—regularly pr0v1ded to the chief operatmg decision-
maker and included within each reported measure of segment profit or loss, as well as the-other segment items bridging
segment revenue to each reported measure of segment profit or loss. The amendments in ASU 2023- 07 are effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and for interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2024, and are applied retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of this update
on our consolidated financial statements and disclosures. In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023- 09, Income
Taxes (Topic 740): Improvement to Income Tax Disclosures, amending income tax disclosure requirements for the
effective tax rate reconciliation and income taxes paid. The amendments in ASU 2023- 09 are effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2024, and are applied prospectlvely Early adoptlon and retrospectlve apphcatlon of the
amendments are permitted . We are currently evaluating hav v
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About Mdllxet Risk. The mfmmatlon to be 1ep01ted under thls ltem is not 1equlled of smaller reporting companies. Item X
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. Our financial statements, including the notes thereto, together with the report
from our independent registered public accounting firm are presented beginning at page F- 1. Item 9. Changes in and
Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. Item 9A. Controls and Procedures. (a) Evaluation of
Disclosure Controls and Procedures Our The-Cempany—s-management, with the participation of our the-Cempany—s-Principal
Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, has evaluated the design, operation, and effectiveness of our the-Company>s
disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e) of the Exchange Act as of December 31,
2022-2023 . In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance that the information required to
be disclosed in reports filed or submitted pursuant to the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within
the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the Commission, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to management, including its Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer as appropriate, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact



that there are resource constraints , and that management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible
controls and procedures relative to their costs. On the basis of that evaluation, our Principal Executive Officer and Principal
Financial Officer concluded that as of December 31, 2822-2023 , our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at a
reasonable assurance level. (b) Management’ s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Management is responsible
for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule
13a- 15 (f). Our Fhe-Company—s-internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance to management and to our
the-Company—s-Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements. Under the
supervision and with the participation of management, including our the-Company—s-Principal Executive Officer and Principal
Financial Officer, management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our the-Cempany>s-internal control over
financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on management’ s evaluation under the framework in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework, management concluded that our the-Cempany>~s-internal control over financial reporting was effective
as of December 31, 2822-2023 , at a reasonable assurance level. This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of our
the-Company—s-registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Since we are the-Compaty
i8-a smaller reporting company ;-, management’ s report is not subject to attestation by our the-Cempany—s-registered public
accounting firm pursuant to Section 404 (b) of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. As a result, this Annual Report contains only
management’ s report on internal controls. (¢) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting There were no changes in
our the-Cempany—s-internal control over financial reporting that occurred in the-fenrth-quarterof2622-2023 that materially
affected, or would be reasonably likely to materially affect, our the-Cempanys-internal control over financial reporting. (d)
Limitations of the Effectiveness of Internal Controls The effectiveness of our the-Cempany-s-system of internal control over
financial reporting is subject to certain limitations, including the exercise of judgment in designing, implementing and evaluating
the control system, the assumptions used in identifying the likelihood of future events, and the inability to eliminate fraud and
misconduct completely. As a result, there can be no assurance that our the-Cempany—s-internal control over financial reporting
will detect all errors or fraud. However, our t-he—Geﬁapany—s—control systems have been des1gned to pr0V1de reasonable
assurance of achieving their objectives —Fh has
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Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections. PART III Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance. The
following table sets forth certain information as of the date of this Annual Report ;-concerning our directors and executive
officers: Name Age Position Marc Fogassa Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Director Ambassador Robert Noriega
Independent Director, Member of the Audit Committee Cassiopeia Olson, Esq. Independent Director, Member of the Audit
Committee Stephen R. Petersen, CFA Independent Director, Member of the Audit Committee Gustavo Pereira de Aguiar Chief
Financial Ofﬁcer Treasurer, Pr1n01pal Accountlng Ofﬁcer Igor Tkachenko Bﬂaﬁ—WLBeﬂﬂer—Vlce -—Pres1dent Corporate

-M-tnefa-l—E*p}Qf&t-xeﬂMafe—F ogassa age 56—57 has been a dlrector and our Chalrman and Chlef Executlve Ofﬁcer since 2012
He has extensive experience in venture capital and public company chief executive management. He has served on boards of
directors of multiple private companies in various industries, and has been invited to speak about investment issues, particularly
as related to Brazil. Mr. Fogassa double majored at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (M. 1. T.), graduating with two
Bachelor of Science degrees in 1990. He later graduated from the Harvard Medical School with a Doctor of Medicine degree in
1995, and also from the Harvard Business School with a Master of Business Administration degree in 1999 with Second- Year
Honors. At Harvard Business School, he was Co- President of the Venture Capital and Private Equity Club. Mr. Fogassa was
born in Brazil and is fluent in Portuguese and English. Mr. Fogassa is also the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Jupiter
Gold Corporation, and Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Apollo Resources Corporation, two of our consolidated
subsidiaries. Marc Fogassa serves as a director because of his experience in the management of public companies in mineral
exploration and his understanding of Brazil, the jurisdiction where we operate. Ambassador Roger Noriega, age 63-65 , has been
an independent director since 2012, and member of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors since 2021. He has extensive
experience in Latin America. Ambassador Amb—Noriega was appointed by President George W. Bush and confirmed by the U.
S. Senate as U. S. Assistant Secretary of State and served from 2003 to 2005. In that capacity, Amb. Noriega managed a 3, 000-
person team of professionals in Washington and in 50 diplomatic posts to design and implement political and economic
strategies in Canada, Latin America, and the Caribbean. Prior to this assignment, Amb. Noriega served as U. S. Ambassador to
the Organization of American States from 2001 to 2003. Since 2009, Amb. Noriega has been the Managing Director of Vision
Americas, a Latin America- focused consulting group that he founded. Amb. Noriega has a Bachelor of Arts degree from
Washburn University of Topeka, Kansas. Ambassador Noriega serves as a director because of his experience in complex multi-
jurisdictional agreements and his business and diplomatic experience with Brazil. Cassiopeia Olson, Esq., age 45-46 , has been
an independent director since 2021, and member of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors since 2021. She is an
attorney with extensive experience in international contracts, securities law and venture negotiations. She has represented or
engaged in transactions with leading companies in the biomedical, technology and products and services sectors. From 2013 to
2017, Ms. Olson was at Kaplowitz Firm P. C. and from 2017 to January 72020, she was an attorney with the Crone Law Group.
From February 72020 to May 2022 Ms. Olson was an attorney with Ellenoff Grossman & Schole LP. She has been with
Mitchell Silberberg & Knupp since May of 2022. She received a B. A. in Economics and Finance from Loyola University in
Chicago, and a J. D. from The John Marshall School of Law. Ms. Olson serves as a director because of her experience with
working with large multinational companies in complex transactions and her knowledge of U. S. securities law. Stephen R.




Petersen, CFA, age 6768 , has been an independent director since 2021, and member of the Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors since 262-2021 . Mr. Petersen over 40 years of experience in the capital markets and investment management. Since
2013, he has been a Managing Director and member of the Investment Committee at Prio Wealth, an independent investment
management firm with over $ 3 billion in assets under management. Previously, Mr. Petersen served as Senior Vice President,
Investments at Fidelity Investments for approximately 32 years. During his tenure at Fidelity, Mr. Petersen served as a Portfolio
Manager and Group Leader of The Fidelity Management Trust Company and was responsible for managing several equity
income and balanced mutual funds such as Fidelity Equity Income Fund (1993- 2011), Fidelity Balanced Fund (1996- 1997),
Fidelity VIP Equity- Income Fund (1997- 2011), Fidelity Puritan Fund (2000- 2007), Fidelity Advisor Equity- Income Fund
(2009- 2011), and Fidelity Equity- Income II (2009- 2011). He began his career at Fidelity as an Equity Analyst. Mr. Petersen
received a B. B. A. in Finance and an M. S. in Finance from the University of Wisconsin- Madison. Mr. Petersen serves on the
Board of the University of Wisconsin Foundation and Chairs its Investment Committee. He also is Co- Chair of the Executive
Committee for the Catholic Schools Foundation Inner- City Scholarship Fund. Mr. Petersen is a Chartered Financial Analyst.
Mr. Petersen serve as a director because of his experience with capital markets and his knowledge of finance including expertise
with financial statements. Gustavo Pereira de Aguiar, age 46-41 , has been our Chief Financial Officer, Principal Accounting
Officer, and Treasurer since 2022. From 2016 until 2022, Mr. Aguiar was the Controller of Jaguar Mining, Inc., a Canadian
publicly traded company with two producing gold mines in the state of Minas Gerais in Brazil. From 2013 to 2016, Mr. Aguiar
was Controller at Grupo Orguel, an enterprise in the construction equipment rental sector in Brazil which received funding from
Carlyle, a U. S. private equity group, and from 2010 to 2013, Mr. Aguiar worked at Mirabella Minerac¢do, which at the time was
developing its nickel project in the state of Bahia in Brazil. From 2006 to 2010, Mr. Aguiar was an auditor with Deloitte in
Brazil. Mr. Aguiar has undergraduate degrees in Business Administration and in Accounting from Universidade FUMEC in
Brazil. He has an executive MBA and further post- graduate education in finance from Fundacdo Dom Cabral in Brazil. Mr.
Aguiar is fluent in Portuguese and English and is a licensed accountant in Brazil. Igor Tkachenko Brian-W-—Bernter-, age 64-38
, has been our Vice =President, Corporate Strategy since 2023. Igor Tkachenko, a Ukrainian- American and a US- trained
physician, has served as a strategic advisor to us since 2021, lending his leadership talents and private sector experience
to further the company’ s mission to become a leading hard- rock lithium provider for the green energy transition. In
2022, Igor Tkachenko began consulting for us as our Director of Strategic Development ane-, overseeing the rapid
expansion of our Investor-investor Relationsrelations sinee-efforts. He participated in the design and execution of our
organizational growth strategy that led to our successful up- listing to Nasdaq in January 2023. Mr. Tkachenko
graduated from the emergency medicine residency in 2019 —Frem26+0-t020+7, after which he worked clinically at the
University of Tennessee Medical Center and served as a Clinical Assistant Professor at the University of Tennessee
Graduate School of Medicine. Mr. Bernier-was-arelationship-manager-Tkachenko transitioned from his academic role to
take on an executlve pos1tlon at the Company and began servmg as Feuﬁ our Vlce Pres1dent of Corporate Strategy in
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Management-fromBostonrUntversity-. Nicholas Rowley Joel-dePaiva-Menteiro; Esq—, age 32-39 , has been our Vice-
President, Business Development Administrationrand-Operationis;-since 2626-2023 ;-. Mr. Rowley is and- an experienced our
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; A-and-g among-other-minerals a-geologis \\1th over 23-18 years’ experience aeguired
specializing in mtnes—marketlng and sales of various raw materlals, corporate advisory, M & A transactions and equities
markets. Mr. Rowley most recently served as Director — Corporate Development of Galaxy Resources Limited, and-- an
ASX- listed lithium company from 2014 until 2021. Mr. Rowley through this role saw the implementation and closing of
the A $ 6 billion merger with Orocobre Limited, to create the world’ s fifth largest lithium producer Allkem (ASX:
AKE) in mid- 2021 now Arcadium Lithium Plc (Nasdaq: ATLM). Mr. Rowley has a strong understanding of the
international lithium market having traded various lithium minerals over the last 10 years. Having overseen the
marketing and sales division at Galaxy Resources since the restart of the Mt. Cattlin prejeets— project in Russia-2016 ,
Bkraine-he has been integral in building the supply chain from Australia through to Asia over that time. Additionally ,
Guinea-on March 19 , Yraguay-2024 , the Board appointed Brian Talbot, age 51, as our Chief Operating Officer and as a
member of our Board, effective as of April 1, 2024. Most recently, Mr. Talbot was the founder and director of RTEK
International DMCC (“ RTEK ), a consulting firm that advises lithium developers and producers. From July 2022 to
September 2023, Mr. Talbot was the Chief Operating Officer at Sigma Lithium Corporation (“ Sigma ), a Canadian
lithium producer with operations in Brazil in-a-variety-. At Sigma, he oversaw the development of minerals-inetuding
Sigma’ s flagship Grota do Cirilo project from construction through commissioning and operations. From 2017 to 2022,
Mr. Talbot held positions as General Manager and Head of Australian Operations at Galaxy Resources, an entity which
is now part of Arcadium Lithium PLC, one of the world’ s largest fully integrated lithium companies iron-and-gold-.



While at Galaxy e-Resources estimation-,

Mr. Myadzel-Talbot was 1nstrumental in 1ncreasmg the productlon at Mt Cattlin (a hard- rock lithium mine in
Ravensthorpe, Western Australia) which resulted in record production. Mr. Talbot brings to the board an extensive
track record has-- as a technical and operational leader throughout his career with over 30 years of experience in mining
operatlons. In partlcular, h1s extensn e expenence in DMS (dense medla separatlon) plant development and operatlon

a-company-thathasprovided-geologteal-expertise-tetarge 1nclud1ng de51gn1ng, planmng, bulldlng, and managlng proﬁtable

mlmng operatlons g-lebal—globallyeempames— will be 51gn1ﬁcant assets to the board Mr. Talbot holds a bachelor s degree

of D11ecto1s currently is composed of four members, Ambdssddm Ros_er Norlega Cassiopeia Olson Esq Stephen R. Petersen,
CFA, and Marc Fogassa . As noted above, Brian Talbot has been appointed to the Board of Directors, effective as of April
1, 2024 . There are no family relationships among our directors and executive officers. There is no arrangement or
understandmo between or among our executlve officers and directors pursudnt tow hich any director or officer was or is to be

. Director

lndependence We currently hd\ e three mdependent d1reet015 on our BOdId of Dlrectors We use the definition of ““ independence

” found in the Listing Rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market (“ Nasdaq ) to make this determination. Our Board of Directors has
undertaken a review of the independence of each director and will review the independence of any new directors based on
information provided by each director concerning their background, employment, and aftiliations, in order to make a
determination of independence. Our Board of Directors has determined that -t-he—fel-lewmg—d—rree’fers—are—each of Ambassador
Noriega, Mr. Petersen and Ms. Olson is independent = No G
Casstopeta-Olsen; Esq. Board Diversity PursaantNasdaq has adopted certaln governance and d1sclosure rules regardlng
diversity of listed companies’ boards of directors. As a company with a board of directors of five or fewer members, we
are required to have at least one member of our Board who is « dlverse ” as deﬁned in the Nasdaq rules, and as shown
below, we have met the Nasdaq’ s AS-ap :

ta-keﬂ—steps—te—meet—t-he—dl\ ers1ty ObJeLtl\ ca

-Bea-rd—e-f—Bi-reetofs— The follow ing is our Board D1ve1s1ty Mdtl’lX as of the ddte hefeef—of this Annual Report To see our
Board Diversity Matrix as of March 30, 2023, please see our Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December
31, 2022, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2022. Board Diversity Matrix Total Number of Directors 4-Part [: Gender Identity
Female Male Directors +3-Part II: Demographic Background Hispanic or Latinx 6-2-White ++-Role of our Board of Directors in
Risk Oversight One of the key functions of our Board of Directors is informed oversight of our risk management process. We
have formed supporting committees, including the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee, and the Nominations
Committee, each of which supports the Board of Directors by addressing risks specific to its respective areas of oversight. In
particular, our Audit Committee has the responsibility to consider and discuss our major financial risk exposures and the steps
our management takes to monitor and control these exposures, including guidelines and policies to govern the process by which
risk assessment and management is undertaken. The Audit Committee also monitors compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, in addition to oversight of the performance of our internal audit function. Our Compensation Committee assesses
and monitors whether any of our compensation policies and programs has the potential to encourage excessive risk- taking. Our
Nominations Committee provides oversight with respect to corporate governance and ethical conduct and monitors the
effectiveness of our corporate governance guidelines, including whether such guidelines are successful in preventing illegal or




improper liability- creating conduct. Committees of our Board of Directors Our Board of Directors has established three standing
committees- the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee, and the Nominations Committee. Audit Committee Nasdaq
listing rules require that our Audit Committee be composed of at least three members all of whom are “ independent directors ”
who are “ financially literate > as defined under the Nasdaq listing standards. As of the date hereof, our Audit Committee was
composed of the-fetowing-Ambassador Noriega , al-Mr. Petersen and Ms. Olson, each of whom have been affirmatively
determined by our Board of Directors to meet the definition of ““ independent director ” for purposes of serving on an Audit
Commlttee under Rule 10A- 3 and Nasddq rules The Board —&l—l—ef—wheﬁa—qua-l-rfy—as-has determined that Mr finanetat

—+ g - p Petersen —GFAGu%theefer—Mr—Sfep}Eﬂ—R—

ersen S-af memb s whe—qualifies as an “ audit committee financial expert’

dehned in ltem 407 (e) (5) of Regulation S- K. Compensation Committee and Nominations Committee Nasdaq listing rules
require that our Compensation Committee and Nominations Committee be composed solely of independent directors. At this
time, our Nominations Committee and Compensation Committee are both comprised solely of independent directors. As of the
date hereof, the members of each of our Nominations Committee and Compensation Committee are: Compensation Committee
Nominations Committee +—Ambassador Roger Noriega Cassiopeia Olson, Esq —=2-. Cassiopeia Olson, Esq. Stephen R. Petersen,
CFACompensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation At no time have any of the members of our Compensation
Committee been one of our officers or employees. None of our executive officers currently serves, or in the past year has served,
as a member of the board of directors or Compensation Committee of any other entity that has one or more executive officers on
our Board of Directors or Compensation Committee. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics We adopted a written code of
business conduct and ethics that applies to our directors, officers, and employees, including our principal executive officer,
pr1n01pal hmncul ofhcer pr1nc1pal accounting officer or controlle1 or pelsons perfonmng s1m1lqr functions and agents and

&t—las-—l-rt-l‘rrtuﬁ—eeﬁa—We 1ntend to d1sclose future amendments to such code, or any waivers of its requnements dpphcable to dny
pr1n01pal executwe ofhcel pr1nc1pal hmncul ofhcer pr1nc1pal accountmo officer or controller, or pelsons perfonmng similar

our cap1tal stock and-w o ; e

this-effering-, and therefore we are beheve—we—ma—y—be— controlled company, ~ as such term is defined under the Nasddq
Listing Rules. We currently do not rely on the controlled company exemptions provided under the Nasdaq Listing Rules, but we
may do so in the future. Item 11. Executive Compensation. Compensation of Named Executive Officers Summtary-This section

discusses the material components of the executive Compensation-compensation program in Fabte-The-folowing-table-sets
forthfor-the fiscal years— year ended December 31, 2022-2023 and-2621+-, asummary-of the-eompensationpate-to-or-for our
e&med—by—t-he—N&rﬂed—E*eeﬁmfe—efﬁeeﬁ—Nefe—&r&t—as—a— named executive officers. ” As a smaller reporting company , >-and
purstant-to-the-rales-of-the SEC defines our named executive officers as (i) -the-Company-is-providingeompensation
m-feﬂﬂ&t—teﬁ—fer%@%%&ﬂd—%@%l—fer—h&afe—Fegaﬁsa—our Chief Executive Officer fGustavo-Agutar-; (ii) our ChitefFinanetal

e-two most highly compensated executive
officers ef—t-he—eeﬁap&ny—other than Mr-the Chief Executive Officer, who were serving as such as of December 31, 2023;
and (iii) up to two additional individuals for whom disclosure would have been provided pursuant to (ii) but for the fact
they were not serving as an executive officer at the end of the year . We have identified the following individuals as our
named executive officers according to this definition: ® Marc Fogassa , our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman; e
Gustavo Aguiar, our Chief Financial Officer; e Igor Tkachenko, our Vice President of Corporate Strategy; and e Brian
Bernier, our Vice President of Investor Relations . Name-The primary objectives of our executive compensation
programs are to attract and retain talented executives to effectively manage and lead us. The compensation packages for
Atlas Lithium’ s named executive officers generally include a base salary, an annual cash bonus and equity. Summary
Compensation TableName and Principal Position Year Salary ($) Bonus ($) Stocl{ Awards ($) (1) Option Awards (§) (21)
Non- Equity Incentive Plan Compensation ($) ® g5($5)-All Other Compensation ($)

(2) Total ($) Marc Fogassa, Chairman and 2622-2023 - -1—7—7—607 —7’5—1—786 (-1—3 )-1—7—7—2 75—1—619—7-43—4-1—4——3—3—133 643-410 (9
4 )4-453 132752 (3) 34 , 559-645 3, 229, 593 Chicf Executive Officer 2024-2022 - 177 —964-, 751 177 946—H-, 751 743
58299913 522-414 177, 751 33, 643 1, 310, 310 Gustavo Aguiar, 20222023 86-133 , 692 963-70,-606-5) +50---- 47 , 963
520 (6) 3,476 184, 688 Chief Financial Officer 2022 80, 903- 464, 549 (4-7 ) - 70, 000- 615, 542 Brian Bernier, 2023- 341, 900
(8) 164, 659 (98)--- 506, 559 VP, Investor Relations 2022 100, 000 24, 900 €6)-30, 000 €A—--- 154, 900 Igor Tkachenko, VP,
Corporate -Bevelepmeﬂt—Strategy 2023 210 000 (8-10) - 4 234 498 (119)--- 4, 444, 498 (l )—Pufstt&nt—te-ﬂ&e—terms—ef—h‘l-r—

h&l—ﬂm—e&sh—&ﬂd-h&l—?&rsteel&(%—) The amounts in t-h-ts—these ee-l-umcolumns reflect the aégreglte grant date fair value of stock
awards and stock options granted-in202t-and-2022-to-our-Chief Exeentive-Offteercalculated in accordance with FASB ASC
Topic 718. Please see Note 6-5 to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 20242023 , and-2022
contained in this Annual Report for the assumptions used in the calculation of grant date fair atge-values pursuant to FASB
ASC Topic 718. ( 2) All Other Compensatlon 1ncludes dlsablhty, medlcal dental and vision 1nsurance coverage beneﬁts (

aeeefd&ﬂm&ﬂa—%B%&Tepte%%&emﬂGheﬁE*e&H&@fﬁeeﬁPursuant to the terms of l\/lr Fogasm ] amended and

restated employment agreement, he-reeetved-half-ofhis 20624-performance bonus as-for each calendar year is earned when the
level of achievement is determined by the Board in the calendar year following the corresponding performance year.
Such an amount is paid half in cash and half in fully - vested shares of common stock ;whieh-was-granted after in-earty



2023 represents the g-ranfed——— grant meﬂt-h-l-y—of fully v cslcd shares equa-l—of common stock during calendar year 2023 for
performance in the calendar year 2022. The grant of the Stock Award for calendar year 2023 performance was approved
and granted by Board in calendar 2024 and will be disclosed in the proxy statement for calendar year 2024. (4)
Represents options to purchase 30, 000 shares of Series D Convertible Preferred Stock. All of the options to purchase
Series D Convertible Preferred Stock have been exercised and there are no such options currently outstanding. (5)
Represents Mr. Pereira de Aguiar’ s base salary of $ 2-9 . 500 in-valae,with-the-priee-per share-eatenlated-month through
August 31, 2024, and his base salary of $ 15, 000 per month, effective as of September 1, 2023, as described below. (6)
Pursuant to his employment agreement, Mr. Pereira de Aguiar is entitled to a cash bonus tied to certain performance
metrics. (7) Represents 85, 019 restricted shares of common stock, in the average-elosingpriee-for-form of restricted stock
units, as described under the appheable-“ Gustavo Pereira de Aguiar Agreement ” discussion below. (8) Pursuant to his
employment agreement, Mr. Bernier is eligible to receive bonuses provided at our discretion. (9) In 2023, Mr. Bernier
received (i) 1, 456 fully vested shares of common stock as monthly compensation from January 2023 to May 2023 and (iii)
a grant of 5, 600 restricted stock units which vest annually over four years beginning June 1, 2024. (10) Mr. Tkachenko
was appointed Vice President, Corporate Strategy in September 2023 and the amount shown represents a pro- ration of
his annual base salary of $ 420, 000. (11) Represents 80, 000 shares of common stock granted to Mr. Tkachenko as a
bonus during his consultancy period —8)-, prior to becoming an executive officer, and 40, 533 shares issued pursuant to
M1 Tkachenko S employment agreement based 0n us ach1ev1ng certain market capltahzatlon mllestones Bernter—was

d A A O q

éependents—fer—p&ﬁ—e-f%@%%— Ndlldll\ e to Summaly ( omlxnsduon Tablc Marc Fogassa Agreement ()n Dccunbm 31, 2020,
our Board approved an amendment and restatement of the employment agreement between us the-Cempany-and Marc Fogassa,
our Chief Executive Officer (the “ A & R Employment Agreement ). Under the A & R Employment agreement, Mr. Fogassa
swHno longer received be-entitledto-a salary payable in cash, which under the terms of the prior agreement was for an amount
of $ 250, 000 per annum. Instead, he switk-was to be granted eaeh-menthten—yearnon- qualified stock options to purchase #pte

33, -3-34—333 shdlcs of er-common slock at an cxuc1sc pllLC ofeqtta-l—te—S 0. ()()75 pCI share ;suehpriee-and-shares-betng-subjeet

3 Pursuant -I-f—&nd—when—sueh—epﬁeﬂs

eertatn—bee-l&’v‘a-}ue—metﬂes—as—set—feﬁh-m—mc A& R Emplowmm Auucmcm Mr U-ndeieFogassa is also entltled to 1ncent1ve
compensation payable half in cash and half in fully vested shares of common stock upon achievement of certain book
value metrics, as set forth in the A & R Employment Agreement . Under the A & R Employment Agreement , Mr. Fogassa
is entitled to a housing benefit of up to $ 5, 000 per month for a primary or secondary residence out of the United States . We 5
Fhe-Company-shall pay all costs of reasonable medical, dental, vision, long- term disability, and short- term disability to Mr.
Fogassa, and to his spouse or partner and children under the age of 21, at reasonable plans chosen by Mr. Fogassa. Unless
declined by Mr. Fogassa, we the-Cempany-shall pay the annual premium costs of a life insurance policy for Mr. Fogassa in the
amount of § 5, 000, 000 for payment to his designated beneficiaries. Ypen-In the event of a termination of employment by us
the-Company-, we the-Company-shall immediately make a payment to Mr. Fogassa equal to $ 500, 000. If upon the completion
of a change of control, or other corporate event, Mr. Fogassa is no longer the-our Chief Executive Officer efthe-Company-, or
the Chief Executive Officer of the-our new controlling person efthe-Cempany-, as the case may be, then we -t-he—Gempany— shall
immediately make a payment to Mr. Fogassa equal to § 2, 000, 000. In September On-Mareh15;2622-2021 , the Company
Board determined to allow Mr. Fogassa, as his election, to receive monthly grants of stock options to purchase shares of
the Series D Convertible Preferred Stock in lieu of the options to purchase common stock as described above, and in
2023, Mr. Fogassa was granted stock options to purchase 2, 500 shares of Series D Convertible Preferred Stock each
month. In December 2023, the Board approved Mr. Fogassa receiving such stock option compensation on and-- an
annual, rather than monthly, basis. Additionally, Mr. Fogassa elected to begin again receiving options to purchase shares
of common stock, and in 2024, Mr. Fogassa was granted an annual award of stock options to purchase 399, 966 shares of
common stock pursuant to these actions. Gustavo Pereira de Aguiar Agreement On March 15, 2022, Gustavo Pereira de
Aguiar , our Chief Financial Officer, entered into an agreement with us , effective March 16, 2022 (the * Start Date ), pursuant
to with Mr. Aguiar is providing services to us (the “ GPA Employment Agreement ). Under the GPA Employment Agreement,
Mr. Pereira de Aguiar received a signing bonus totaling $ 25, 000, and was entitled alt-payable-in2022-in-two— to equat
tranehes;-andis-betngpatd-base cash compensation of $ 9, 500 per month and —He-s-entittedte-a maximum annual bonus of §
45, 000, with the amount received conditioned on the filing by us the-Cempany-, on an annual basis, of one Form 10- K and
three Forms 10- Q with the SEC. Further, on the Start Date, for the purchase prlce 0f$ 1. 00, Mr. Pc1c11a dc Aﬂuldl was to be
granted 85, 019 shares of common stock that would p 6 d d
fromrthefirstbase-compensation,-whieh-will-vest over four years in four tmnchcs In satlsfactlon of Mr. Perelra de Agular s
right to receive such shares, we have granted him an equity award in the form of 85, 019 restricted stock units (“ RSUs ”
and the RSU grant, the “ GPA RSU Grant ), which vests over four years in four tranches. The first and the second
tranche of the GPA RSU Grant vested on March 16, 2023, and [ March 15, 2024 ], respectively and Mr. Pereira de




Aguiar was issued 21, 255 shares of our common stock on each respective vesting date The agreement is terminable at any
time by mutual agreement of the parties and at any time for any reason or no reason by ene-either party, with prior written
notice of thirty days to the other party 55 provided , that if Mr. Pereira de Aguiar’ s employment is terminated for any reason by
us the-Cempany-other than gross negligence or w 1111‘111 malfeasance, the GPA Grant shall be deemed to be fully vested

immediately upon such termination. The agreement provided for Hsueh-termination-oectrs-before-the-first—year-anniversary

of the-Start Date;-the-Companyshatt-be-required-to-make-a payment of S 00, 000 paymentto-Mr—Peretra-de-Agutar-within-thirty
days-ofsatd-termination;-and-if such termination eeeurs-after-occurred before the first - year anniversary of the Start Date ,

but-and a payment of $ 30 000 if such termination occurred betme the seeond dmm elsary of the Stalt Date —t-heﬂ—t-he

t-he—€emp&ﬂ-y—tefm1ﬂafes—~ termmate the (JPA Employment A;:reement for uoss negllgenee orw 1111‘111 mdlfedsance then the
portion of the GPA Grant which is not yet vested shall be deemed to be forfeited . In December 2023, the Board approved
certain amendments to Mr. Pereira de Aguiar’ s compensation, pursuant to which, (i) effective September 1, 2023, he is
entitled to a base salary of $ 15, 000 per month, (ii) for calendar year 2024, Mr. Pereira de Aguiar’ s performance- based
bonus will entitle him to earn a cash payment equal to five times his then monthly salary upon the achievement of certain
goals related to his duties as Chief Financial Officer, and (iii) his GPA Grant was amended to provide for immediate
vesting upon a change in control. Igor Tkachenko Agreement On September 30, 2023, we entered into an employment
agreement with Igor Tkachenko that provides for a term through December 31, 2026, subject to renewal by mutual
consent. The agreement provides that Mr. Tkachenko will serve as our Vice President of Corporate Strategy and will be
entitled to a base salary of $ 420, 000 per year. Additionally, Mr. Tkachenko will have the right to receive shares of our
common stock equal to 0. 2 % of the shares of common stock then outstanding when and if our market capitalization
reaches $ 200 million, $ 300 million, $ 400 million, $ 500 million, $ 600 million, $ 800 million and $ 1 billion. The
agreement further provides that in the event that we undergo a change in control (as defined in our 2023 Stock Incentive
Plan) and any of the foregoing performance requirements have not been met, Mr. Tkachenko’ s right to receive such
shares will be accelerated. The agreement also contains a non- compete provision pursuant to which Mr. Tkachenko has
agreed not to engage in competitive activities during his employment period and for a period of one year thereafter .
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year- End The following table provides information regarding equity awards held by the
named executive officers that were outstanding as of December 31, 2622-2023 : Option awards Stock awards Name Number of
securities underlying unexercised options (#) exercisable Number of securities underlying unexercised options (#) unexercisable
Equity incentive plan awards: Number of securities underlying unexercised unearned options (#) Option exercise price ($)
Option expiration date Number of shares or units of stock that have not vested (#) Market value of shares of units of stock that
have not vested ($) Equity incentive plan awards: Number of unearned shares, units or other rights that have not vested (#)
Eqmty incentive plan awards: Market or pdvout value of unearned shares, umts or other rights that have not \ested (S) (1) Marc

2632-Gustavo Aguiar 85-63 , 9—1—9—764 (2) 1 994 545 Igor Tkachenko 127, 635 (%) 3, 992 485 Brlan Bermer 5,600 (4) 175,
168 (1) All amounts are based on the closing price of our common stock on December 29, 2023, of $ 31. 28. (2) Represents
restricted stock units, 21, 255 of which vest on each of March 16, 2024, and March 16, 2025, and 21, 254 of which vest on
March 16, 2026. (3) Represents the aggregate number of shares of our common stock that Mr. Tkachenko is entitled to
receive pursuant to his employment agreement, if and when our market capitalization reaches $ 400 million, $ 500
million, $ 600 million, $ 800 mllllon, and $1 bllllon —483%-82—( +4) Represents restrlcted Ful-ly-ﬂvesfed—epﬁeﬂ—te-pﬂfehase

eemmeﬂ—s’fee-lﬁx hth willvest over fom yedls in four equal tr andles beglnmng June 1, 2024 D11ect01 C ompensatlon The
following table sets forth a summary of compensation for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022-2023 , that we paid to each
director other than #ts-our Chief Executive Officer, whose compensation is fully reflected in the-the Summary Compensation
Table set forth above. We do not sponsor a pension benefits plan, a non- qualified deferred compensation plan, or a non- equity
incentive plan for directors; therefore, these columns have been omitted from the following table. No other or additional
compensation for services were paid to any of the directors. In December 2023, the Board of Directors approved a new
compensation plan for directors, beginning in 2024, pursuant to which each director shall receive options to purchase 10,
000 shares of our common stock, which will vest monthly in equal increments over a one- year period. Name Fees Earned
or Paid in Cash ($) Stock Compensation ($) (1) Option Compensation ($) (1) Total ($) Ambassador Roger Noriega $ 4474374 ,
557356 (2) S +47374 , 557-356 Cassiopeia Olson, Esq. $ 6, 000 (3) $ - 23;:-585-$ § 29-6 , 585-000 Stephen R. Petersen, CFA §



6,000 (3) $ -4%9755 $53-6 , 975000 (1) The amounts in this-these eelamn-columns reflect the aggregate grant date fair
walae-values of shares of common stock and stock options granted in 2022-2023 to each director calculated in accordance with
FASB ASC Topic 718. Please see Note -5 to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 26212023
: Contamed in this Annual Report for the assumptions used in the calculation of grant date fair value pursuant to FASB AS(

ch-qua A stated-agreemen Ambassadm N0r1eca er-l-was party toa
compensation arrangement with the Company pursuant to which he is entitled to receive, on a quarterly basis, ten- year
non- qudlmed stock optlons to pulchdse up to 20, 000 Shdle% of our common stock at an exercise pllce equdl to ‘b () 0075 per

Gurreﬁt—Repeft—eﬁ—Ferm—S-—I@mdie&tmg—t-h&t—eﬁ—SeptembeH 5, 2071 our BOdld approv ed fese-l-ttt-teﬁs-a change to the
arrangement that a-l-}ew—allows drreetefs—Ambassador Norlega t 1e chmce to drreet—elect to recelve the epﬁen—compensanon

deseribed-in th
-S-EGOH&H&&WH@%P}-E&GH her optlons to pulchdse our common stocl as—eﬂgm&Hy—deserrbed—&rthe%@%@—Rese&rﬁeﬁSﬂl to an
equivalent number of options to purchase eur-Series D Convertible Preferred Stock. In 2023, Ambassador Noriega received
options to purchase 6, 000 shares of Series D Convertible Preferred Stock pursuant to this election. All of such options
were exercised in 2023, and Ambassador Noriega converted the shares of Series D Convertible Preferred Stock were
converted into shares of our common stock. The compensation arrangement with Ambassador Noriega was terminated
in connection with the approval of the new compensation plan for directors noted above. (3) M+Ms . Olson and Mr.
Petersen had the right to receive $ 6, 000 in cash each for services as a director during the-year2622-2023 . Both were given a
choice and opted to receive shares of our common stock at the then public market price instead of cash. Beginning in 2024, Ms.
Olson and Mr. Petersen will receive the compensation under the new compensation plan for directors noted above.
Equity Compensation Plan #126470n May 25 , eur-2023, the Board of Directors approved , and our 20+7majority
stockholder ratlfied and conﬁrmed the adoptlon of the 2023 Stock Incentive Plan uﬂder—wdﬂeh—we—ean—effefehgtb}e

information as of December % %92—2—2023 A 1t h Iespect to the %9—1—7—2023 Stock lncenm e Pldn Plan C ategory Number of
securities to be issued upon exercise of outstandmg options, warrants, and rights (a) Weighted- average exercise price of
outstanding options, warrants and rights (b) Number of securities remaining available for future issuance under equity
compensation pldns (excludmo secuutles 1eﬂected in column “ d) ”) (c) Eqmty compensanon plans approv ed by secunty
holders : ; olders

—1, 167, 652 s ml (ii) 426 274 Totdl 333—1 3%4—167 652 ‘{> 426 ﬁ+a—333— 3%4—274 (i) 1, 167, 652 in restricted stock
awards with common stock to be issued upon fulfillment of a variety of time, market and performance vesting
conditions. (ii) Includes only the weighted- average exercise price of the outstanding options, as the restricted stock
awards have no associated exercise price. Delinquent Section 16 (a) Reports Under Section 16 of the Exchange Act, our
directors, executive officers and any persons holding more than 10 % of our common stock are required to report initial
ownership of our common stock and any subsequent changes in ownership to the SEC. Specific due dates have been established
by the SEC, and we are the-Companyisrequired to disclose in this Annual Report any failure to file required ownership reports
by these dates. Based solely upon a review of forms filed with the SEC and the written representations of such persons, we are
the-Company-ts-aware of ne-the following: (i) Nicholas Rowley filed a late Form 3 after being appointed as our Vice
President, Business Development; (ii) each of the following persons, all of whom ceased to be officers subject to the
reporting requirements of Section 16 (a)—ﬁ-l-'mgs—e*eept—as—feﬂews—m December 2023 failed to file two Forms 4, each of
whlch reported one transactlon @—fer—Bnan J&‘vLBelmel a-ta 35 o4

( FHv -fer—Gusta—ve—Peretra—de—AgtnarStephen R. Petersen falled to ﬁle

three Forms 4 a—}ate-each reportlng one transactlon, (v) Cass1ope1a Olson falled to ﬁle one Form 4 reporting one

Hig d 6 6 eas d-PAO-; (¥i— vi ) Roger
Noriega filed three -fer#e-}ody-myr—Myadzel—a—ldte Forms 4 each reportmg one transactlon All of the transactions that
should have been reported on a Form 4 have since been reported on fe}ated-te—menth}yhgr&nts—e-ﬁeeﬂafneﬂ—steeieévma—fer




Gee-}eg-tea—lstda— Item
The following table p v
3-thereunder;sets forth eefta-rﬂ—mfounatlon known to us regarding beneﬁcnal 0wnersh1p of our common stod( and securities
convertible into our common stock within 60 days of the March 22, 2024 date-ofthis-AnnaalRepert-, by: (i) each person who
is known by us to own beneficially more than 5 % of #s-our outstanding €Cemmen-common Steelstock ; (ii) each named
executive officer and director; and (iii) all officers and directors as a group. As the-date-of this-Anntaal-Repert-March 22, 2024 ,
there were 6-12 , 738769 , 862-581 outstanding shares of our common stock. Name and Address of Beneficial Common Stock
(2) Series A Preferred Stock (3 »-Sertes-D-Preferred-Stoek+(4-) Combined Voting Power Owner (1) Number % Number %
Number (4) % Nuamber-(5 ¥%+6-) Directors and Named Executive Officers: Marc Fogassa ( P475;325-0 ) 4, 583, 631 35 . 94
% 1 100 % 28+-5066-166--6-%4, 228-583 , 739-63-632 68 . 7-3 % Ambassador Roger Noriega (87 ) +47391 , 2622-368 3 . 2-1
%--43-391 , 560-368 1. 5 —9-%3272022-3-% Cassiopeia Olson, Esq. ( 9-8 ) H-15 , 447904 *-- 15 —H- 447904 * Stephen
R. Petersen, CFA (+6-9 ) 2738 , 862475 *-- 38 —£27- 862475 * Gustavo Pereira de Aguiar 4432442, 510 *-- 42, 510 * Igor
Tkachenko 179 , 255 1. 4 % 179 *¥—3%24- 755 * Brian W. Bernier 45 2344, 652-033 *-- 45 —#44- 652-033 * All executive
officers and directors ( 9-7 persons) (433#595733-10) 5, 296, 176 40 . 3-8 %6 1 100 % 295-5 . 296 666-160--60-%4-, 177 80
69314765 40 % Over 5 % Stockholders: MareFogassa-Antonis Palikrousis ( 711 ) 475-771 , 325-038 6 —9-%1+166-%28+
566166-. 0 % 4771 , 038 3 22873963 F0 % (1) The mailing address of each of the officers and directors as set forth above
is ¢ / o Atlas Lithium Corporation, 433-Nerth-CamdenDrive-1200 N. Federal Hwy , Suite 16-200 , Beverly-Hills-Boca Raton
, €A90212-Florida 33432, United States. The mailing address of Antonis Palikrousis is Flat 507, Sunlight Tower Amin
Bin, Yasir Street, Al Qasmiya Sharjah, United Arab Emirates . (2) Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote. (3)
The Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (““ Series A Preferred ™)
provides that for so long as Series A Preferred is issued and outstanding, the holders of Series A Preferred shall vote together as
a single class with the holders of common stock, with the holders of Series A Preferred being entitled to 51 % of the total votes
on all such matters regardless of the actual number of shares of Series A Preferred then outstanding, and the holders of common
stock are entitled to their proportional share of the remaining 49 % of the total votes based on their respective voting power. The
one share of Series A Preferred is convertible into one share of common stock and may be converted at any time at the election
of the holde1 The one 1ssued and outstandlng share of Serles A Preferred has been held by Marc Fogassa since 2012 (45

at-any-time-at-the-eleetionofthe-helder—5-) Represents shares and ll,g_hts on an as —converted to common stock bdsls ( 6—5 )
Represents percentage of voting power of our common stock s-and Series A Preferredand-Sertes-D-Preferred (on an as

converted basis) voting together as a single class. As of March 27 the-date-of thisAnnual-Repert-, 62024 , 73812 , 862769,
581 shares of our common stock were 1ssued and outstanding, and one share of our Serles A Pretened was issued and
outstanding ;an 6-shares S efe S ive standig i




At efe are-he sassa— 76 ) Consists of 3244 , +84-400, 638 shares of our common stock
owned by Marc Fogassa and his affiliates, -16—1—16 +41+-328 shares of common stock earned by Mr. Fogassa in respect of
our performance in 2023 and contractually owed pursuant to his December 2020 employment agreement, which he has
the right to receive within 60 days; 166, 665 shares of common stock underlying compensatory vested stock options and
stock options that will vest within 60 days; and 1 share of Series A Preferred which Mr. Fogassa has held since 2012. (7)
Consists of 387, 201 shares of common stock and 4, 167 shares underlying vested stock options te-parehase-and stock
options that will vest within 60 days. (8) Consists of 1, 071 shares of common stock and 14 , 833 shares of common stock
underlying vested stock options and stock options that will vest within 60 days. (9) Consists of 34, 308 shares of common
stock and 4, 167 shares of common stock underlying vested stock options and stock options that will vest within 60 days.
(10) Consists of 5, 068, 761 shares of common stock, 277, 415 shares of common stock underlying options and
contractual compensation, and | share of Series A Preferred 5. (11) Based solely on an Amendment to Schedule 13G filed
with the SEC on February 244-- 14 , 666-2024, by Mr. Palikrousis. Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions, and Director Independence. On November 7, 2023, we entered into a Convertible Note Purchase
Agreement (the “ Purchase Agreement ) with Martin Rowley relating to the issuance to Martin Rowley (along with
other experienced lithium investors) of convertible promissory notes which accrue interest at a rate of 6. S % per annum
(each a “ Note ”). Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement Mr Rowley purchased an aggregate of $ 10, 000 000 0f the
Notes. The Notes are convertible 1nto shares of our e 6

common slod< atand— an -1-3—exerc1se prlce of $ 28 225 and
will mature on November 24 566-2026. Martln Rowley is a senior advisor to us and is the father of Nicholas Rowley,
our Vice President, Business Development. On September 22, 2023, we entered into a Lead Advisory Services Agreement
with Martin Rowley, through which Mr. Rowley has been providing advisory services to us. The agreement
contemplates the issuance of up to 100, 000 restricted shares— share underlying-vested-options-to-ptrehase-units upon
achievement of certain milestones set forth in the agreement. Martin Rowley is the father of Nicholas Rowley, our Vice
President, Business Development. On July 17, 2023, we entered into a Technical Sertes-Services D-Preferred-Agreement
for mining engineering, planning and business development services with RTEK International DMCC ( 9-“ RTEK ” )
Consists, an entity controlled by Nick Rowley, our Vice President, Business Development, and Brian Talbot, our Chief
Operating Officer effective as of 756-April 1, 2024. The agreement provides for the payment by us of an estimated
amount of § 1, 449, 000 and the issuance of up to 410 000 restrlcted shares— share units of our common stock and=+0-,
depending on the achievement 66 & d P 3

shatres-certain milestones. As of eemmeﬂ—steew}eand—l-é-December 31 2023, we had payment payments to RTEK i in the

financial sldlcmems included herein, we ﬂ%e—eemp&rry—he}éh hold a45-58 . H-71 % eqully interest in Apollo Resources dnd a
27 tts—sabstd-r&w—Mmeraeae—ApeHe—]:t&a— 42 —&nd—rts—2-8—7—2—‘/o equity interest in Jupiter Gold ;- whiehinelades-the-aeeounts-of
i da-. During the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 , Apollo

Resoulces gmmed ()puons to lethdSL an dggngdlL of 2—25—180 , 000 shares of its common stock to Marc Fogassa at a price of $
0. 01 per share. The options were valued at $ 334235 , 858-034 and recorded to stock- based compensation. The options were
valued using the Black- Scholes oplion pricing model with the following average assumptions: the-Cempany-Apollo Resources
’s-common stock price on the date of the grant-grants ( $4—66-t0-5 5. 00 to $ 6. 00 ) , an illiquidity discount of 75 % .
expected dividend yield of 0 %, historical volatility calculated between 49-17 . 2-41 % and 5857 . 6496 %, risk- free interest
rate between a range of +3 .5—1—42 % to 34 . 573 %, and an expected term of 10 years. As of December 31, 2622-2023 , an
aggregate 225405 , 000 Apollo Resources common stock options were outstanding with a weighted average life of 3-8 . 33-84
yeals at an average cxuc1sc price of $ 0. 01 and an agglegaicd intrinsic value 0 % -1—2 125425 | 950 999—M-r—Fegassa—s

t-he—ehe-te&e%hér—Fegassa— Dulmo 1hc year mdui Duunbu 7>1 2622-2023 , Jupnu Gold (’ldnlCd opllons to pulchasu an
aggregate of 525-420 , 000 shares of its common stock to Marc Fogassa at prices ranging between $ 0. 01 to § 1. 00 per share.
The options were valued at $ +83-115 , 767038 and recorded to stock- based compensation. The options were valued using the
Black- Scholes option pricing model with the following average assumptions: the-Cempany-Jupiter Gold " s common stock
price on the date of the grant ($ 0. 58-65 to $ +2 . 25-10 ) , an illiquidity discount of 75 % . expected dividend yield of 0 %,
historical volatility calculated between 268 97-3-% and 364 225-8-%, risk- free interest rate between a range of +3 . 5142 % to
34 .573 %, and an expected term between 5 and 10 years. As-efDuring the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 , an

aggregate—Marc Fogassa exercised a total 1, 965115 , 000 Jupiter-Gold-eommon-stoek-options at were-outstanding-witha $ 0.
98 W ughled &Vef&ge—l-l-f&e-ﬁ4—74—ye&rs—&t—aﬂ—a\ crage exercise price e£$-8- These exercises were paid for 57-and-an-aggregated
A 6 £8SS g with 386, 420 options conceded in cashless exercises.
As a result of the 0pt10ns exerclsed lupllu (J()ld 1ssued 728 s‘trptr}ates—an—&&nua-l—eempeﬂsaﬁeﬂ—e%%— 580 shares of its
ot-h e h be-patd-tnrstock to Marce%]-&pﬁer@e-ld—e%’m

- Fogassd - ittot+ 5 5




and-$—7 N P vely; he-m cal-dental-and-vis stranee-coverag deTFoeassaandhisdependents-
Board of Directors has determined that Ambassador Roger Noriega, Cassiopeia Olson, Esq, and Stephen Petersen, CFA, are
independent ” as such term is defined with respect to directors by the Nasdaq Stock Market Rules. Please refer to our disclosures
in “ Overview of Corporate Governance ” and “ Committees of our Board of Directors ” for a more detailed discussion on these
topics. Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services. The following table presents fees for professional audit services and
other services rendered to us by BF Borgers CPA PC (““ Borgers ) for our fiscal years ended December 31, 2023, and 2022 and
2024 Fee Type 2023 2022 2024-Audit Fees (1) $ 44-88 , 826-000 $ 44, 820 Audit- Related Fees (2) —27, 500 — Tax Fees (3)
— — All Other Fees (4) — — Total $ 44-115 , 820-500 $ 44, 820 (1) “ Audit Fees ” consist of fees billed for professional
services rendered in connection with the audit of our annual financial statements, review of our quarterly financial statements,
and services that are normally provided by Borgers in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements. (2) 2
Audit- Related Fees ” consist of fees billed for professional services for assurance and related services that are reasonably related
to the performance of the audit or review of our consolidated financial statements and are not reported under “ Audit Fees. ” (3)
“ Tax Fees ” consist of fees billed for professional services rendered by Borgers for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning.
There were no such fees billed by Borges during the last two fiscal years. (4) ““ All Other Fees ” consist of fees billed for
products and services other than the services reported in Audit Fees, Audit- Related Fees, and Tax Fees. i

>

d were no such fees billed

for-the-servieesperformed-to-date—All services performed by , and fees paid to, Borgers for our fiscal years ended December
31,2023, and 2022 and2624-were pre—approved by our audit-Audit eemmittee-Committee . Before Borgers is engaged to
perform services, the engagement is approved by our Audit Committee . PART IV Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement
Schedules (a) Documents filed as part of this report. (i) Financial Statements- see Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data (ii) Financial Statement Schedules — None (Financial statement schedules have been omitted either because
they are not applicable, not required, or the information required to be set forth therein is included in the financial statements or
notes thereto.) (iii) Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. (iv) Notes to Financial Statements. (b) Exhibits
The exhibits listed on the accompanying Exhibit Index are filed as part of this Annual Report. ATLAS LITHIUM
CORPORATION. TABLE OF CONTENTS DECEMBER 31, 2022Repett-2023Report of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID: 5041) F- 2 Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2624-F- 3
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2024+F-
4 Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity fPeftett)-F- 5 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-20624+-F- 6-7 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements F- 7Repert-8Report of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm To the shareholders and the board of directors of Atlas Lithium Corporation.
Opinion on the Financial Statements We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Atlas Lithium
Corporation as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2024- the related statements of operations, stockholders” equity {deftett),
and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “ financial statements ). In our
opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December
31,2023 and 2022 and-2024-, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Basis for Opinion These financial statements are the responsibility
of the Company’ s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’ s financial statements based on
our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (*
PCAOB ”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws
and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audit
in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company
is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our
audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express
no such opinion. Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included



examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Critical Audit
Matter Critical audit matters are matters arising from the current- period audit of the financial statements that were
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are
material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. We
determined that there are no critical audit matters. / S / BF Borgers CPA PC (PCAOB ID 5041) We have served as the
Company’ s auditor since 2015 Lakewood, CO March 36-27 , 2623-2024 CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS As-ef
December 31, 2622-2023 and December 31, 26242022 December 31, December 31, 2023 2022 282+-ASSETS Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 29, 549, 927 $ 280, 525 $22-776-Accounts receivable - 91 5484+Taxes recoverable 50, 824 17,
705 Prepaid +6;-507Depesits-and advanees-other current assets 113, 905 47, 093 +74246-Total current assets 29, 714, 656
345, 414 57;7936-Property and equipment, net 6, 407, 735 217, 550 537827 Intangible assets, net 7, 115, 644 4, 971, 267 +
Right of use assets- operating leases . 362-net 444 , 446-Equity-624- investments-Investments - +56;-666-150, 000 Total assets
$ 43,682,659 $ 5, 684, 231 $455649FLIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS” BEHEH-EQUITY Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 4, 487, 647 $ 2, 776, 474 $-988-Derivative liabilities 1 , 238-000, 060- Convertible
Debt 67, 024- Related party notes and other payables - 21, 493 +6-Operating lease liabilities 114 , +67-994- Total current
liabilities §, 669, 725 2., 797, 967 998-Convertible Debt 9 , 465-703, 700- Operating lease liabilities 336, 411- Deferred
consideration from royalties sold 18, 600, 000- Other noncurrent liabilities §8, 579 78, 964 +68;-926-Total liabilities 34, 368,
415 2, 876, 931 H540%33+-Stockholders’ defieitEquity : Series A preferred stock, $ 0. 001 par value. 1 +6;-660;-600-shares--
share authorized; 1 share issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2622-2023 and December 31, 2024+-2022 respeetively-1 |
Series D preferred stock, $ 0. 001 par value. 1, 000, 000 shares authorized; 0 and 214, 006 issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2622-2023 and December 31, 26242022 , respectively 244-- 214 Preferred stock , value - 214 Common stock, $
0. 001 par value. 200, 000, 000 and 4, 000, 000, 000 shares and-3;250;-606;,-066-authorized +as of December 31, 2023 and
December 31, 2022, respectively and 12, 763, 581 and 5, 110, 014 and-4;445;5%5-shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2022-2023 and December 31, 26242022 , respectively 12,764 5, 111 43+44-Additional paid- in capital 111, 662,
522 62, 258, 116 54;-5754+H-Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1, 119, 771) (981, 040 HFH2,8+6-) Accumulated deficit
(101, 664, 59-519 -585;949-) ( 54-60 , 957270 , 429-994 ) Total Atlas Lithium Co. stockholders’ equity {defieit)-8, 890, 997 1,
696-011 , 408 453-5094,469)-Non- controlling interest 423, 247 1, H6-795 , 892 8471,-55+335-Total stockholders’ equity 9,
314,244 2, 807, 300 456;:-866-Total liabilities and stockholders” equity $ 43, 682, 659 $ 5, 684, 231 $+56449FThe
accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS For the years-ended-twelve months ending December 31, 2023 and 2022
Twelve months ending and262+26222621+Yearsended-December 31 2023 2022 262+-Revenue - 6, 765 -1-9%—32—(0% of
revenue = 63, 548 245;840-Gross loss = (56, 783 H235:-578-) Operating expenses Pfe-fessteﬂa-l—fees—Z%S—?é-l—Zé9%47—Genelal
and administrative +-expenses 10 , 564-303 , 466-1+340 2 . H4-722 . 197

Stock - based compensation 15, 609, 698 2, 269, 566 +Exploration 16 , 476-553 , 346-830 Other operating expenses 121, 176
455, 221 —Total operating expenses 42, 588 044 S, 446 984 -31"—89%-1-4—L05s from operatlons ( 42 588 044) ( 5,503,767 335
51+6;-092-) Other expense (income) fate 6 i 3 6 e A er-fee
-8%9—E—xt—mgutsbmeﬁt—e-ﬁéebt-€§§—99-l—0thel expense (1ncome) 200, 919 155 8 12 F air value adjustments, net 174, 608
Finance costs ( 2+7revenue) (329, 651 ) Total other expense 45, 876 155, 812 589;373-Loss before provision for income taxes
(42,633, 920) (5, 659, 579 H4925;465-) Provision for income taxes —Net loss ( 42, 633, 920) (5, 659, 579 H4-025;465-)
Loss attributable to non- controlling interest (1, 240, 395) (1, 031, 059 HH253,3+67) Net loss attributable to Atlas Lithium
Corporation stockholders $ ( 41, 393, 525) $ (4, 628, 520 ¥$2,792,358-) Basic and diluted loss per share Net loss per share
attributable to Atlas Lithium Corperation common stockholders $ (4, 11) $ (1. 00 3$+8;75) Weighted- average number of
common shares outstanding: Basic and diluted 10, 065, 572 4, 610, 681 3;-689;-664-Comprehensive loss: Net loss $ ( 42, 633,
920) $ (5, 659, 579 ¥$49025465-) Foreign currency translation adjustment ( 270, 980) (277, 659) 56;-835-Comprehensive
loss (42,904, 900) (5, 937, 238 H3;968;650-) Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (1, 372, 645) (1,
040, 488 H5258;595-) Comprehensive loss attributable to Atlas Lithium Cerpeoration stockholders $ ( 41, 532, 256) $ (4,
896, 750 ¥$2,7146,-055) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY For the
Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 Shares Value Shares Value Shares Value Capital Loss Deficit Interests
(Deficit) Series A Preferred Stock Series D Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional Paid- in Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Accumulated Nen-eentreting-Noncontrolling Total Stockholders” Equity Shares Value Shares Value Shares
Value Capital Loss Deficit Interests (Deficit) Balance, December 31, 2026-2021 1 § 1 —214, 006 $ —2-214 4 . 663-145 , 997572
$4,146 $ 54,571,409 $ (712, 810) $ (55, 642,474) $ 2, 664-236, 380 $ 49-456 , 484-866 Issuance of common stock in
connection with sales made---- 696 , 808 697 3 382-$(775- 901 H3)-$52- 659--- 3, 902, 356 under private offerings
Issuance of common stock in connection with purchase---- 116, 959 117 999, 883--- 1, 000, 000 of mining rights Exercise
of warrants 135, 631 136 (136)- Stock based compensation---- +85- 15 , 67044 15 2, 269, 551--- 2, 269, 566 Change in
foreign currency translation------- (268,230 ) - (9, 429) (277, 659) Sale of Jupiter Gold common stock in connection with
equity offerings 414, 875 75, 000 489, 875 Sale of Apollo Resources common stock in connection with equity offerings
100, 875 525, 000 625, 875 Net loss-------- (4, 628, 520) (1, 031, 059) (5, 659, 579) Balance, December 31,2022 1 5 | 214,
006 5768855 214 5, 110 014 $ 5 111 $ 62 258 116 $ ( 981 040) $ (60 270 994) $ 1, 496—795 892 § 2, 807, 300 Series A
Preferred Stock ated A A edresstnteo-Scrics D preferred-Preferred
Stock Common Stock Addltlonal Paid- in Accumulated Other Comprehenswe Accumulated Noncontrolling Total
Stockholders’ Equity Shares Value Shares Value Shares Value Capital Loss Deficit Interests (Deficit) Balance, December




31,202219$1214,006 $ 214 5,110,014 $ 5, 111 $ 62, 258, 116 $ (981, 040) $ (60, 270, 994) $ 1, 795, 892 § 2, 807, 300
Balance 1 $ 1 214, 006 $ 214 S, 110, 014 $ 5, 111 $ 62, 258, 116 $ (981, 040) $ (60, 270, 994) $ 1, 795, 892 $ 2, 807, 300
Issuance of common stock in connection with sales made -- 244;-606244—- 6412 . 707 864—642-, 648417 2, 707 32, 614,
874--- 32, 617, 582 under private offerings [ssuance of common stock in connection with sales made under private offerings---
-2,707,417 2,707 232 32 , 626-614, 874--- 232-- 32 946-, 617 77941, 669-582 Issuance of common stock in connection
with the-exereise-purchase---- 77, 240 77 749, 923--- 750, 000 of mining rights Issuance of common stock eptiens-in
connection with purchase of mining rights ---- 529-77 | 224-529449-240 77 749 , 471923 -- - 76-750 , 000 766226766
[ssuance of common stock in exchange for consulting, professional and other services---- 22-136 , 134-22-165-860 137 2 , 017
533+, $45497-690--- 2 , 386-017, 827 Issuance of common stock in exchange for consulting, professional and other
services---- 136, 860 137 2, 017, 690--- 2, 017, 827 Exercise of options into Series D preferred stock-- 108, 000 108-- 2, 934-
-- 3, 042 Conversion of Convertlble Preferred D stock into Common Stock-- (322, 006) (322) 4, 293, 409 4, 293---- 3,971
Stiatie --- 187-—356— 969 188 827—356;827

Exerclse of warrants H#een

her d Hito-eOtiIe 699-1, 362-155 , 289972 --- 1,
%62—156 9-8-8—158 Stock based Compensatlon———— 250-——1— 476-672 251 12 863 -346--—1— 47-9—012--- 12 -346—863 263 (han;_,e
in fmewn currency translation------- 62;303—( 5138 , 488731 ) 56-- (132 -8-15—250) (270, 980) Sdle of :Fupﬁer—G-e-}d-Apollo
Resources common stock n connectlon with equlty offerings A

(2—41 -7’—72—393 35-8—525 ) (1 253—240 167395 )(4—42 925—633 465—920 ) Balanee Decemberﬂ 2024+2023 1 § 1 - 2445
066-5 2+44-- 12 , 145763 , 572-581 $ 412 , +46-764 S 54111 , 57662 , 469-522 § ( H21 ,-8-1-9—119 771 ) S (54101 , 957
664 ,429-519 ) S-1—423 247 5513355 4569 , 866-314, 244 Balanee 1 ‘B | - 2H4:-666-5 244-4--12 , +45-763 , 572-581 $ 412 .
-1-4-6—764 %54—111 5—7’-1—662 499—522 $ (-7-1—2—1 -8—1-9—119 771 )‘{5 (54—101 95—7—664 42-9—519 ) ‘{a-l—423 247 55—1—335—‘{5456—

l ' ' 0
OF (ASH FLOWS 2023 2()22 %GMe&rs—eﬂded-Twelve months endlng December 31 202 2()22 262+-Cash flows from
operating activities of continuing operations: Net loss $ ( 42, 633, 920) ( 5, 659, 579 H4;-625;-465-) Adjustments to reconcile net
loss to cash used in operating activities: Stock based compensation and services 15, 609, 698 2, 269, 566 Issuance 653738
Amerﬁz&t—teﬂ—of éebt—diseeﬁﬂfs-—44—9-l-9—€emmeﬂ—common stock ﬂsued—m s&ﬁsfaeﬁe-n—connectlon with purchase of mmmg

Depreudmon dnd dmOl’tlZdthll 73 004 13, 8()6 3—7—Interest expense 87 . 328-422- Fair value adjustments 174, 608- Intangible
assets purehases— purchase payables (1, 080, 783) 2, 367, 600 —General provisions 795, 035 155, 812 ++-Other non- cash
expenses 150 , 246-091- Changes in operating assets and liabilities: Accounts receivable - 1, 310 +5-947Taxes recoverable ( 4,
155) (1, 198) =Deposits and advances ( 66, 812) (29, 847 H3F5;873-) Accounts payable and accrued expenses 1, 136, 876 (568,
038) Deferred consideration from royalties sold 720-- 20 , 47000, 000- Other noncurrent liabilities ( 20, 382) (29, 962 345
+22-) Net cash provided (used #r) by operating activities ( 5,029, 318) ( 1, 480, 530 H+645-686-) Cash flows from investing
activities: Acquisition of capital assets ( 6, 018, 873) (177, 529 H6;856-) Increase in intangible assets ( 1, 063, 594) ( 2, 668,
827 3954;-506-) Net cash used in investing activities (7, 082, 467) ( 2, 846, 356 H96+362) Cash flows from financing
activities: Leanfromoffieer—24:488-Net proceeds from sale of common stock -3—31 992—214 660 4, 502 , 356 Cash received
upon issuance +-674;-558Proceedsfromsale-of debt 10 substdiary 3 ginterests600-, 000 864,
024 200-Procceds-fronreonvertiblenotespayable— -1—25—999—Repaymeﬁt—eﬂe&ns—pay&b-}e—€-35—3989—N et cash prowded by
financing activities 41, 214, 684 4, 502, 356 4+89;-938-Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 166, 504 82, 279
42:282-Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 29, 269, 402 257, 749 £236;-8223-Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of period 280, 525 22, 776 253;-598-Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 29,549,927 $ 28(), 525 -$£2,—746

FINAN( lAL STATEMENTS N()TE 1 - OR(JANIZATION BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES Ors_amzatlon and Description of Business Atlas Lithium Cmporatlon ( together with its
subsidiaries “ Atlas Lithium . ” erthe “ Company 7, “ the Registrant ”, “ we ”, “ us ”, or “ our ” ) was incorporated asHux
Feehnotogies;Corp—under the laws of the State of Ne\ ada, Y=S-on December 15 2011. The Company changed its
management and business on December 18, 2012, to focus on mineral exploration in Brazil . Basis of Presentation and
Principles of Consolidation The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“ U. S. GAAP ”) and are expressed in United States dollars. For the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2624-, the consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company; its
99.99-9 % owned subs1d1aly BMIXPartieipacdes-Atlas Litio Brasil Ltda. (“ BiWHXP-Atlas Brasil ”) -whieh-ineludes-the

aceounts-of BMIEXP>s-wholy—ewned-; its 58. 71 % equity interest in Apollo Resources Corporation (“ Apollo Resources )
and its substdiary-subsidiaries Minera¢ao Apollo, Ltda. . Mineracio Duas Barras Ltda. (“ MDB ”) -and BMIXP5-56-%



ewned—subs&&t&ry—RST Recmsos Minerais Ltda. (“ RST ”) and its 99—27 42 99%—ewned-sub31d-t&fy—Hefeu-}es—Resettfees

Hts-subsidtary-Mineracdo-ApoHoLtdaand1ts28-—72-% equlty interest in Jupiter Gold Corporation (“ Jupiter Gold ), which
includes the accounts of Jupiter Gold’ s whely—ewred-subsidiary, Mineragdo Jupiter Ltda. The Company has concluded that
Apollo Resources, Jupiter Gold and their subsidiaries are variable interest entities (“ VIE ) in accordance with applicable
accounting standards and guidance. As such, the accounts and results of Apollo Resources, Jupiter Gold and their subsidiaries
have been included in the Company’ s consolidated financial statements. All material intercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation. In March 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“ FASB ”) issued
Accounting Standards Update (“ ASU ”) 2020- 04 (“ ASU 2020- 04 ), Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of
the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting, which provides optional guidance for a limited period of
time to ease the potential burden on accounting for contract modifications caused by reference rate reform. In January
2021, ASU 2021- 01, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Scope was issued which broadened the scope of ASU 2020- 04
to include certain derivative instruments. In December 2022, ASU 2022- 06, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848):
Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848, was issued which deferred the sunset date of ASU 2020- 04. The guidance is
effective for all entities as of March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2024. The guidance may be adopted over time as
reference rate reform activities occur and should be applied on a prospective basis. There have been no significant
effects that may impact its financial statements and we do not believe that there are any other new pronouncements that
have been issued that might have a material impact on its financial position or results of operations. In December 2023,
the FASB issued ASU 2023- 09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvement to Income Tax Disclosures, amending income
tax disclosure requirements for the effective tax rate reconciliation and income taxes paid. The amendments in ASU
2023- 09 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024 and are applied prospectively. Early adoption
and retrospective application of the amendments are permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of this update on
our consolidated financial statements and disclosures. Fair Value of Financial Instruments The Company follows the
guidance of Accounting Standards Codification (“ ASC ) Topic 820 — Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure. Fair value is
defined as the exit price, or the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants as of the measurement date. The guidance also establishes a hierarchy for inputs used in
measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that
the most observable inputs be used when available. Observable inputs are inputs market participants would use in valuing the
asset or liability and are developed based on market data obtained from sources independent of our Company. Unobservable
inputs are inputs that reflect our Company”’ s assumptions about the factors market participants would use in valuing the asset or
liability. The guidance establishes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value: Level 1. Observable inputs
such as quoted prices in active markets. Level 2. Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are
observable either directly or indirectly; and Level 3. Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data,
which require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions. F- 9 As of December 31, 2023, and 2022 -and262+, the
Company’ s derivative liabilities were considered a level 2 liability. See Note 3-2 for a discussion regarding the determination of
the fair market value. The Company does not have any level 3 assets or liabilities. The Company’ s financial instruments consist
of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, taxes reeetvable-recoverable , prepaid expenses;depeosits-and other current
assets, accounts payable , debt, related party notes and other payables, derivative instruments, other noncurrent liabilities
and accrued expenses. The carrying amount of these financial instruments approximates fair value due to either length of
maturity or interest rates that approximate prevailing market rates unless otherwise disclosed in these consolidated financial
statements. Cash and Cash Equivalents The Company considers all highly liquid instruments purchased with a maturity of three
months or less to be cash equivalents to the extent that the funds are not being held for investment purposes. The Company’ s
bank accounts are deposited in FDIC insured institutions. Funds held in U. S. banks are insured up to $ 250, 000 and funds held
in Brazilian banks are insured up to R § 250, 000 Brazilian Reais (translating into approximately $ 4751 , 343-639 as of
December 31, 20222023 ). Accounts Receivable Accounts receivable are customer obligations due under normal trade terms
which are recorded at net realizable value. The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts based on management’
s assessment of the collectability of trade receivables. A considerable amount of judgment is required in assessing the amount of
the allowance. The Company makes judgments about the creditworthiness of each customer based on ongoing credit evaluations
and monitors current economic trends that might impact the level of credit losses in the future. If the financial condition of the
customers were to deteriorate, resulting in their inability to make payments, a specific allowance will be required. F8-Recovery
of bad debt amounts previously written off is recorded as a reduction of bad debt expense in the period the payment is collected.
If the Company’ s actual collection experience changes, revisions to its allowance may be required. After all attempts to collect
a receivable have failed, the receivable is written off against the allowance. Taxes Receivable The Company records a
receivable for value added taxes receivable from Brazilian authorities on goods and services purchased by its Brazilian
subsidiaries. fPhe—These Geﬁﬁaany—mfeﬂés-te—reeeve%ﬂ&e—taxes are recoverable through various methods, including via cash
refund or es i m eredits—as payments-a credit against payroll,
supplier withholding taxes, or other taxes payable . F- 10 Intanglble Assets Mineral Properties and Mineral rights Costs
of exploration, carrying and retaining unproven mineral lease properties are expensed as incurred. Mineral property acquisition
costs, including licenses and lease payments, are capitalized. Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to mineral
properties in which it has an interest, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’ s rights. Such properties may be subject
to prior agreements or transfers and title may be affected by undetected defects. Impairment losses are recorded on mineral
properties used in operations when indicators of impairment are present and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be




generated by those assets are less than the assets’ carrying amount. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2621-, the
Company did not recognize any impairment losses related to mineral properties held. Other Intangible Assets For intangible
assets purchased in a business combination, the estimated fair values of the assets received are used to establish their recorded
values. For intangible assets acquired in a non- monetary exchange, the estimated fair values of the assets transferred (or the
estimated fair values of the assets received, if more clearly evident) are used to establish their recorded values, unless the values
of neither the assets received nor the assets transferred are determinable within reasonable limits, in which case the assets
received are measured based on the carrying values of the assets transferred. Valuation techniques consistent with the market
approach, income approach and / or cost approach are used to measure fair value. Intangible assets consist of mineral rights
awarded by the Brazilian national mining department and held by the Company’ s subsidiaries. F=9-The Company accounts for
intangible assets in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ ASC ) 350, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other (*
ASC 350 ). ASC 350 requires that intangible assets with indefinite useful lives no longer be amortized, but instead be evaluated
for impairment at least annually. On an annual basis, in the fourth quarter of the fiscal year, management reviews intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives for impairment by first assessing qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of
events or circumstances makes it more- likely- than- not that the fair value of an intangible asset is less than its carrying amount.
If it is determined that it is more- likely- than- not that the fair value of an intangible asset is less than its carrying amount, the
intangible asset is further tested for impairment by comparing the carrying amount to its estimated fair value using a discounted
cash flow. Impairment, if any, is measured as the amount by which an indefinite- lived intangible asset’ s carrying amount
exceeds its fair value. F- 11 For long- lived assets, such as property and equipment and intangible assets subject to amortization,
the Company continually monitors events and changes in circumstances that could indicate carrying amounts of long- lived
assets may not be recoverable. When such events or changes in circumstances are present, the Company assesses the
recoverability of long- lived assets by determining whether the carrying value of such assets will be recovered through
undiscounted expected future cash flows. If the total of the future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of those assets, the
Company recognizes an impairment loss based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of the assets. Assets to
be dlsposed of are reported at the lower of the carrymg amount or the farr Value less costs to sell The Companyeva-l-uates—aﬂd

date—e-ﬁfedempt-ieﬂ—’Phe—Gem-paﬂy—determlnes at the 1ncept10n of each arrangement whether an entlty in Wthh the Company
holds an investment or in which the Company has other variable interests in is considered a variable interest entity. The
Company consolidates VIEs when it is the primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary of a VIE is the party that meets both of
the following criteria: (1) has the power to make decisions that most significantly affect the economic performance of the VIE;
and (2) has the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits that in either case could potentially be significant to the
VIE. Periodically, the Company assesses whether any changes in the interest or relationship with the entity affect the
determination of whether the entity is still a VIE and, if so, whether the Company is the primary beneficiary. If the Company is
not the primary beneficiary in a VIE, the Company accounts for the investment under the equity method or cost method in
accordance with the applicable GAAP. The Company has concluded that Apollo Resources, Jupiter Gold and their subsidiaries
are VIEs in accordance with applicable accounting standards and guidance; and although the operations of Apollo Resources
and Jupiter Gold are independent of the Company, through governance rights, the Company has the power to direct the
activities that are most significant to Apollo Resources and Jupiter Gold. Therefore, the Company concluded that it is the
primary beneficiary of both Apollo Resources and Jupiter Gold. Revenue Recognition The Company recognizes revenue under
ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ ASC 606 ). The core principle of the new revenue standard is that
a company should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The following five steps
are applied to achieve that core principle: ® Step 1: Identify the contract with the customer e Step 2: Identify the performance
obligations in the contract @ Step 3: Determine the transaction priee-priceF - 12 @ Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract @ Step 5: Recognize revenue when the company satisfies a performance ebligationk
obligationIn —H-Jn-order to identify the performance obligations in a contract with a customer, a company must assess the
promised goods or services in the contract and identify each promised good or service that is distinct. A performance obligation
meets ASC 606’ s definition of a *“ distinct ”” good or service (or bundle of goods or services) if both of the following criteria are
met: ® The customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with other resources that are readily
available to the customer ® The entity’ s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately identifiable from
other promises in the contract (i. e., If a good or service is not distinct, the good or service is combined with other promised
goods or services until a bundle of goods or services is identified that is distinct. The transaction price is the amount of
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer.
The consideration promised in a contract with a customer may include fixed amounts, variable amounts, or both. When
determining the transaction price, an entity must consider the effects of all of the following: @ Variable consideration ®
Constraining estimates of variable consideration ® The existence of a significant financing component in the contract ® Non-
cash consideration @ Consideration payable to a customerVariable consideration is included in the transaction price only to the
extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. The transaction price is allocated to each



performance obligation on a relative standalone selling price basis. The transaction price allocated to each performance
obligation is recognized when that performance obligation is satisfied, at a point in time or over time as appropriate. F- 13 Costs
of Goods Sold Included within costs of goods sold are costs of production such as diesel fuel, labor, and transportation. ¥=42
The Company measures and records stock- based compensation expense in accordance with ASC Topic 718 -Compensation
for share - based payments related to Stoekstock Compensatiorroptions, restricted stock, and performance- based awards
granted to certain directors, employees and consultants . ASC 718 requires companies to measure compensation cost for
stock- based employee compensation at fair value at the grant date and recognize the expense over the employee’ s requisite
service period. Under ASC 718, volatility is based on the historical volatility of our stock or the expected volatility of the stock
of similar companies. The expected life assumption is primarily based on historical exercise patterns and employee post- vesting
termination behavior. The risk- free interest rate for the expected term of the option is based on the U. S. Treasury yield curve in
effect at the time of grant. The Company-utiizes-fair value of stock options and performance awards without a market
condition is estimated, at the date of grant, using the Black- Scholes option- pricing model . The ;whieh-was-developedfor
use-irestimating-the-fair value of restricted stock awards and stock options with a market condition is estimated, at the
date of grant, using the Monte Carlo Simulation model . Option-The fair value of restricted stock awards with a required
lock - prietng-up period without a market condition is estimated at the date of grant, using the Hull- White Lattice
(binomial) model. The Black- Scholes, Monte Carlo Slmulatlon, and Hull- Whlte Lattlce valuatlon models incorporate
assumptions as to stock price volatility, req 0 e-the expected
life of options granted-or awards, a risk- free interest rate, 1lllqu1d1ty dlscount, and d1v1dend yield. In Valulng our stock
options, significant judgment is required in determining the expected volatility of our commen stock and priee-overa
period-eguat-to-orgreater-than-the expected life efthat individuals will hold the-their stock options prior to exercising.
Expected volatility for stock options is based on the historical and implied volatility of the Company’ s common stock
while the volatility for restricted stock awards with a market condition is based on the historical volatility of the
Company’ s own stock and the stock of companies within our defined peer group . Because changes in the subjective
assumptions can materially affect the estimated value of our employee stock options, it is management’ s opinion that the
valuation Blaek—Seheles-option—prieingmedetmodels may not provide an accurate measure of the fair value of our empleyee
stock options , restricted stock and performance- based awards . Although the fair value of empteyeestock options and
restricted stock awards is determined in accordance with ASC Topic 718 using-atreption—prieingmodel, that value may not
be lrldl(,dtl\e of the fair value obsel\ ed i ina w1111ng buyer /w 1111110 seller market transaction. In accordance eﬁ—J-uﬁe%HO-l-Ei—

s&me—as—sh&re—based—paymef&s—fer—emp-}eyees- The ( ompany ade-pfed—amortlzes the fequﬁemeﬁts—e-ﬂdebt dlscount over the
new-rite-life of the convertible notes as efJanuary+;2649;-an additional non- cash interest expense utilizing the effective

interest method. Refer to Note 2 for additional information. Derivative Instruments The Company evaluates its
convertible debt, warrants or other contracts to determine if those contracts or embedded components of those contracts
qualify as derivatives to be separately accounted for in accordance with Topic 480 of the FASB ASC and Topic 815 of the
FASB Accounting Standards Codification. The result of this accounting treatment is that the fair value of the embedded
derivative, if required to be bifurcated, is marked- to- market at each balance sheet datc and recorded as a liability. The
change in fair value is recorded in the Statement of Operations as a component of other income or expense. Upon
conversion or exercise of a derivative instrument, the instrument is marked to fair value at the conversion date and the
then new-guidanee-that fair value is reclassified to equity. F- 14 In circumstances where the embedded conversion option
in a convertible instrument is required to be bifurcated and there are also other embedded derivative instruments in the
convertible instrument that are required to be bifurcated, the bifurcated derivative instruments are accounted for as a
single, compound derivative instrument. The classification of derivative instruments, including whether such
instruments should be recorded as liabilities or as equity, is re- assessed at the end of each reporting period. Equity
instruments that are initially classified as equity that become subject to reclassification are reclassified to liability at the
fair value of the instrument on the reclassification date. Derivative instrument liabilities will be classified in the balance
sheet as current or non- current based on whether net- cash settlement of the derivative instrument is expected within 12
months of the balance sheet date . The Company’ s foreign subsidiaries use a local currency as the functional currency.
Resulting translation gains or losses are recognized as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income. Transaction
gains or losses related to balances denominated in a currency other than the functional currency are recognized in the
consolidated statements of operations. Net foreign currency transaction losses included in the Company’ s consolidated
statements of operations were negligible for all periods presented. Income Taxes The Company accounts for income taxes in
accordance with ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes. ASC 740 requires a company to use the asset and liability method of
accounting for income taxes, whereby deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences, and deferred tax
liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences. Temporary differences are the differences between the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the
opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion, or all of, the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment. As of
December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2024-, the Company’ s deferred tax assets had a full valuation allowance. F=43-Under ASC
740, a tax position is recognized as a benefit only if it is “ more likely than not ” that the tax position would be sustained in a tax



examination being presumed to occur. The amount recognized is the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50 %
likely of being realized on examination. For tax positions not meeting the “ more likely than not ” test, no tax benefit is
recorded. The Company has identified the United States Federal tax returns as its “ major ” tax jurisdiction. On December 22,
2017, the United States enacted the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“ TCJA ), which instituted fundamental changes to the taxation of
multinational corporations, including a reduction the U. S. corporate income tax rate to 21 % beginning in 2018. The TCJA also
requires a one- time transition tax on the mandatory deemed repatriation of the cumulative earnings of certain of the Company’ s
foreign subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017. To determine the amount of this transition tax, the Company must determine the
amount of earnings generated since inception by the relevant foreign subsidiaries, as well as the amount of non- U. S. income
taxes paid on such earnings, in addition to potentially other factors. The Company believes that no such tax will be due since its
Brazilian subsidiaries have, when required, paid taxes locally and that they have incurred a cumulative operating deficit since
inception. F- 15 Basic Income (Loss) Per Share The Company computes loss per share in accordance with ASC Topic 260,
Earnings per Share, which requires presentation of both basic and diluted earnings per share on the face of the statement of
operations. Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss available to common shareholders by the weighted average
number of outstanding common shares during the period. Diluted loss per share gives effect to all dilutive potential common
shares outstanding during the period. As of December 31, 2022-2023 , if all holders of preferred stock, options and warrants
exercised their right to convert their securities to common stock, the common stock issuable would be in excess of the
Company’ s authorized, but unissued shares of common stock. Other Comprehensive Income Other comprehensive income is
defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances
from non- owner sources, other than net income and including foreign currency translation adjustments. Reclassifications
Cert"un prior year amounts ha\ e been recl'lssmed to conform to the cu1rent perlod presentatlon These reclassifications had no

i 6 tons 15 ofd it ets-adoption will have on its consohdated
fmanClal statements NOTE 2— COMPOSITION OF C ERTAIN FINANCIAL STATEMENT ITEMS The following table sets
forth the components of the Company’ s property and equipment at December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2624+- SCHEDULE OF
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT December 31, 20222023 December 3 1, 26242022 €ost-Accumulated Pepreetatien-Net Book
Accumulated Net Book Cost Depreciation Value Cost Aeesmudated-Depreciation NetBeek-Value Capital assets subject to
depreciation: Computers and office equipment $ - $-$-$ 571 § (571) $- -$—3—Mach1nery and equipment--- 419 , 498 (362, 140)
57, 358 Vehicles--- 80-- 80 $(2-, 778-139 (79, 021 ) $-1,

28548952764 Vehieles80; 13979625151 1 8§ H8;-653(H8;653)—Land 361, 674- 361 674 159 074- 159 074 Prepald
Assets (CIP) 6, 046, 061- 6, 046, 061 --- Total fixed assets $ 6,407, 735 $-$ 6,407, 735 $ 659, 282 $ (441, 732) $ 217,550 %
456, 74754029205 $-53,-827 F-—15-For the years ended December 31, 2023, and 2022 ;ard2621- the Company recorded
depreciation expense of $ 50, 741 and $ 13, 806 and-$37328-, respectlvely recorded in general and administrative expense. F-
16 Intangible assets consist of mining rights which are not amortized as the mining rights are perpetual. The carrying value of
these mineral rights wwas-— as $4-of December 31 , 2023 9H5267and $4-302,440-at December 31, 2022 was $ 7, 115, 644
and 202+$ 4, 971, 267 , respectively. Fhere—- The Company previously reported it was acquiring ﬁve mineral rights
totaling 1 ﬂe1mp&rfmeﬁt—reeeréed—a's—&t—9eeefﬂ-ber—3-l— 090 %922—0r—292—1— 88 hectares pursuant to a mineral rights purchase
agreement Eeui mittab y-entered into on
January 19, 2023 (the “ Acqu1s1t10n Agreement ). After a perlod of prellmmary assessment the Company an-and
exehanige-the counterparty to the agreement agreed to revise the terms whereby-it-issted-25-660,-600-shares-of the
acquisition, following which the Company ultimately consummated the acquisition of only one mineral right totaling 45.
77 hectares. The mineral right its— is located eemmon-stoek-in the municipalities exchangefor-500,-000-shares-of Ares




Reseurees—Geﬂaef&&eﬂ—Araeual and Itinga, in a region known as “ Lithium Valley ” in the state of Minas Gerais in Brazil .
The Company’ s ehtefexeentive-officer-also-serves-obligations under the Acquisition Agreement as revised are: ® Payment
of $ 400, 000, which payment took place on January 19 2023 an—and offteer-o Issuance 0 $ 750 Ares—Reseurees

€erpef&&eﬂ— 000 worth of restrlcted s

related to this transaction ¢ha w4 6 e5€ e O 5 e
approximated-fair-valtie-. Aeu)unls Payable and Accrued leblllIlL\ SC HEDUL[ ()F A((()UNTS PAYABLE AND
ACCRUED LIABILITIES December 31, 2023 December 3 1, Aeeotnts-Payable-and-Aeeruned-Eiabilities2022 202+-Accounts
payable and other accruals $ 3, 406, 864 $ 408, 874 $3+6,847-Mineral rights payable 1, 080, 783 2, 367, 600 6725-664Acerted
fnterest-é%G—Totd $ 4, 487 647 $2,776,474 Leases Fmance Leases F0r-$—98~8%—3%’—F-—1—6—N95PE—3—G9N¥E-R—"H-BI:E

Frrebatatee wanee-no financial leases meeting the
criteria outlined in ASC 842 have been 1dent1ﬁed 0perat1ng Leases nght of eeﬁvef&b-}e—netes—payab%e-—}%use (“ROU ”)
assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of the future lease
payments over the lease term. When the rate implicit to the lease cannot be readily determined . 666-Eenderadjustments
forpenalties-we utilize our incremental borrowing rate in determining the present value of the future lease payments.
The ROU asset includes any lease payments made and lease incentives received prior to the commencement date.
Operating lease ROU assets also include any cumulative prepaid or defaults—37242Debt-diseounts-reeorded-accrued rent
when the lease payments are uneven throughout the lease term. The ROU assets and lease liabilities may include options
to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we w1ll exercise that optlon The ROU and lease
liabilities are primarily related to commercial offices tssuan Ve € ; S

diseounts-assoetated-with third parties. The lease agreements have eenverﬁ-b%e—debf—44—9+9—}ﬁefease—m-pfmerpal—ameﬂﬂts
outstanding-due-to-lenderadjustmentsper-terms e#betvveen 2 to 4 years and th ﬂete—agreemen-ts—-eeﬂverﬁeﬂ—hablhty was

measured at the present value of the lease conve
payments dlscounted usmg 1nterest rates w1th ofconvertt

a welghted average rate
i ent d i i y sross-proeeeds;of $244-000
and—w&fr-&nts{ 5 % whlch was determlned to be parehas of-the Company’ s eommen-stoek
incremental borrowing rate. The continuity of the lease llablhtles is presented in the table below: SCHEDULE OF
OPERATING LEASE LIABILITYLease liabilities at an-exereise-priee-of-January 1, 2023 $ 62— Additions $ 466, 887
Interest expense $ 5, 025 Lease payments $ (20, 560-507 pershare-) Lease liabilities at December 31, 2023 $ 451, 405
Current portion $ 114, 994 Non- current portion $ 336, 411 The maturity of the lease liabilities (contractual
undiscounted cash flows) is presented in the table below: SCHEDULE OF CONTRACTUAL UNDISCOUNTED CASH
FLOWS Less than one year $ 144, 132 Year 2 § 151, 060 Year 3 $ 138, 305 Year 4 $ 92, 965 Total contractual
undiscounted cash flows $ 526, 462 F- 17 Convertible Debt SCHEDULE OF CONVERTIBLE DEBT December 31, 2023
December 31, 2022 Due to Nanyang Investment Management Pte Ltd 5, 862, 434- Due to Jaeger Investments Pty Litd 1,
954, 145- Due to Modha Reena Bhasker 977, 072- Due to Clipper Group Limited 977, 072- Total convertible debt §$ 9,
770, 724 $- Current portion $ 67, 024 Non- current portion $ 9, 703, 700 On November 7, 2023, the Company entered
into a convertible note purchase agreement (the “ November 7, 2023 Convertible Note Agreement ”’) with Mr. Martin
Rowley (“ Mr Rowley ”) and other investors to raise up to $ 20, 000, 000 in proceeds through Peeember26;2048—Fhe

v 3 $ the sale-issuance of convertible promissory sueh-seeurtttes—Fhe
eutst&nd-mg—pﬂﬂetpa-l-e%t-he—nete—notes bears-with the following key terms:- Maturity date: 36 months as from the date of
issuance;- Principal repayment terms: due on maturity;- interest-Interest at-the-rate of42-: 6. 5 % per annum —Fhe-;-
Interest payment terms: due semiannually in arrears until Maturity, unless converted or redeemed earlier and payable
at the election of the holder in cash, in shares of Common Stock, or in any combination thereof;- Conversion right: the
holder reta1ns a rlght to convert all or any portlon of the note ts—eeﬁveftrb-}e-lnto shares of the Company’ s Common Stock

PRAVAVAVAS &V,

Conversmn prlce US $28. -I-ﬂ—Beeembei%G’zle—ZZS / share- Redemptlon rlght th -}enéer—&gfeed—Company shall vest a
right to reduee-redeem the interestrate-frerr-convertible notes if and when (i) twelve months have passed since the defauit



rate-of30-loan origination and (ii) the volume weighted average price exceeded 125 % to-the-statedrate-of +6-%
retroactively—As-the conversion price for S trading days within a result-20 day trading period. However , if the Company
reeorded-gainnotifies the holder of $238-its election to redeem the convertible note . +5+frenr-the holder may the-then

convert 1mmed1ately at rehef—e-ﬂrﬂterest—expeﬁse—te-et-heﬁ the ieome-conversion pr1ce -F-—H’—()n -February—?v—November 7,
%92—1—2023 the (ompdm 1sxucd 2—9—$ 10, 000 s 80

November 7 2023 Convertlble Note Agreement and there were no other purchases and sales of the convertible
promissory notes pursuant to the November 7, 2023 Convertlble Note Agreement On the date of i 1ssuance, the Company
received $ +25-10 , 000, 000 in cash proceeds —Fhe e A re-me

issuanec-ontune 18- %OMwmeﬂt-hs—frem—tssuanee-and recorded (1) a $ 9 the—nete—ts—688 305 conv uublc debt
liability and (ii) at-the-option-ofthe-holder-at-a priee-of$ 311 6-06+--A-debt-diseountof$4-, 695 conversion feature
derivative liability in 999—feerssuanee—eests—was—reeerded—zmd—rs—1ts consohdated statement betng—ameﬁﬁed—evefﬂae—l-i-fe—(
ﬁnanclal pos1t10n, as further dlsclosed below he-note: W

44-3—3%—Duﬂng—lhc year ended Dcccmbu »1 %92—1—2023 the (ompam recorded-tss-ued—l—9—934—442—s-l‘tares-e-ﬁeernﬁaeﬁ
stoek—tpenreonversionof S 129-67 , 606-024 in prineipal-interest expense and $ 4-15 , 395 244+-—10-in accretion expense in
aeerued—rrrterest—ks—e-ﬁBeeembeH&—%@Q%and%@Q&—lhc ba-}anee—consohdated statement of t-he—nete—was—operatlons and
comprehensive loss ( $ nil 6;-and $ nil att-dis e - ;
-Pﬂeeﬁért—'v‘&ﬂeus—t-uﬁes—te—fuﬂd-eperaﬁeﬂs—. for he

D

year cndcd Dcccmbu 31 %9-1—6—2022) Derlvatlve L1ab111t1es SCHEDULE OF DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES December 31,
2023 December 31, 2022 Derivative liability- conversion feature on the convertible debt 486, 303- Derivative liability-
restricted stock awards 513, 757- Total derivative liabilities $ 1, 000, 060 $- a) Derivative liability — embedded conversion
feature on convertible debt On November 7, 2023 , the Company issucd te-ene-notcholderinvarioustransactions; $242,144
tr-convertible promissory notes to Mr. Rowley and other investors as further disclosed in Note 2. In accordance with fixed
floors-and-reeeived- FASB ASC 815, the conversion feature of the convertible debt was determined to be an aggregate
embedded derivative. As such, it was bifurcated from the host debt liability and was recognized as a derivative liability in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The derivative liability is measured at fair value through profit or loss.
F- 18 On origination at November 7, 2023, the fair value of the embedded conversion feature was determined to be $ 311,
695 using a Black- Scholes collar option pricing model with the following assumptions: SCHEDULE OF FAIR VALUE
EMBEDDED CONVERSION PRICING MODEL ASSUMPTION Value cap Value floor Measurement date November
7,2023 November 7, 2023 Number of options 354, 297 354, 297 Stock price at fair value measurement date § 232-- 22 ;
344-inproeeeds-. The-eonvertible-promisserynotes—each-bear-8200 $ 22. 8200 Exercise price $ 28. 2250 $ 35. 2813 Expected
volatlhty 111. 81 % 111. 81 % Rlsk- free mlucxl at—8—rate 4. 64 % 4. 64 % D1v1dend yleld 0. 00 % 0pefaﬂﬂtuﬁ—aﬂd-ma—ture

December 31, 20242023 , the eufst&nd-mg—prmerpa—l—ba}anee-falr value of the embedded conversion feature was determmed
to be $ 486, 304 using a Black- Scholes collar option pricing model with the following assumptions: Value cap Value floor
Measurement date December 31, 2023 December 31, 2023 Number of options 354, 297 354, 297 Stock price at fair value
measurement date $ 31. 2800 $ 31. 2800 Exercise price $ 28. 2250 $ 35. 2813 Expected volatility 99. 42 % 99. 42 % Risk-
free interest rate 3. 97 % 3. 97 % Dividend yield 0. 00 % 0. 00 % Expected term (years) 2. 85 2. 85 In the Black- Scholes
collar option pricing models, the expected volatilities were based on historical volatilities of these--- the securities of the
Company netes-total-$-0;-and all-diseounts-its trading peers, and the risk- free interest rates were fully-amortized
determined based on the prevailing rates at the grant date for U . F-—l-S—Burmg—S Treasury Bonds with a term equal to
the expected term of the instrument being valued. In the year ended December 31, 26472023 , the Company recognized a
issued-to-one-noteholderin-vartous-transaetions-$ 477174 . 669-608 loss on changes in eonvertible-promissery-notes-with-fixed
floors-and-reeetved-fair value of financial instruments in the consohdated statement of 0perat10ns an—and aggrega-te—e-f
comprehensnve loss ( % 454—ml 5-84—111 pro - and




g i f i HEHIE lhc year cndul Dcccmbu »1 %9—1—8—2022) b) Derlvatlve llablllty—
restrlcted stock umt (“ RSU ”) awards On September 30 2023 the C ompdm tssued-granted RSU awards to one

diseeuﬂt—te—the—}ewest—traéed—pﬁee—ol lhc Company’ s eeﬁrmeﬁ—Common steew}eStock outstandlng eveH-he—pfeﬂeﬂs—}G-days—Iﬂ
addtﬁen— eaeh—nete—ln seven equal tranches of 0 2 % of the Company s eeﬁfersmn—rate—has—a—ﬂoe%e%—e—e%-l—’kta{—debt

the—Gempan—y—agreed—te—set&e—a-H—oulxtamlnw pﬁnerpa-l- w1th &nd» an explry date tn-terest—eﬂ—these—netes—rrrexehaﬂge-fer

en-steck-and-ee o W f December
31, 262142026 -and market vestlng condltlons as follows Tranche 1: when lhc eﬂtstanehng—pﬁnerpa-l—ba-}anee—oﬂ—Company
achieves a $ 200 million market capitalization- Tranche 2: when the Company achieves a $ 300 million market
capitalization- Tranche 3: when the Company achieves a $ 400 million market capitalization- Tranche 4: when the
Company achieves a $ 500 million market capitalization- Tranche S: when the Company achieves a § 600 million market
capitalization- Tranche 6: when the Company achieves a $ 700 million market capitalization- Tranche 7: when the
Company achieves a $ 1. 0 billion market capitalizationIn accordance with FASB ASC 815, these notes-total- RSU awards
were classified as a liability, measured at fair value through profit or loss, and compensation expense is recognized over
the expected term. As at September 30, 2023, the grant date fair value of these awards was $ 6-2 . and-at-diseounts-were
fally-amertized-517, 300, as determined a Monte Carlo Simulation valuation method according to the assumptions
disclosed in Note 5 . Butinig-In the year ended December 31, 2649-2023 , the Company recognized $ 513, 757 in stock- based
compensation expense in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss, met the market conditions for
Tranche 1 and Tranche 2, and issued 40, 533 shares of Common Stock to ene-notcholderin-variots-transaetions-the
executive officer. As at December 31, 2023, Tranche 3, Tranche 4, Tranche 5, Tranche 6 and Tranche 7 remain
outstanding and unvested, and the total fair value of these restricted stock awards outstanding was $ 282-1 , 666-in
eemerﬁ-b%e—prermesew—netes—SSO 576 as measured us1ng a Monte Carlo Slmulatlon W uh -ﬁ*ed—ﬂeers—&nd—reeewed—aﬂ

i tet i g-nputs:{H-stock price on 1hc December 31 2023 measurement date ,
expected d1v1dend yreld ol gr&n-t—ef—$—() % —9—1—58— expected volatility between 72 {it)-the-eontractual-termof the-warrant-of-6-.
Fyears-3 % and 89. 3 % , Giparisk- free interest rate between a range of 6-4 . 35-79 % to 5. 41 %, and ¥ran cxpcctcd term
between 3 months and 12 months. The expected votatility-volatilities were based on historical volatilities of the priee
securities of the underlying-eommen-Company and its trading peers, and the risk- free interest rates were determined
based on the prevailing rates at the grant date for U. S. Treasury Bonds with a term equal to the expected term of the
award being valued. F- 19 NOTE 3 - DEFERRED CONSIDERATION FROM ROYALTIES SOLD On May 2, 2023, the
Company and Atlas Litio Brasil Ltda. (the “ Company Subsidiary ), entered into a Royalty Purchase Agreement (the
Purchase Agreement ) with Lithium Royalty Corp., a Canadian company listed on the Toronto stoek-Stock of446
Exchange (“ LRC ”) . 5-The transaction contemplated under the Purchase Agreement closed simultaneously on May 2,
2023, whereby the Company Subsidiary sold to LRC in consideration for $ 20, 000, 000 in cash, a royalty interest
equaling 3 % —As-of Peeember3+20624-the 45-gross revenue (the “ Royalty ”) to be received by the Company Subsidiary
from the sale of products from certain 19 mineral rights and properties that are located in Brazil and held by the
Company Subsidiary. For the transaction above the Company agreed with the intermediary to issue 72, 995 finder
shares worth 7 % of $ 20 , )0 swarrants-expired-, which represents $ 1, 400, 000 . On the same day January+9;2624,

the Company -rssued—Submdlary and LRC entered into a Gross Revenue Royalty Agreement (the “ Royalty Agreement )
pursuant to which the Company Subsidiary granted LRC the Royalty and undertook to calculate and make royalty




payment ene-- on noteholdera $270,-000-eonvertible-promisserynote-quarterly basis commencing from the first receipt of
the sales proceeds with respect to the products from the Property The Royalty Agreement contams other customary

Ao , Lhc scope}ewest—traéed—pﬂee—olthe

gross revenue, the ( ompany Subs1d1ary S rlght to determlne operatlons, and LRC common-stoek-overthe-previous20
days—Thenote-" s eonversionrate-information and audit rights. Under the Royalty Agreement, the Company Subsidiary

also granted LRC an option to purchase additional royalty interest with respect to certain additional Brazilian mineral
rights and properties on the same terms and conditions has-— as the Royalty, at a fleer-total purchase price of § § 6666+

F19-On-May 7,202 the-Companyrepatd-$276-, 00( m—ﬂete—pmretp&aﬂd%—é—OOO%%ﬁ&&eerued—mteresﬁe—the—he}éeﬁ%s

. NOTE 4 — OTHER NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Other noncullcm liabilities are com]mscd solely of social L()l]lllbtlllon\ and other employee- related costs at our operating
subsidiaries located in Brazil. The balance of these employee related costs as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2624
amounted to $ 58,579 and $ 78, 964 and-$1+68;926-, respectively. NOTE 5 — STOCKHOLDERS” EQUITY Authorized Stock
and Amendments On July 18, 2022, the board of directors of the Company (the “ Board of Directors ” or “ Board )
adopted resolutions to effect a reverse stock split of the Company’ s issued and outstanding shares of common stock at a
ratio of 1- for- 750 without affecting the number of shares of authorized common stock (the “ Originally Intended
Reverse Stock Split ). The holder of the majority voting power of our voting stock (the “ Majority Stockholder ”)
approved the Originally Intended Reverse Stock Split by written consent on July 18, 2022, in lieu of a meeting of
stockholders as permitted under the Nevada Revised Statute (“ NRS ”) Section 78. 320 (2) and the company’ s bylaws, as
then amended (the “ Bylaws ”). For additional information on the Originally Intended Reverse Stock Split, refer to the
Definitive Information Statement filed by the Company with the U. S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “ SEC
” or the “ Commission ) on July 29, 2022 (the “ 2022 Information Statement ”) and the Form 8- K filed by the Company
with the Commission on December 22, 2022, both available on EDGAR at www. sec. gov. F- 20 On December 20, 2022,
the Company filed a Certificate of Amendment to its Articles of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of
Nevada (“ SOS ”) that was intended to effect the Originally Intended Reverse Stock Split (the “ Original Articles
Amendment ). In April 2023, the Board of Directors determined (i) that the Original Articles Amendment inaccurately
stated that the Originally Intended Reverse Stock Split was obtained by a stockholder vote under NRS 78. 390, while
approval of the stockholders was required under NRS 78. 2055, with the holders of common stock voting as a separate
class; and (ii) that the Original Articles Amendment was a nullity in that, under Nevada law, filing an amendment to
articles of incorporation is not necessary to effectuate a reverse stock split. As a result, the Board of Directors
determined that it would be in the best interest of the Company to take corrective action to remedy the inaccuracy and to
file the documents that would have been necessary to effectuate a 1- for- 750 reverse stock split of the issued and
outstanding common stock with a corresponding split of the authorized common stock (the “ Rectified Reverse Stock
Split ) and then immediately thereafter increase the number of shares of authorized common stock back to the number
it was prior to the Rectified Reverse Stock Split as of December 20, 2022. Pursuant to the action of the Company’ s board
of directors by unanimous written consent on April 21, 2023, the board of directors authorized and approved (i) the
Certificate of Correction to correct the Original Articles Amendment (the “ Certificate of Correction ), and (ii) the
Certificate of Change Pursuant to NRS 78. 209 (the “ Certificate of Change ) including the Certificate of Validation of
the Certificate of Change (the “ Change Validation Certificate ) in order to decrease the number of shares of the
Company’ s issued and outstanding shares of common stock and correspondingly decrease the number of authorized
shares of common stock, each at a ratio of 1- for- 750, retroactively effective as of December 20, 2022, without a vote of
the stockholders. The board of directors also directed that the Company file the Certificate of Correction with the SOS
and thereafter file the Certificate of Change including the Change Validation Certificate with the SOS. Pursuant to the
NRS, no stockholder approval for this action was required. On May 25, 2023, the Company filed the Certificate of
Correction and Certificate of Change including the Change Validation Certificate with the SOS, as also reported in
Exhibits 3. 2 and 3. 1, respectively, to the Form 8- K filed by the Company with the Commission on May 25, 2023. To
carry out the original intent of the Originally Intended Reverse Stock Split and in light of the correction, ratification and
validation of the Rectified Reverse Stock Split as described above, the Company’ s Board of Directors and the Majority
Stockholder approved on April 21, 2023 the Authorized Capital Increase Amendment to increase the authorized number
of shares of common stock from 5, 333, 334 shares to 4, 000, 000, 000 shares retroactively as of December 20, 2022, in
accordance with the board’ s and stockholders’ original intent in effecting the Originally Intended Reverse Stock Split.
Further, the Board of Directors determined that it was advisable and in the best interests of the Company to amend and
restate the Company’ s articles of incorporation (as amended to date, the “ Current Articles ) to decrease the number of
shares of authorized common stock to two hundred million (200, 000, 000) and to amend certain other provisions in the
Company’ s Current Articles (the “ Amended and Restated Articles ). The Board of Directors and the Majority
Stockholder determined to decrease the number of shares of our authorized common stock in order to reduce the
number of shares available for issuance given that the large number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance
may have a perceived negative impact on any potential future efforts to attract additional financing due to the dilutive
effect of having such a large number of shares available for issuance. On April 21, 2023, the Company’ s board of
directors and the Majority Stockholder approved the Amended and Restated Articles. Following the effectiveness of the
Certificate of Correction and the Certificate of Change including the Change Validation Certificate filed with the SOS,
on May 25, 2023, the Company filed the Amended and Restated Articles, as also reported in Exhibit 3. 3 of the Form 8-
K filed by the Company with the Commission on May 26, 2023. The foregoing corporate actions were disclosed in the




Definitive Information Statement on Schedule 14C (the “ Information Statement ) filed by the Company with the
Commission on May 2, 2023. As also contemplated in the Information Statement, on May 25, 2023, the Company also
filed with the SOS a Certificate of Withdrawal of Designation of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock and the
Certificate of Withdrawal of Designation of the Series C Convertible Preferred (collectively, the “ Certificates of
Withdrawal ”). The filings of the Certificates of Withdrawals were effective as of May 25, 2023. F- 21 As of December 31,
2022, the Company had 4 ()()0 000, 000 common shares duthonzed with a pdl leue of b () 001 pe1 share Onshares—e—f—eeﬂameﬁ

of Amendment to our Articles of Incorporatlon (the “ Amendment ) to effect a reverse stock spht of our issued and
outstanding shares of common stock at a ratio of 1- for- 750 (the “ Reverse Stock Split ”’).Following the Reverse Stock
Split,each 750 shares of our issued and outstanding shares of common stock were automatically converted into one issued and
outstanding share of common stock,without any change in par value per share.No fractional shares were issued as a result of the
Reverse Stock Split and no cash or other consideration was paid.Instead,we issued one whole share of the post- split common
stock to any stockholder who otherwise would have received a fractional share as a result of the Reverse Stock Split. The As
reetiftedsthe-Reverse Stock Spht did not affect the number of shares of duthonzed stock. Our common stock began tradlng on
a Reverse Stock Split- A share-amounts-eontained-in dated Ve
beenradjusted te—reﬂeet—t-he—Revefse—SteeleSp{-H—basm on December 23, 2022 and was ass1gned a new temporary t1cker
symbol “ ATLXD ” for attprier-the 20 business days following the reverse stock split and on the 21st day,it will change
back to “ ATLX.” . Series A Preferred Stock On December 18, 2012, the Company filed with the Nevada Secretary of State a
Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (““ Series A Stock ) to designate one
share of a new series of preferred stock. The Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock provides that for so long as Series A Stock is issued and outstanding, the holders of Series A Stock shall vote
together as a single class with the holders of the Company’ s €Commen-common Steelstock , with the holders of Series A
Stock being entitled to 51 % of the total votes on all such matters regardless of the actual number of shares of Series A Stock
then outstanding, and the holders of Cemmen-common Steelestock are entitled to their proportional share of the remaining 49
% of the total votes based on their respective voting power. The one outstanding share of our Series A Stock has been held
by our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, Mr. Marc Fogassa since December 18, 2012. Secries D Preferred Stock On
September +4-16 , 2021, the Company filed with the Nevada Secretary of State a Certificate of Designations, Preferences and
Rights of Series D Convertible Preferred Stock (““ Series D Stock ™) to designate 1, 000, 000 shares of a new series of preferred
stock. The Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series D Convertible Preferred Stock (the * Series D COD *°)
provides that for so long as Series D Stock is issued and outstanding, the holders of Series D Stock shall have no voting power
until such time as the Series D Stock is converted into shares of common stock. ©ne-Pursuant to the Series D COD one share
of Series D Stock is convertible into +3-10 , 34-000 shares of common stock and may be converted at any time at the election of
the holder. Giving effect to the Reverse Stock Split discussed above, each share of Series D Stock is effectively convertible
into 13 and 1/ 3 shares of common stock. Holders of the Series D Stock are not entitled to any liquidation preference over the
holders of common stock ;and are entltled to dny dividends or d1st1 1but10ns declared by the C ompany ona pro rata basis. On

eenveﬁrb%e+tete—prrnerpa4—&nd—$—7§—2—7§—ef—mteresfe*peﬂse—F %9—22 Yecu Ended December 31 2022, Tlansaetlons On
December 20, 2022, we...... change back to “ ATLX. ” During the year ended December 31, 2022 the Company issued 832, 439

shares of common stock for gross proceeds of $ 3, 901, 524 pursuant to subscription agreements with accredited investors.
Additionally, the Company issued 116, 959 shares of common stock valued at § 1, 000, 000 as part of a payment for a lithium
mining rights parehases— purchase . Year Ended December 31, 26242023 , Transactions During-On January 9, 2023, the
Company-(the “ Effective Date ”),Atlas Lithium Corporation .cntered into an underwriting agreement (the *“ Underwriting
Agreement ) with EF Hutton,division of Benchmark Investments,LL.C,as representative of the underwriters named therein (the
“ Representative ”’),pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell an aggregate of 675,000 shares of the Company’ s common
stock ,par value $ 0.001 (“ Common Stock ) .to the Representative,at a public offering price of § 6.00 per share (the *
Offering Price ™) in a firm commitment public offering (the “ Offering ). The Company also granted the Representative a 45-
day option to purchase up to 101,250 additional shares of the Company’ s eemmer-Common steek-Stock upon the same terms
and conditions for the purpose of covering any over- allotments in connection with the Offering (the “ Over- Allotment Option
) On Jdnuary 11,2023,the Representqtlve delivered its notice to exe1c1se the Over- Allotment ()ptlon in full Fhe-shares-of
e d-by i g OR-S otrFo s-year-years from the effective
date of the Reglstratlon Statement, provnded that they are sub]ect to a mandatory lock- up for 180 days from the
commencement of sales of the Offering in accordance with FINRA Rule 5110 (e). Aggregate gross proceeds from the
Offering were $ 4, 657, 500. © Payment of $ 400, 000, which payment took place on January 19, 2023, and e issuance of $
750, 000 worth of restricted shares of common stock of the Company which took place on February 1, 2023; F- 23 On
January 30, 2023, the company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “ Purchase Agreement ) with two
investors (the “ Investors ”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to issue and sell to the Investors in a Regulation S
private placement (the “ Private Placement ) an aggregate of 640, 000 restricted shares of the Company’ s common
stock (the “ Shares ). The purchase price for the Shares was $ 6. 25 per share, for total gross proceeds of $ 4, 000, 000.
The Private Placement transaction closed on February 1, 2023. On November 29, 2023 the company entered into two
securities purchase agreements (the “ Purchase Agreements ), with certain accredited investors (the  Investors )
pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell and issue 167, 954 shares of its common stock, par value $ 0. 001 per share
(the “ Registered Shares ) to each Investor in a registered direct offering (the “ Registered Offering ) at a purchase




price of $ 29. 77 per share. for total gross proceeds of approximately $ 9. 9 million after deducting offering expenses paid
by the Company. The registered offering took place on December 6, 2023. Additionally, during the twelve months ended
December 31, 2023, the Company sold an aggregate of 192, 817 shares of our common stock to Triton Funds, LP for total
gross proceeds of $ 1, 675, 797 pursuant to a Common Stock Purchase Agreement (the “ CSPA ”) entered into between
the Company and Triton Funds, LP, dated February 26, 2021 . For a description of the transactions contemplated under
the CSPA, please refer to our Form 8- K filed with the Commission on March 2, 2021. On May 26, 2023, our CEO and
Chairman, Mr. Marc Fogassa, elected to convert 214, 006 shares of Series D Stock, representing all of his outstanding
shares of Series D Stock at that time, into shares of common stock. As a result, of such conversion , the Company issued
+74-Mr. Fogassa 2 ., 049-853 , 679-413 new shares of common stock . Private Placement On July 18, 2023, the Company
consummated a transaction with four investors, pursuant to which the Company agreed to issue and sell to the Investors
in a Regulation S private placement an aggregate of 526, 317 restricted shares of the Company’ s common stock, par
value $ 0. 001 per share. The purchase price for the Shares was $ 19. 00 per share, for total gross proceeds of $ 94410 ,
869-pursuant-000, 023. The Company currently intends to subseription-use the proceeds from the Private Placement for
general working capital purposes. The Investors each made customary representations, warranties and covenants,
including, among other things, that each of the Investors is a “ non- U. S. Person ” as defined in Regulation S, and that
they were not solicited by means of generation solicitation. No broker- dealer or private placement agent was involved in
the Private Placement. The Company entered into a certain technical services agreements— agreement with aceredited-one
of the investors-Investors with experience in the lithium industry . Additienally-Stock Incentive Plan On May 25 , 2023,
the Board approved the 2023 Stock Incentive Plan (the “ Plan ”) which enables the grant of stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock, performance shares, stock unit awards, the-other stock- based awards, and
performance- based cash awards, each of which may be granted separately or in tandem with other awards. The number
of shares of Company s medé%%ﬁ-l—@—é%é—s%mres—e-f—wmnmn stock ttpeﬂ—eeﬂ-vefsteﬁ—ef—fﬁ—l—lssuable pursuant to Plan will
be equal to 2 , 362-000 , 000 shares 988-in-econy able-and-acerted-interest-. FurtherFor a description of the
2023 Stock Incentlve Plan , please refer to the C ompam ’s Rev1sed Definltlve Information Statement on Schedule 14C
ﬁled w1th 13sted 0 6 P 0 porr-the exererse—ef—42—3—C0mmlssmn on June S, 2023

eeﬁtrae’fers—feﬁeﬁ‘tees-preﬁded- F 2—1—24 (ommon Sloel ()plmns Dumw the ye&eyears ended Deumbu 31 2023 and 2022
and2024-, the Company granted options to purchase common stock to officers , consultants and non- management directors.

The options were valued using the Black- Scholes option pricing model with the following average-ranges of assumptions:
SCHEDULE OF OUFSTANDINGAND-EXERCISABEE-BLACK- SCHOLES 6RPHONS- OPTION PRICING MODEL
December 31 ,2622-2023 December 31, 206242022 Expected volatility 103. 60 % — 104. 80 % 216. 34 % —354. 13 % 44—8%
—124—4-%Risk- free interest rate 3. 40 % —3.82 % 1.44 % — 42 . 56 85%-6-9-%—+—75"% Stock price on (Iale of grant § 6-7
50022 - $42-19 . 3756-75 $ 0. 368-75 - § 6. 864125 Dividend yield 0. 00 % 0. 00 % Expected term 1. 5 —H8-years +8-5 years
Changes in common stock options for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows: SCHEDULE OF
COMMON STOCK OUTSTANDING ANBD-EXERCSISABEE-OPTHONS-Number of Options Outstanding and Vested
Weighted Average Exercise Price Remaining Contractual Life (Years) Aggregated Intrinsic Value Outstanding and vested,
January 1, 2023 178, 672 $ 0. 1219 1. 55 $ 1, 228, 972 Issued (1) 80, 000 13. 50 Exercised (2) (207, 141) 1. 4151 Expired
(864) 0. 7500 Outstanding and vested, December 31, 2023 50, 667 $ 15. 9474 2. 40 $ 776, 864 Number of Options
Outstanding and Vested Weighted Average Exercise Price Remaining Contractual Life (Years) Aggregated Intrinsic
Value Outstanding and vested , January 1, 2022 6, 546 $ 8. 25-2500 2. 74 $ 19, 675 Issued (3) 174, 697 0.1063 H—
-Exefetsed—E\pnul (2,571) 19. 7541 %—Ferfetted—()ulsldndmg and vested, December 31, 2022 178, 672 $ 0. 642
1219 1. 55 $ 1, 228, 972 1) In The-eommen-stoekoptionsissaed-nr-the year ended December 31 2—92—2—2023 , 80, 000 common
stock options were issued with a grant date fair value of $ 446, 726. 2) In the year ended December 31, 2023, common stock
option holders exercised a total 207, 141 options at a weighted average exercise price of $ 1. 4151 to purchase 206, S99
shares of the Company’ s common stock. The exercises were paid for with (i) $ 281, 134 in cash proceeds to the Company
and (ii) 542 options conceded in cashless exercises. As a result of the options exercised, the Company issued 206, 599
shares of common stock. 3) In the year ended December 31, 2022, 174, 697 common stock options were issued with a
grant date fair value of $ 58, 685. The-fellowingtable-refleets-all-outstanding-F- 25 During year ended December 31, 2023,
the Company recorded $ 446, 726 in stock- based compensation expense from common stock options in the consolidated
statements of operations and exereisable-comprehensive loss ($ 58, 685, during the year ended December 31, 2022). Series
D Preferred Stock Options During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company granted options to
purchase series D stock to directors of the Company. All Series D preferred stock options as-granted vested immediately at
the grant date and were exercisable for a period of ten years from the date of issuance. The options were valued using the
Black- Scholes option pricing model with the following ranges of assumptions: SCHEDULE OF OPTIONS FAIR
VALUE ASSUMPTIONS December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 Expected volatility 135 . AH-81 % — 154. 32 % 216. 55
% —290. 40 % Risk- free interest rate 3. 42 % — 4. 73 % 1. 51 % — 4. 05 % Stock price on date of grant § 7. 0000- $ 38.
8900 $ 4. 7250- $ 12. 3750 Dividend yield 0. 00 % 0. 00 % Expected term S years 10 years Changes in Series D preferred
stock options immediately-vestand-are-exereisable-for the a-period-often-ycars fronrthe-date-ofissuanee—ended December 31,
2023 and 2022 were as follows: SCHEDULE OF PREFERRED STOCK Number of Options Outstanding and Vested
Weighted Average Exercise Prteed— Price (a) Remaining Contractual Life (\ ears) Agglegdlul Intrinsic Value Outstanding and
vested , January 1, 26242023 36-72 , 000 $ 9-0 . 10 44 ed 3 ;

F25-600-5-8. 94 § 6, 712, H2+Fhis-800 Issued (1) 36, 000 0. 10 Exerc1sed (2) (108, 000) 0 10 Outstandmg and vested
December 31, 2023- $-- $- F- 26 Number of Options Outstanding and Vested Weighted Average Exercise Price (a)




Remaining Contractual Life (Years) Aggregated Intrinsic Value Outstanding and vested, January 1, 2022 36, 000 $ 0. 10
9.44 $ 2, 732, 400 Issued (3) 36, 000 0. 10 Outstanding and vested, December 31, 2022 72, 000 $ 0. 10 8. 94 $ 6, 712, 800
(a) presents-Represents the exercise price required to purchase 43—34-shares-ofeommeon-stoels-as-one share of Series D Stock ,
which is convertible into 13 =34-and 1/ 3 shares of common stock at any time at the election of the holder. Fhe-1) In the year
ended December 31, 2023, 36, 000 Secries D preferred stock options were issued #n-with a total grant date fair value of $ 2,
507, 766, 2) In the year ended December 31, 26222023 , Series D preferred stock option holders exercised a total 108, 000
options at an exercise price of $ 0. 10 to purchase 108, 000 shares of the Company’ s Series D Stock. The exercises were

issted-paid for with a-grant-date-fair-valte-of-$ 863-10 , 800 in cash proceeds to 676 During-the-yearended-Deeember3+;

2624-the Company granted-eommon-stoek-options-and-. As a result of the Scries D preferred stock options exercised te
purchase-anaggregate-of486-, 786-the Company issued 108, 000 shares of Series D Stock. The stockholders of the Series D

Stock subsequently converted 108, 000 shares of Series D Stock into 1, 439, 996 shares of common stock te-offieers-and
ﬂeﬂ-—managemeﬂt—d-rreeters— 5[—he—3) In the year ended December 31 2022 36 000 Serles D preferred stock opllons were

aed-w 11h a 101‘11 ﬁmnl date fair value of %-1—854 946+94—364— -See—Nete
atedPa ASactions 5 nformation-relatedto-During year ended December 31, 2023, the Company
recorded $ 2, 507 766 in stock- based compensatlon expense from Series D preferred stock options isswed-in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss ($ 854, 946, during the year ended December 31, 2022). As
at December 31, 2023, there are no Series D preferred stock options outstanding for-the-Company—s-subsidtartesJupiter
Gold-and ApeHeReseurees-no shares of Series D Stock outstanding . Common Stock Purchase Warrants Stock purchase
warrants are accounted for as equity in accordance with ASC 480, Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to,
and Polunmll\ Sullul in,a C ompdn\ s Own Sloel\ Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity. During the years ended ¥22-Fhe
0 e 6 e e ants-at-December 31, 2023 and 2022 , the Company issued
common st0ck purchase warrants to 1nvest0rs, ﬁnders and brokers in connection with the Company’ s equity financings

CAllw arrants vest within 180 days from issuance and are exercisable for a period of one twe-- to five to-feur-years from the
dale of'issuance . The common stock purchase warrants were valued using the Black- Scholes option pricing model with
the following ranges of assumptions: SCHEDULE OF WARRANT ASSUMPTION December 31, 2023 December 31,
2022 Expected volatility 101. 39 % — 127. 17 % 188. 48 % — 197. 45 % Risk- free interest rate 3. 43 % — 3. 83 % 2. 79 %
—3.79 % Stock price on date of grant $ 8. 10- $ 20. 28 § 7. 5750- § 12. 6750 Dividend yield 0. 00 % 0. 00 % Expected
term 1. 5 to S years 2. 0 to 3. 3 years F- 27 Changes in common stock purchase warrants for the years ended December
31,2023 and 2022 were as follows : SCHEDULE OF WARRANT ACTIVITY Number of Warrants Outstanding and Vested
Weighted Average Exercise Price Weighted Average Contractual Life ( ¥rs-Years —) Aggregated Intrinsic Value Outstanding
and vested, January 1, 2023 321, 759 $ 12. 8634 1. 30 $- Warrants issued (1) 241, 446 8. 5677 Warrants exercised (2)
(507, 444) 8. 2857 Outstanding and vested, December 31, 2023 55, 761 $ 10. 6087 1. 34 $ 1, 152, 654 Number of Warrants
Outstanding and Vested Weighted Average Exercise Price Weighted Average Contractual Life (Years) Aggregated
Intrinsic Value Outstanding and vested , January 1, 2022 406, 270 § 11. 475-4750 1. 97 $- Warrants issued (3) 69, 730
1090 Warrants exercised ( 4) (154, 244230 ) 5. 7008 Outstanding and vested, December 31, 2022 321, #59-770 $ 12. 86 34 1.

0 $- 1) The steekpurehase-warrants issued in the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 had were-issued-with-a total grant date
fair value of § 8672 , 368-158, 116 . 2) During the year ended December 31, 2023, warrant holders exercised a total 507,
444 warrants to purchase 446, 948 shares of the Company’ s common stock. The warrant exercises were executed with
exercise prices ranging between $ S. 1085 and $ 15. 00 per share and were paid for with (i) $ 1, 774, 608 in cash proceeds
to the Company and (ii) 60, 496 warrants conceded in cashless exercises. As a result of the warrants exercised, the
Company issued 446, 948 shares of common stock. 3) The warrants issued in the year ended December 31, 2022 had a
total grant date fair value of $ 853, 397. F- 284) During the year ended December 31, 2022, warrant holders exercised a
total 154, 230 warrants to purchase 135, 631 shares of the Company’ s common stock. The warrant exercises were
executed with exercise prices ranging between $ 4. 3125 and $ 8. 025 per share and were paid for with (i) $ 600, 159 in
cash proceeds to the Company and (ii) 18, 610 warrants conceded in cashless exercises. As a result of the warrants
exercised, the Company issued 135, 631 shares of common stock. During year ended December 31, 2023, the Company
recorded the following as a result of the Company’ s common stock purchase warrants: (i) $ 1, 961, 661 in stock- based
compensation expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss and (ii) $ 196, 454 in share
issuance costs in the consolidated statement of changes in equity ($ 853,397 and $ nil, during the year ended December
31, 2022). Restricted Stock Units During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company granted RSUs to certain
officers, consultants and directors of the Company. The RSUs were granted with varying vesting conditions as tailored to
each recipient. Each RSU is redeemable for one share of the Company’ s Common Stock immediately upon vesting. The
RSUs granted with immediate- vesting, time- vesting, and performance- vesting conditions were as follows: 1) 204, 904
RSUs which vested immediately upon grant. 2) 88, 653 RSUs awarded to finders which vested upon completion of the
Company’ s royalty financing and equity financings in the period. 3) 226, 364 RSUs which time- vest as follows: 71, 405
vesting in 2024, 69, 405 vesting in 2025, 54, 404 vesting in 2026, and 31, 150 vesting in 2027 4) 623, 000 RSUs which vest
upon achieving certain performance milestones at our Neves Project. These RSUs granted with immediate- vesting, time-
vesting, and performance- vesting conditions were issued with a total grant date fair valied— value of $ 23, 037, 701,
including $ 849, 340 measured using Hull the-Black— Seholes-optionrprieing-White lattice binomial model for awards with
escrow requirements and $ 22, 188, 361 measured using the Company’ s 20- day volume weighted average price trailing




to the date the RSU was granted. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company granted RSUs with market-
vesting conditions as follows: 1) 77, 000 RSUs which shall vest upon achieving certain market capitalization milestones
ranging between $ 500 million and $ 2 billion. These were designated as equity- classified awards and are measured at
amortized cost. 2) A quantity of RSUs which shall vest in seven individual tranches equivalent to 0. 20 % of the
Company’ s common stock outstanding each, up to a maximum of 1. 4 %, if and when the Company’ s market
capitalization achieves progressive milestones ranging from $ 200 million to $ 1 billion. These were designated as
liability- classified awards and are measured at fair value through profit or loss. These RSUs with market- vesting
conditions were issued with a total grant date fair value of $ 3, 068, 763, as measured using a Monte Carlo Simulation
with the following ranges of assumptions: ett-the Company’ s stock price on th date-ofthe-grant dates (whtehranged
between$ 723 . 5750-and-81 to $ 42-30 . 6756-61) , expected dividend yield of 0 —=0-%, expected volatility between +88-82 . 48
80 % and +97-102 . 45-49 %, estimated-based-onhistorteatshare-priee-volatility-, risk- free interest rate between 2-a range of 5 .
79-09 % and-3-to 5 . 79-53 %, and an expected term ef2-te-4-between 6 months and 3 years. The expected volatilities were
based on historical volatilities of the securities of the Company and its trading peers, and the risk- free interest rates
were determined based on the prevailing rates at the grant date for U. S. Treasury Bonds with a term equal to the
expected term of the award being valued. During year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recorded the following as
a result of the Company’ s RSU activity: (i) 220, 437 RSUs were redeemed for common shares issued (nil, during the
year ended December 31, 2022), and (ii) $ 9, 926, 951 in stock- based compensation expense ($ nil, during the year ended
December 31, 2022). As of December 31, 2023, the Company had 1, 167, 652 RSUs outstanding including 115, 653 vested
and 1, 051, 999 unvested, and had a $ 513, 756 derivative liability outstanding from liability- classified awards
(December 31, 2022: nil outstanding and a $ nil derivative liability). F- 29 NOTE 6 - COMMITMENTS AND
CONTINGENCIES Rentat-The following table summarizes certain of Atlas’ s contractual obligations at December 31,
2023 (in thousands): SCHEDULE OF CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS Total Less than 1 Year 1- 3 Years 3-5 Years
More than 5 Years Lithium processing plant construction (1) $ 7, 680, 785 $ 7, 680, 785 $- $- $- Land Acquisition (2) 3,
119, 099 3, 119, 099--- Total 10, 799, 884 10, 799, 884--- (1) Lithium processing plant construction are related to
agreements with suppliers contracted for the construction of the processing plant, with the majority of payments due
upon delivery. (2) land acquisition related to the land purchase agreements on the lithium valley (3) Please see
Commitmentcommitments related to Leases in Note 2. NOTE 7- RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS The related
party transactions are recorded at the exchange amount transacted as agreed between the Company and the related
party. All the related party transactions have been reviewed and approved by the board of directors. The Company rents-’
s related parties include: SCHEDULE OF RELATED PARTIES Martin Rowley Martin Rowley is a senior advisor to
the Company. In 2023, the Company entered into a Convertible Note Purchase Agreement with Martin Rowley relating
to the issuance to Martin Rowley along with other experienced lithium investors. Martin Rowley is the father of Nick
Rowley, the Company’ s VP Business Development. Jaeger Investments Pty L.td Jaeger Investments Pty Ltd is a
corporation in which senior advisor, Martin Rowley, is a controlling shareholder. RTEK International DMCC RTEK
International DMCC is a corporation in which the VP Business Development of the Company, Nick Rowley, and Brian
Talbot, our Chief Operating efftee-Officer space-ireffective on April 1, 2024 are controlling shareholders. Shenzhen
Chengxin Lithium Group Co., Ltd Shenzhen Chengxin Lithium Group Co., Ltd is a non- controlling shareholder.
Sichuan Yahua Industrial Group Co., Ltd Sichuan Yahua Industrial Group Co., Ltd, is a non- controlling shareholder.
Technical Services Agreement: The Company entered into an independent consultant service agreement with RTEK
International. F- 30 Convertible Note Purchase Agreement: The Company entered into a Convertible Note Purchase
Agreement with Martin Rowley relating to the issuance to Martin Rowley along with the-other B-experienced lithium
investors of convertible promissory notes with an aggregate total principal amount of $ 10 . S-0 million, accruing interest
at a rate of 6 . 5 % per annum. The Notes will mature on the date that is thirty- six months from the Closing Date.
Offtake and Sales Agreements: In 2023 the Company entered into Offtake and Sales Agreements with each of Sichuan
Yahua Industrial Group Co., Ltd. and Sheng Wei Zhi Yuan International Limited. a subsidiary of Shenzhen Chengxin
Lithium Group Co., Ltd., pursuant to which the Seller agreed, for approximately-a period of five (5) years, to sell to each
Buyer 60, 000 dry metric tons of lithium concentrate (the “ Product ) per year, subject to Seller’ s authority to increase
or decrease such quantity by up to ten percent (10 %) each year. Each Buyer agreed invest $ 5 ;- 756-en-amonth—. 0
million in the purchase of shares of our common stock at $ 29. 77 per share and to pre - montlr-basis-pay to us, the Seller,
$ 20. 0 million (each, a “ Pre- Payment Amount ”) for future deliveries of the Product after the company obtains
customary licenses. Each Pre- Payment Amount will be used to offset against such Buyer’ s future payment obligations
for the Product . The Company-alsorents-offiee-space-inBrazik-Sueh-eosts-related parties outstanding amounts and
expenses at the year ending December 31, 2023 and 2022 arc immatertal-te-shown below: SCHEDULE OF RELATED
PARTIES OUTSTANDING AMOUNT AND EXPENSES December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 Accounts Payable /
Debt Expenses / Payments Accounts Payable / Debt Expenses / Payments RTEK International $- $ 1, 449, 000 $- $-
Jaeger Investments Pty Ltd. $ 1, 954, 145 $ 13, 405 $- $- Total $ 1, 954, 145 $ 1, 462, 405 $- $- In the course of preparing
consolidated financial statements , we eliminate the effects of various transactions conducted between Atlas and its
subsidiaries and among the subsidiaries . NOTE-7~REEATEDPARTY-TRANSACHONS Jupiter Gold (‘olporulion During
the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 , Jupiter Gold granted opllons 10 puld] 1se an aggregate of 525-420 , 000 shares of its
common stock to Marc Fogassa at prices ranging between $ 0. 01 to $ 1. 00 per share. The options were \dluul at $+63-115,
7067038 and recorded to stock- based compensation. The oplions were v alucd using the Black- Scholes option pricing model
with the following average assumptions: the Company’ s stock price on the date of the grant ($ 0. 58-65to $ +2 .25-10 ), an
illiquidity discount of 75 % , expected dividend yield of 0 %, historical volatility calculated between 268 97-3-% and 364 225+



8%, risk- free interest rate between a range of +3 . 5442 % to 34 . 5-73 %, and an expected term between 5 and 10 years. As-of
During the year ended December 31, 26222023 , Marc Fogassa exercised a total 1, 115, 000 options at a $ 0. 98 weighted
average exercise price. These exercises were paid for with 386, 420 options conceded in cashless exercises. As a result of
the options exercised, the Company issued 728, 580 shares of Jupiter Gold’ s common stock to Marc Fogassa. As of
December 31, 2023 , an aggregate 1, 965210 , 000 Jupiter Gold common stock options were outstanding with a weighted
average life of 8. 22 years at an average exercise price of $ 0. 043 and an aggregated intrinsic value of $ 1, 041, 300.
During 2023, the Company acquired 320, 700 shares of Jupiter Gold common stock at $ 1. 00 per share in satisfaction of
existing debt. During the year ended December 31, 2022, Jupiter Gold granted options to purchase an aggregate of 420,
000 shares of its common stock to Marc Fogassa at prices ranging between $ 0. 01 to $ 1. 00 per share. The options were
valued at $ 103, 707 and recorded to stock- based compensation. The options were valued using the Black- Scholes option
pricing model with the following average assumptions: the Company’ s stock price on the date of the grant ($ 0. 58 to $ 1.
25), an illiquidity discount of 75 %, expected dividend yield of 0 %, historical volatility calculated between 97. 3 % and
225. 8 %, risk- free interest rate between a range of 1. 51 % to 3. 5 %, and an expected term between S and 10 years. As
of December 31, 2022, an aggregate 1, 905, 000 Jupiter Gold common stock options were outstanding with a weighted
average llfe 0f4 74 yedrs at an average exeluse pnce of $0.57 and an dgglegdted mtrmsu value of § 1, 077 050 M-

ﬂ&e—ehe-tee—ef—l\v{-r—Fegassa—F 2—3—31 Apollo Resource (orpomnon Du11ng the year ended Degember 31 %92—2—2023 Apollo
Resources granted options to purchase an aggregate of 225-180 , 000 shares of its common stock to Marc Fogassa at a price of $
0. 01 per share. The options were valued at $ 334235 , 858-034 and recorded to stock- based compensation. The options were
valued using the Black- Scholes option pricing model with the following average assumptions: the Company’ s stock price on
the date of the grant-grants ( $4-66+te-5 5. 00 to $ 6. 00 ) , an illiquidity discount of 75 % . expected dividend yield of 0 %,
historical volatility calculated between 49-17 . 2-41 % and 58-57 . 8+-96 %, risk- free interest rate between a range of +3 . 5142
% to3-4 . 573 %, and an expected term of 10 years. As of December 31, 2622-2023 , an aggregate 225405 , 000 Apollo
Resources common stock options were outstanding with a weighted average life of 8. 84 years at an average exercise price of
$ 0. 01 and an aggregated intrinsic value of § 2, 425, 950. During 2023, the Company purchased 527, 750 shares of Apollo
Resource Corporation common stock at $ 5. 98 per share. During the year ended December 31, 2022, Apollo Resources
granted options to purchase an aggregate of 225, 000 shares of its common stock to Marc Fogassa at a price of $ 0. 01 per
share. The options were valued at $ 331, 858 and recorded to stock- based compensation. The options were valued using
the Black- Scholes option pricing model with the following average assumptions: the Company’ s stock price on the date
of the grant ($ 4. 00 to $ S. 00), an illiquidity discount of 75 %, expected dividend yield of 0 %, historical volatility
calculated between 49. 2 % and 58. 01 %, risk- free interest rate between a range of 1. 51 % to 3. 5 %, and an expected
term of 10 years. As of December 31, 2022, an aggregate 225, 000 Apollo Resources common stock options were
outstandmg w1th a weighted average llfe of 9.33 yedrs at an average exercise pnce of b 0.01 and an dgglegdted mtrmsm
value of $ 1 v g v 3 ates-an-o eom §

operates primarily in Brazil w lnch exposes it to culrency “Tisks. The Company’ s business activities may generate mtercompany
receivables or payables that are in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity. Changes in exchange rates from
the time the activity occurs to the time payments are made may result in the Company receiving either more or less in local
currency than the local currency equivalent at the time of the original activity. The Company’ s consolidated financial
statements are denominated in U. S. dollars. Accordingly, changes in exchange rates between the applicable foreign currency
and the U. S. dollar affect the translation of each foreign subsidiary’ s financial results into U. S. dollars for purposes of
reporting in the consolidated financial statements. The Company’ s foreign subsidiaries translate their financial results from the
local currency into U. S. dollars in the following manner: (a) income statement accounts are translated at average exchange rates
for the period; (b) balance sheet asset and liability accounts are translated at end of period exchange rates; and (c) equity
accounts are translated at historical exchange rates. Translation in this manner affects the shareholders’ equity account referred
to as the foreign currency translation adjustment account. This account exists only in the foreign subsidiaries’ U. S. dollar
balance sheets and is necessary to keep the foreign subsidiaries’ balance sheets in agreement. NOTE 9- SUBSEQUENT
EVENTS In accordance with FASB ASC 855 10 Subsequent Events, the C ompdny has analyzed 1ts ODGI‘dtIOI]S subsequent to
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SIGNATURES Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. Atlas Lithium Corporation Date:
March 36-27 , 2623-2024 By: / s / Marc Fogassa Marc Fogassa Chief Executive OfficerPursuant to the requirements of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in
the capacities and on the dates indicated: Signature Title Date / s / Marc Fogassa March 38-27 , 2023-2024 Marc Fogassa Chief
Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and Chairman of the Board / s / Gustavo Pereira de Aguiar March 36-27 , 2623
2024 Gustavo Pereira de Aguiar Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) /s / Roger Noriega
Director March 36-27 , 2623-2024 Ambassador Roger Noriega / s / Cassiopeia Olson Director March 36-27 , 2623-2024
Cassiopeia Olson, Esq. / s / Stephen Peterson Director March 36-27 , 2623-2024 Stephen Peterson, CFA Exhibit 4. 6-1
DESCRIPTION OF ATLAS LITHIUM CORPORATION’ S SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 This section describes the general terms of the €empany-Atlas Lithium
Corporation ° s eemmon-(the “ Company ”) capital stock. The Company’ s eemmen-capital stock and the rights of the
holders of its eemmen-capital stock are subject to the applicable provisions of the Nevada Revised Statutes, which is referred to
herein as “ Nevada law ” or the “ NRS , ” the Company’ s amended and restated articles of incorporation, as amended (referred
to herein as the “ Articles of Incorporation ), the Company’ s second amended and restated bylaws, as amended (referred to



herein as the “ Bylaws ™), and the rights of the holders of the Company’ s preferred stock. Because this is only a summary, it
does not contain all of the information that may be important to you. For a complete description of the matters set forth herein,
you should refer to eur-the Articles of Incorporation, esr-Bylaws and the Certificates of Designation, Preferences and Rights
of each authorized series of preferred stock . cach of which is included as an exhibit to the Annual Report, and to the
applicable provisions of Nevada law. Authorized Capital Under the Company’ s Articles of Incorporation, the Company has the
authority to issue 200 4;-806-, 000, 000 shares of common stock, par value $ 0. 001 per share, and 10, 000, 000 shares of
preferred stock, $ 0. 001 par value per share. As of March 29-25 , 2023-2024 , there were issued and outstanding: 6-12 , 738-769
,962-581 shares of common stock, one share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, and zero 244;-806-shares of Series D
Convertible Preferred Stock. Voting Rights Each outstanding share of the Company’ s common stock is entitled to one vote per
share of record on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders and to vote together as a single class for the election of
directors and in respect of other corporate matters. At a meeting of stockholders at which a quorum is present, for all matters
other than the election of directors, all corporate actions are determined by a majority of the votes cast at a meeting of
sharehotders-stockholders by the holders of shares entitled to vote thereon. Directors are elected by a majority of the votes of
the shares present at a meeting. Holders of shares of common stock do not have cumulative voting rights with respect to the
election of directors or any other matter. Holders of the Company’ s common stock are entitled to receive dividends or other
distributions when, as and if declared by the Company’ s board of directors. The right of the Company’ s board of directors to
declare dividends, however, is subject to any rights of the holders of other classes of the Company’ s capital stock, any
indebtedness outstanding from time to time and the availability of sufficient funds, as determined under Nevada law, to pay
dividends. Preemptive Rights The holders of the Company’ s common stock do not have preemptive rights to purchase or
subscribe for any of the Company’ s capital stock or other securities. Redemption-Shares of the Company’ s common stock are
not subject to redemption by operation of a sinking fund or otherwise. Liquidation Rights In the event of any liquidation,
dissolution, or winding up of the Company, subject to the rights, if any, of the holders of other classes of the Company’ s capital
stock including its preferred stock, the holders of shares of the Company’ s common stock are entitled to receive any of the
Company’ s assets available for distribution to its stockholders ratably in proportion to the number of shares held by them. The
Company’ s common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market of the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC under the symbol “ ATLX.
” Transfer Agent and Registrar The transfer agent and registrar for the Company’ s common stock is VStock Transfer, LLC.
Certain Provisions of Nevada Law and the...... Bylaws Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. One share of our Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock (“ Series A Preferred ™) is issued, outstanding and held since 2012 by Marc Fogassa, the Company’
s Chief Executive Officer and Chairman . The holders of the Series A Preferred have full voting rights and powers equal to
the voting rights and powers of holders of common stock . The Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series
A Preferred provides that for so long as Series A Preferred is issued and outstanding, the holders of Series A Preferred shall vote
together as a single class with the holders of our common stock, with the holders of Series A Preferred being entitled to 51 % of
the total votes on all matters regardless of the actual number of shares of Series A Preferred then outstanding, and the holders of
common stock and any other class or series of capital stock entitled to vote with the common stock being entitled to their
proportional share of the remaining 49 % of the total votes based on their respective voting power. As a result, stockholders
have limited ability to impact our operations and activities. The vote of 100 % of the outstanding Series A D-Convertible
Preferred Stock shall determine the vote of the Series A Preferred Stock as a class. If the holders of Series A Preferred
Stock cannot unanimously agree on how to vote on a particular matter or matters, then the holders shall submit such
matter or matters for a determination by a majority of the directors of the Board of Directors of (including, for such
purpose, directors who are holders of Series A Preferred Stock) and the holders shall be deemed to have voted all of
their shares of Series A Preferred Stock in accordance with the determination of the Board of Directors. Holders of the
Series A Preferred may elect to convert each share of Series A Preferred into one share of common stock. The rights,
powers or privileges of the Series A Preferred may not be altered without the approval of all holders of outstanding
Series A Preferred. Holders of our Series A Preferred are not entitled to dividends, except that in the event that a
dividend is declared on the Company’ s common stock, the holders of the Series A Preferred shall receive the dividends
that would be payable if all the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock were converted into common stock
immediately prior to the declaration of the dividend. In the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding up, the holders of
the Series A Preferred are not entitled to a liquidation preference over the holders of common stock, and shall share in
any remaining assets pro rata with the holders of common stock as if converted into common stock . On September 14,
2021, our Board of Directors designated a new class of preferred stock called Series D Convertible Preferred Stock (““ Series D
Preferred ”) which has no voting rights, unless exeept-onrmatters-the approval-shares of swhiech-wonld-have-amadverse-effeeton
steh-elass-Series D Preferred are converted into shares of common stock . A Certificate of Designation, Preferences and
Rights of Series D Preferred was filed with the State of Nevada on September 16, 2021. —One share of Series D Preferred is
convertible at any time into 13 and 1 /3 shares of our common stock —solely at the election of the holder of Scrics D Preferred
is-eonvertible-inte-, subject to any adjustment in the event of a reorganization, recapitalization, stock split, stock dividend,
combination of shares efeur—- or similar change in the Company’ s shares. If the Company declares a dividend or
distribution on its common stock , selely-at-the eleetion-efthe-holder-holders of Series D Preferred are entitled to receive
such dividend or distribution on a pro rata basis with the common stock determined on an as- converted basis. The
rights of the Series D Preferred cannot be waived or amended without the affirmative vote of a majority of the holders of
Series D Preferred. Authorized But Unissued Capital Stock —=The Company has shares of common stock and preferred stock
available for future issuance without stockholder approval, subject to any limitations imposed by the hsting-standards-Nasdaq
Listing Rules . The Company may utilize these additional shares for a variety of corporate purposes, including for future public
offerings to raise additional capital or facilitate corporate acquisitions or for payment as a dividend on the Company’ s capital



stock. The existence of unissued and unreserved common stock and preferred stock may enable the Company’ s board of
directors to issue shares to persons friendly to current management or to issue preferred stock with terms that could have the
effect of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire, or could discourage a third party from seeking to acquire, a
controlling interest in the Company by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest, or otherwise. In addition, if the Company
issues preferred stock, the issuance could adversely affect the voting power of holders of common stock and the likelihood that
such holders will receive dividend payments and payments upon liquidation. Blank-CheeleRreferred-Stoele-The Company’ s
board of directors, without stockholder approval, has the authority under the Company’ s Articles of Incorporation, to issue
preferred stock with rights superior to the rights of the holders of common stock. As a result, preferred stock could be issued
quickly and easily, could impair the rights of holders of common stock, and could be issued with terms calculated to delay or
prevent a change in control or make removal of management more difficult. Certain Provisions of Nevada Law and the
Company’ s Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws The following paragraphs summarize certain provisions of Nevada law and
the Company’ s Articles of Incorporation ;-and Bylaws.Certain provisions of the Company’ s Articles of Incorporation,and
Bylaws,and Nevada law could make an acquisition of the Company by a third party,a change in the Company’ s incumbent
management,or a similar change in control more difficult. These provisions,which are summarized below,are likely to discourage
certain types of coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids.These provisions are also designed to encourage
persons seeking to acquire control of the Company to first negotiate with the Company’ s board of directors.The Company
believes that these provisions help to protect its potential ability to negotiate with the proponent of an unfriendly or unsolicited
proposal to acquire or restructure the Company,and that this benefit outweighs the potential disadvantages of discouraging such
a proposal because the Company’ s ability to negotiate with the proponent could result in an improvement of the terms of the
proposal.The existence of these provisions which are described below could limit the price that investors might otherwise pay in
the future for the Company’ s securities.Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws Election of Directors. The Company’ s bylaws
provide that a vacancy on the board of directors shall be filled by the directors then in office, though less than a quorum. These
provisions may discourage a third party from voting to remove incumbent directors and simultaneously gaining control of the
Company’ s board of directors by filling the vacancies created by that removal with its own nominees. Removal of Directors.
Except in certain cases for directors elected by the holders of any series of preferred stock, a director may be removed only by
the affirmative vote of a-majertty-two- thirds of the outstanding shares entitled to vote. Since Mr. Fogassa effectively holds a
majority of the voting power, the other stockholders are effectively prohibited from removing directors. Stockholder Meetings.
Special meetings of sharehelders-stockholders , other than those regulated by statute, may be called by the president upon
written request of the holders of 50 % or more of the outstanding shares entitled to vote at such special meeting. Since Mr.
Fogassa effectively holds a majority of the voting power, the other stockholders are effectively prohibited from calling special
meetings. This provision may discourage another person or entity from making a tender offer, even if it acquired a majority of
the Company’ s outstanding voting stock, because the person or entity could only take action at a duly called stockholders’
meeting or by written consent. Anti- takeover Effects of Nevada Law Business-Certain provisions of the Nevada Revised
Statutes, or NRS, as described below, may delay or discourage transactions involving an actual or potential change in
our control or change in our management, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a
premium for their shares or transactions that our stockholders might otherwise deem to be in their best interests.
Combinations with Interested Stockholders Fhe-Nevada’ s ** business-eombination-combinations with interested stockholders ™
pfew‘lsteﬂs-e-f—Seeﬁens-statutes, NRS 78. 411 te—through 78. 444, inclusive, pl‘Ohlblt specrﬁed types of t-he—busmess 4

any person deemed to be an with-atlea 0 d i art

withrany-interested stockholder ” for a—peﬂed-ef—two years after such person ﬁrst becomes an “ interested stockholder ”
unless (1) the date-corporation’ s board of directors approves, in advance, either the combination itself, or the transaction
by which the-such person bee&rne—becomes an 1nterested stockholder, ﬂﬁ-}ess-or (2) the combination is approved by the

Gemp&ny—s—board of dlrectors

affirmative-vote-of stoekholdersrepresentingatdeast-60 % of the then- outstandmg votmg power he{d-of the corporatlon s
stockholders not beneficially owned by the disinterested—-- interested stoelholders-- stockholder , its affiliates and extends
beyond-associates. Further, in the expiratierrabsence of the prior approval described above, certain restrictions may apply
even after such two- year period . However , unless:-e-the-these statutes do not apply to any combination was-approved-by
the-Company—s-beard-of a corporation and direetors-priorto-the-person-beeoming-an interested stockholder er-after the
fransaeﬁeﬁ—by—wﬁeh—explratlon of four years after the person first became an interested stockholder . was-approved-by-the

0 For purposes of t-he—these statutes




interested stockholder ” is any ~-a-person w ho owns-is (1) the beneficnal owner , (lmtll\ or indirectly, of 10 % or more of &
the voting power of the outstanding voting shares of the corporation , >s-veting-steek;-or (#2 ) an dl[llldlL or associate of the
corporation ¥he-and at any time within the two previous years was the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 10 % or
more of the voting power of the then outstanding shares of the corporation. The definition of the term “ combination ” is
sufficiently broad to cover most significant transactions between a corporation and an interested stockholder. These
statutes generally apply to “ resident domestic corporations, ” namely Nevada corporations with 200 or more
stockholders of record. However, a Nevada corporation may elect in its articles of incorporation not to be governed by
these particular laws, but if such election is not made in the corporation’ s original articles of incorporation, the
amendment (1) must be approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of stock representing a majority of the
outstanding voting steek-power of the corporation not beneficially owned by interested stockholders or their affiliates
and associates, and (2) is not effective until 18 months after the vote approving the amendment and does not apply to any
combination with a person who first became an interested stockholder on or before the effective date of the amendment .
Fhe-Our amended and restated articles of incorporation include a provision providing that at such time, if any, that we
become a “ resident domestic corporation ” as defined in the NRS, we will not be subject to, or governed by, any of the
provisions of NRS 78. 411 to 78. 444, inclusive, as amended from time to time, or any successor statutc eoutd-prohibit. As
a result, pursuant to NRS 78 434, the “ combinations w1th mterested stockholders > statutes will not apply to us, unless
ot-our amended detay 3 ; attempts-and ;-aceordinglymay-diseourage-attempts
restated articles of 1ncorporat10n are subsequently further amended to aeqtu-re—prowde that we are sub]ect to t-he—those
provisions. Acquisition of Controlling Interest Statutes Nevada g 6

Company-" s “ acquisition of controlling interest ” statutes, NRS 78. 378 through 78. 3793 1nclus1ve, contam provisions

governing the acquisition of steekholders— stockholder voting power the-epportanity-to-set-theirstoekat-a-priee-above the
pfev&&mg—ma-rket—pﬂee-spemﬁed thresholds in certain Nevada corporations . Control-Share-Aequisttions—The-These *“ control
share ”” laws provide generally that any person that acqu1res a pfeﬁsreﬁs—e-PSeeﬁeﬁs—7-8—34-8—te—7-8—3493—rﬂe+tme—eﬁhe
N-R—S—&pp-l-y—te— -rssumg—eefpefa-ﬁeﬁs—controlhng interest’ that—&re—m certain Nevada u)lpomtmns may be denled

ire \olin;T rights
a-ta orporati ; o35t -6 t old-pereentag unlesxamajorlty-t-he—&equ-rref
ebt&‘rr&apprev&l—o[ the tafget—eefpefa-ﬁeﬂ—s-(lmntuutul \lOLkhOl(lLlS at—of the corporatlon elects to restore such voting
rights. These laws provide that a speetal-person acquires a “ controlling interest ” whenever a person acquires shares of a
subject corporation that, but er-for annual-meeting-of-the application of steekholders—Thestatutespeeifies-three— these
thresholds-provisions of the NRS, would enable that person to exercise (1) one- fifth or more , but less than one- third, (2)
one- third or more, but less than a majority s-and-or (3) a majority or more, of all of the eefpefa-t—ieﬂ’—s—eﬁtst&ﬂd-rﬂg—\ oting power
of the corporation in the election of directors . Gererallyonee-Once an acquirer crosses one of the-these abeve-thresholds,
these-shares which it in-an-offer-oraeguisittorrand-acquired in the transaction taking it over the threshold and within the 90
days immediately preceding the date when the acquiring person beeame-anracquired or offered to aequirer— acquire a

controlling interest bLLOlHL control \hdlLS &nd—sueh—eeﬂtfel-shafes—&r&&eprwed-e%&xe—ﬂght—lo which vete-until-disinterested
stoekholdersrestore-the right—These-provisions e voting restrictions

described above apply. In rights it i majority-er-our mere—e%a-l—l—vetmg—pewefsecond
amended and restated bylaws we have elected &H—ethefsteekhe}ders—w-he—de—nol Vete—m—faver—e%&ut-heﬁz-mgﬁet-mg—ﬂg-lﬁs-lo

i eis i poratt ; et-te-not-be governed b\ or-and to otherw1se opl out 2of, the eentret
S‘h&fe-pm\ isions by—ma-kmg—of NRS 78 378 to 78. 3793 inclusive. Absent such provision in our bylaws, these statutes
would apply to us as of a particular date if we were to have 200 or more stockholders of record (at least 100 of whom
have addresses in Nevada appearing on our stock ledger at all times during the 90 days immediately preceding that date)
and do business in the State of Nevada directly or through an eleetiontn-its-affiliated corporation, unless our articles of

incorporation or bylaws —pfeﬂded—t-ha-t—t-he—ept-—eut—e}eeﬁeﬂ—must—be— ptaee-effect on the +oth-tenth day feHewing-after the
acquisition of date-anaequiring-personhas-aequired-a controlling interest -provide otherwise. NRS 78. 139 (4) also provides

that directors of a Nevada corporation may resist a change or potential change in control of the corporation if the board
of directors determines that the change or potential change is opposed to ., eressing-or not in, the best interest of the
corporation upon consideration of any efthe-relevant facts, circumstances, contingencies or constituencies that three-—-
the thresholds-desertbed-above-directors are entitled, but not required, to consider when exercising their directorial
powers pursuant to NRS 78. 138 (4) . The existence Company-hasnotopted-outof the foregoing provisions and the-other
eontrol-share-statutes;and-witkpotential anti- takeover measures could limit the price that investors might be sabjeet
willing to pay in these—- the statatestfwe-are-future for shares of our common stock. They could also deter potential
acquirers of our company, thereby reduclng the hkehhood that you could receive a premlum for your common stock in
an acquisition “s po S evad
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MMERIGH%S—MH%GA@—E%E%NSP@KPBR@S&B@%&E—HPE&( thls “ AgreementR@S&B@%H:E— )
dated as of September 30 , 2023, is by and between Atlas Lithium Corporation, a privatetegal-entity-Nevada corporation
(the “ Company ) , with U. S. corporate headquarters at 1200 N. Federal Hwy FaxpayerD-ENPI-ME{-e1-, Suite 200,
Boca Raton, FL 33432 and Igor Tkachenko (“ ITK ”), a U. S. citizen with effiees-an address at 199 Wall Street # 392 ,

hereinrrepresentedby-New York, NY 10005. Each of the Company and ITK s is a managing member,{-of-domietled-att
H—here&rafter—referred—te—as— Party-SE—I:I:ER—H%S—S{GNGR— —BM-I%PMFHGI—PAG@E—S—HPBA—%BMHH a—prw&te—}ega-}
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hererﬁa-fteﬁreferred—te-as— Pamcs ”. The Parties —thfeﬂgh—agree to the followmg terms 1. Retentlon of ITK Subject to the
terms and conditions set forth in this Private-Agreement , the Company hereby retains ITK on a full- time basis to
perform the services set for-forth Purehase-in this Agreement, and Sate+Assignment-of MiningRightsthereinafterreferred
to-ITK accepts this retention on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement. ITK shall not take any role as
executive, or member of the management team of any company, whether private or public, during the time of this
Agreement unless authorized in writing by the Company. 2. Term. This Agreement shall commence on September 30,
2023 (the “ Start Date ”) and shall continue in effect until December 31, 2026 (the “ Termination Date ) or until the time
this Agreement is terminated in accordance with the terms herewith. This Agreement may be renewed upon the Parties’
mutual consent. 3. Termination. a) During the Term, of this Agreement may be terminated at any time by mutual
written agreement of the Parties. The Company shall have the right to terminate this Agreement during the Term if ITK
is in material breach of this Agreement and fails to cure the breach within ten (10) days of receiving a written, detailed
notice from the Company descrlbmg the breach (the “ Company Notice ”) . The board of directors of ;-agree-hereby-the

e v g d 57— the undertake-Company shall have full discretion to
eemp-l—y—determme whether ITK has materlally breached this Agreement. b) This Agreement will terminate automatically
upon ITK’ s death, or in the event ITK becomes disabled and such disability substantially impairs ITK’ s ability to carry
out his obligations hereunder. c) In the event that this Agreement is terminated pursuant to the terms of this Section 3,
no additional payments will become due and owing past the termination date. Upon the end of the Term, ITK will
discontinue any further services hereunder. 4. Scope of Work. The services to be performed by ITK under this
Agreement (the “ Work ”) shall consist of all tasks assigned by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, including,
but not limited to, the following: e Supervision of the Company’ s communications efforts, including investor relations
firm, website, social media, and other communication channels; ® Joint engagement and collaboration with the
Company’ s development of strategies related to its growth plans, including relationships with investment banks and
funds; e Joint engagement and collaboration with Company’ s efforts and eventual agreements with lithium concentrate
buyers; and e Other services to developed and assigned during the course of this Agreement. S. Title. ITK shall have the
following title : Vice President BACKGROUND-(H-Whereas ROSA-DO-VALEs-the-helder-of Corporate Strategy. 6. Base
Compensation. The Company shall pay ITK an annual gross fee of $ 420, 000 during the MiningRights-Claims-Term of
this Agreement (to be prorated in the event of earlier termination pursuant to the terms of Section 3 hereof) (the *
Annual Fee ”) The Annual Fee shall be payable in monthly 1nstallments of $ 35 000 (the « Monthly Installments ”) in

Gla-rm—S%@é%é—z%@%@—lms not been cured as contemplated in Sectlon yet—gr&nted+ptﬂahshed—rts—l%ese&reh—Peﬂﬁt—aﬂd—

he-vin G - $3 (a ) hereof , itean-onty-be-transferred+
assrgned—a-fteﬁ he Company shall not owe ITK any Monthly Installments gr&nt—/—ptﬂaheatten—eﬁrts—permrt—t-heproeee&rﬂg—l or
transfer-of-the period rights g al-Ga

fespeetwe—Rese&reh—Peﬂﬁrt—érrﬁ—\‘vlhereas—lhc materlal breach was Mining =- s-Claims-are-fo
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eas— 0 oting-Company of
Notlce 7. Stock Compensatlon Durmg the P—U—RGI—L%SE—R—H%S—S-IGN-E—E—tm&eﬁakes—term of this Agreement ITK shall have
the joint-and-severatiability-opportunity to earn stock compensation in the for-form the-eomplianee-hereofinrspeetatas
feg&rds—t-he—beﬂ-uses—feﬁssu&ﬂee—ol #s-common stock \hdlL\ ’fe—t-he—beﬁeﬁ-t—o “the-SEFEERAASSIGNOR (v The Parties

htts pots v-Company

i i i i i Ady N as 0110\\ sta)If and when the Company
reaches for the -Frr-st—ﬁrst P&ymeﬁt—eﬂe-tlme $ 200 mllllon U. S rone-hundred-and-fifty-thousand-USDettars-dollars in
market capitalization (5SB1;,150,-006-06)-as fellows:a-determined by Bloomberg L . +-P. (“ Bloomberg ” ) Four-hundred
theusand-US-, ITK shall receive a number of fully vested shares of the Company’ s common stock, par value $ 0. 001 (the
“ Common Stock ) equivalent to 0. 20 % of the then outstanding shares of Common Stock; and b) If and when the
Company reaches for the first time $ 300 million U. S. BeHars-dollars (5S-in market capitalization as determined by
Bloomberg, ITK shall receive a number of fully vested shares of the Common Stock equivalent to 0. 20 % of the then
outstanding shares of Common Stock; and c) If and when the Company reaches for the first time $ 400 -666-million U .
S. dollars in market capitalization as determined by Bloomberg, ITK shall receive a number of fully vested shares of the
Common Stock equivalent to 0. 20 % of the then outstanding shares of Common Stock; and d) If and when the Company
reaches for the first time $ 66-500 million U. S. dollars in market capitalization as determined by Bloomberg, ITK shall
receive a number of fully vested shares of the Common Stock equivalent to 0. 20 % of the then outstanding shares of
Common Stock; and e) If and when the Company reaches for the first time $ 600 million U. S. dollars in market
capitalization as determined by Bloomberg, ITK shall receive a number of fully vested shares of the Common Stock
equivalent to 0. 20 % of the then outstanding shares of Common Stock; and f) If and when the Company reaches for the
first time $ 800 million U. S. dollars in market capitalization as determined by Bloomberg, ITK shall receive a number of
fully vested shares of the Common Stock equivalent to 0. 20 % of the then outstanding shares of Common Stock; and g)
If and when the Company reaches for the first time $ 1 billion U. S. dollars in market capitalization as determined by
Bloomberg, ITK shall receive a number of fully vested shares of the Common Stock equivalent to 0. 20 % of the then
outstanding shares of Common Stock; and h) Notwithstanding the conditions described in this Section 7, if and when the
Company undergoes a change of control (“ Change of Control ”), then and only then, any such items a through g of this
Section 7 that have not occurred at the time of the change in control (“ Items Not Occurred ” ) shall be patd-ont
accelerated and ITK shall the-then datein-whieh-receive an aggregate number of fully vested shares of Common Stock
equivalent to the sum of the Items Not Occurred, with such calculated number not to exceed a maximum of 1. 40 % of the
the-then total-assignments-outstanding shares of Common Stock. For purposes of this Agreement, “ Change of Control
shall have the MiningRights-avaitablefor BMIX-are-meaning defined in the Company’ s Stock Plan as filed with the AINM;
Securities and Exchange Commission. 8. Expense Reimbursement. For expenses of ITK in connection with rendering
Services and work- related travel under this Agreement, ITK shall be reimbursed by the Company in cash promptly
upon submission of the expense receipts by the ITK to the Company in the form acceptable to the Company, provided
that any expense above $ 1, 000 shall be authorized by the Company in writing prior to ITK incurring such expense.
Reimbursable expenses shall include work- associated travel expenses such alrfare, transportatlon, accommodatlons and
meals during travel. ITK shall be allowed to claim Brazilian fega
Portuguese language tutoring expenses to no exceed $ 200 per ‘month. ITK shall be reimbursed for busmess class (or

equivalent) airfare on flights which last four hours or greater. 9. Covenants by ITK the-SEEEER/ASSIGNOR-the-depeosit
shp—serﬁng—as-pree%e%paymeﬁt—e-ﬁs&td—ms%meﬁt— ITK hereby agrees a%—Seveﬂ—h-&ndred-&ﬂd—ﬁ-ft-y—theusaﬂd—U-S—BeH&rs

Wﬂ) dlsclose t0 the Company beneﬁt—e-ﬁt-he—S-E—]:I:E—R—Hﬁ—S—S{GNe%\\ ithin two -ﬁve—é—)—busmus days
eounted-: i) any inquiries or other contact from any entity pertaining to any executive work- related activity involving
ITK; and ii) any material events affecting, or which may reasonably be expected to affect, ITK’ s ability to perform the
Work. 10. Confidential Information. All information which ITK may now possess, may obtain during or after the term
of this Agreement, or may create prior to the end of the term of this Agreement relating to the business of the Company
or its affiliates or subsidiaries or of any of their respective customers or vendors (collectively, the “ Confidential
Information ) shall not be published, disclosed, or made accessible by him to any other person, firm or corporation
either during or after the term of this Agreement or used by him, except during the term of this Agreement in the
business and for the benefit of the Company without the prior written consent of the Company. ITK shall return all
tangible evidence of such Confidential Information to the Company prior to or at the end of the term of this Agreement.
This Agreement is also confidential, except to the extent required to be disclosed pursuant to applicable laws. ITK agrees
that the-- he entering-will not disclose, publicize, or discuss any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement with anyone,




except his attorney, and / or accountant, or as otherwise required exeeutiorrhereof—The-number-of shares-to-be-issued-by

law. In the Gtt&r&nteeﬁrg—}nteﬁeﬂmg—P&rfy—&nd—pfeﬂded-event ITK dlscloses thls Agreement or any of its terms or
condltlons to the—Sel-}efhls attorney, and Assignor-will-be-based-on te-of severrhundred-and-fifty-thousand

b ment: h 1t 999—993— shall bk, his duty to adv1se pa-td—sald
1nd1v1dual (s) of the conﬁdentlal nature of this Agreement; and dlrect them not to disclose, publicize, or discuss any of the
terms or conditions of this Agreement within--- with five(5-anyone else. 11. Non- Compete. a ) In view of the ITK’ s
knowledge of the trade secrets and other proprietary information relating to the business days-of the Company and its
subsidiaries and their customers and dealers which ITK has heretofore obtained and is expected to obtain during the
Term of this Agreement (the “ Employment Period ), and in consideration of the compensation to be received
hereunder, ITK agrees that he will not during the Employment Period and for one year thereafter Participate In (as such
term hereinafter defined) any other mining or mineral exploration business with a majority of its operations in Brazil. b)
The term “ Participate In > shall mean: “ directly or indirectly, for his own benefit or for, or through any other person,
firm, or corporation, own, manage, operate, control, loan money to (provided, that an investment in debt instruments
issued pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, shall not be deemed
to be a loan), or participate in the ownership, management, operation, or control of, or be connected as a director,
officer, employee, partner, ITK, agent, independent contractor, or otherwise with, or acquiesce in the use of his name in.
”¢) Durmg the Employment Perlod and for a perlod of one year after the Termlnatlon Date pﬂbhe&ﬁeﬂ—rn—t-he—Feéefa-}
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will not directly trans he
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at any time up t0 from
Bhﬂ%egf&nﬂng—lhc f-uHest—Termlnatlon Date , absotute ab rreversible ase-as-was to-an employee of
the Company or its subsidiaries without Sﬂbjeet—matteﬂrewe-f—bemg—saﬁsﬁedﬂmth—l 1c amounts-negotiated-herein, replacing
written consent of the Company. d) ITK agrees that the provisions of this Section 11 are necessary and reasonable to
protect the Company in the conduct of its business. If any previotsnegotiations-and--restriction contained in this Section

11 shall be deemed to be 1nvahd 1llegal or unenforceable by reason pfe}nﬁtnaﬁ—&gfeefﬂeﬂts—ef&efed—rf&e—between—&re

eﬂ-tefed-rn—sep&fa-te-eﬁ—t-hese——— the ﬂ‘rmmg—assets—negeﬁa-ted—hefeby—extent duratlon, or geographlcal scope thereof t-he—p-}edge
otrthe-shares-of the-eompany BME<or otherwise, the-then issta 3 e
eﬂeeﬁa-paﬁsmg—&ﬁd-gu&f&n-teemg—lhc court maklng such determlnatlon fem&rmng—&metuﬁ—&gfeed—rﬂ-rtem%—l—hefee-t;}ess—&te

P a-notte ems he A A p and-the-tatter-shall ha\ e a—the right to reduce such extent
duratlon, geographlcal scope, or 0ther provisions hereof, and in its reduced form such restriction shall then be
enforceable in the manner contemplated hereby 12. Indemnlﬁcatlon Wlth respect to any acts or fallures to act durlng

deposttions—4—3—The-SEEEERAASSIGNOR-shall bc entitled to ebt&m—aeeess—lndemnlﬁcatlon (1nclud1ng relmbursement of

reasonable attorney’ s fees and costs) and liability insurance coverage provided at the Company’ s cost, in each case, on
substantially the same basis as other executive officers of the Company; provided, however, that, for the avoidance of

doubt such 1ndemn1ﬁcat10n will not be provnded with respect to (a) any data;reeords;reportsinformation; results-ofessays;

and-acts or failures to act that constitute
w1llful misconduct or gross neghgence or (b) any dlspute arising under or relatlng to this Agreement. 13. Liability

Limitation. In no event shall either party be liable to the other party whether in contract, tort or otherwise, for payment



of any special, indirect, incidental, consequential or similar damages. Any and all actions, causes of action, contracts,
demands or claims, whether in contract, negligence or otherwise known to law, which the Company may have arising out
of the Work provided by ITK under this Agreement (hereinafter referred to as “ claims ” or “ claim ) shall be limited to
the compensation paid to ITK for the perforation—--- portion data-of the Work giving rise to liability , seil-samples-except
when “ gross negligence ” and / or “ willful malfeasance ” on the part of ITK is determined , pulp-in which case there are
no limitations. 14. Notices. All notices required under this Agreement shall be deemed given when sent by email ,
overnight courier or registered or certified mail, or when sent by telecopy, telegraph or other graphic, electronic means
and confirmed by overnight courier or registered or certified mail addressed to the address set forth in the preamble to
this Agreement. Either Party shall have the right to change the address or name of the person to whom such notices are
to be delivered by notice to the other Party. 15. Company Policies. ITK will comply with the Company’ s Code of Ethics
and Ins1der Tradmg Policy, attached as Exhlblts A and B hereto, as amended and supplemented from time to tlme as

holes;-and-h htum-mining aete a-t-the-h an meentent-thatmay be-feﬁﬂd-deteﬁﬂme-lmplementedbythe
Company and pr0v1ded to ITK (collectlvely, “ Company P011c1es ), as each may be modified from time to time. Except
as otherwise agreed in writing, ITK shall recuse himself from participation in any matter in which the— he eentinuity-of
the—he}es—(n ﬂet—&nd—t-hefe-any organlzatlon w1th which he is afﬁhated ne—eb-l-rg&t—ten—te—d-rrﬂ—he-}es—lf—t-he—&rea—ms fe-an actual

§—AH—the—Rese&reh—\¥eﬂes—and—theJPee-}m:eaH%epethd I bu fnaée—ITK’ s express obhgatlon to promptly inform the

Company of the existence of any potential or actual conflict of interest. The Company shall be the final arbiter with
respect to whether recusal is required. 16. Law and paid-exetasively-Venue. This Agreement shall be governed in all
respects by BiM-and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Nevada without regard to conflicts of law
provisions . Any dispute between the Parties S~ RIGHFSAND-OBHGAHONSOFTHEPARHES 5-—1-ROSADO-VALE
shall have-be heard only in the feHewing Eighth Judicial District Court of Clark County in the State of Nevada. 17.
Waiver of Trial by Jury. The Company and ITK hereby knowmgly, voluntarlly and 1ntent10nally waive the rights— right

to and-obligations=—a trial by jury v r-with the-ANM-respect to any
litigation based hereon, or arising out of the-, under or in connectlon with thls agreement . This provision is a material

1nducement for ass*gn-meﬁt—&nd—tr&nsfefe-ﬁt-rt-}e—en—llu partles enterlng 1nto thls Agreement 18 Headlngs The headlngs

ats-provided for

reference only t-he—&nnua-l—fees—pefheetﬁre—w-rt-h—t-he
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Amaemenl shall be deemed to be nor shall constltute a waiver of any other prov1snon, whether or not 51m11ar, nor shall

any walver constitute a contlnumg waiver. N 0 walver shall be binding unless executed in writing and-sent-by emat-to-f-o—
d P G h ; ptto-the party making addressestistedn-the preamble-waiver.

20. Cumulatlve Remedles All rlghts and remedles of the parties under this Agreement s-and-the PARTFY-shall keep-the-be

cumulative, and other—-- the exerclse of PAR—'PI—E—S—&pda-Eed—en—dnv one rlght eh&nge—e-ﬁadd-ress—l—l—4—:4:pphe&b-}e—1:aw—?hﬂ

eeﬂffaetua-l-bar the exercise of any other rlght or remedy 21 Severablhty If any provision of thls Agreement shall be
held or deemed to be invalid, inoperative or unenforceable, such circumstances shall not affect the validity of any other
provision of this Agreement. 22. Publicity. ITK shall not make any public disclosures regarding the Company, its
subsidiaries or affiliates or the project for which he is performing the Work without the prior approval of the Company.

23 Modlficatlons No amendmenl or modlficatlon to ﬂeV&&eﬁ—l—l—é—Vahdﬁy—Hrease—&&yhe—Hhe—e%aﬁses—e—ﬂ 11S instramentis
Sﬂeh—a—dee}&r&t-ren—t-}ns—&greement—Agreement vﬂﬂ—}ese-&s—ebjeet—l—H—}ndeﬁaﬁrﬁeaﬁeﬂ—Eaeh—P&rfyh mll be -1-1ab}e—aﬂd-sha1-}

indemnify-the-effective unless made in writing by mutual agreement of both parties. 24. Termination of Prior Consulting
Services Agreement. The Parties hereby mutually agree to terminate other—- the for-anyproventoss-prior Amended
Consulting Services Agreement entered between the Parties on or damage-resulting-from-its-aets-about April 15, 2023 (the
“ Prior Consulting Agreement ”), which may-irany-way-termination will take effect upon the execution of this
Agreement. The Parties agree that upon termination of the Prior Consulting Agreement , direetly-there are no rights or

-rnehreet—l-y—affeet—the—etheeobhgatlons that are owed to e1ther Party under such agreement eﬁhe—Mrnrng—Rtghts—hefenﬂéer—

Igor Tkachenko Slgnature Serp ; : ita
SeHer+Asstgnor-Date: %92—3—EXHIBIT A CODE OF ETHICS (See attached 91—1—9—8—34—32—P—M—93—) EXHIBIT B



INSIDER TRADING POLICY Exhibit DESCRIPTION OF ATLAS LITHIUM CORPORATION ’ 66-Purehaser+
AsstgneeDate:2623-S SUBSIDIARIESName Jurisdiction Percentage Owned Atlas Litio Brasil Ltda 9—1—Brazﬂ 99 .99 %
by Company Apollo Resources Corporation Marshal Islands 58 06°

Date:2623- 6+71 % by Company Jupiter Gold Corporation Marshal Islands 27 . 42 % by Company Mineracio Apollo
Ltda +6-4:—+4:22 PM—03> 00> BRASH-& ISRAEEL- MINERACAO LTDA-. ConsentingIntervening Party-Witnesses:-Brazil
99. 99 % by Apollo Resources Corporation Mineracio Jupiter Ltda. Brazil 99. 99 % by Jupiter Gold Corporation
Mineraciao Duas Barras Ltda. Brazil 99. 97 % by Mmerag:ao Apollo Ltda RST Recursos Mlnerals Ltda Brazil 99 99 %
by Mineracio Apollo Ltda. Exhibit 23. | - Big stte

AM—3-00=Exhibit 31. | CERTIFICATION I, Marc Fogassa Certlfy that (1) I have rev1ewed thls Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022-2023 , of Atlas Lithium Corporation (2) Based on my knowledge, this report
does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
considering intght-of-the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report; (3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report; (4) I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (¢)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)) for the company and have: (a) Designed such disclosure controls and
procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting,
or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under their supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles; (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’ s disclosure controls and
procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the
company’ s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the company’ s most recent fiscal quarter (the
company’ s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the company’ s internal control over financial reporting; and (5) I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the company’ s auditors and the audit committee of the company’ s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design
or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the company’ s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves
management or other employees who have a significant role in the company’ s internal control over financial reporting. Date:
March 36-27 , 2623-2024 / s / Marc Fogassa Marc Fogassa Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) Exhibit 31. 2 1,
Gustavo Aguiar, certify that: (1) I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10- K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2622-2023 , of Atlas Lithium Corporation; (2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, considering intight-efthe circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; (3) Based on my
knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
(4) T am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15
(f)) for the company and have: Date: March 38-27 , 2023-2024 / s / Gustavo Aguiar Gustavo Aguiar Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer) Exhibit 32. 1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 I, Marc Fogassa,
certify pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report on Form 10- K of Atlas Lithium
Corporation for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022-2023 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13 (a) or Section
15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. Date: March 36-27 , 2623-2024 By: / s /
Marc Fogassa Marc Fogassa (principal executive officer) A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has
been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission
or its staff upon request. Exhibit 32. 2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, I, Gustavo
Aguiar, certify pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report on Form 10- K of Atlas
Lithium Corporation for the fiscal year ended December 31, 20222023 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13 (a)
or Section 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the information contained in the Report fairly
presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. Date: March 36-27 , 2023
2024 By: / s/ Gustavo Aguiar Gustavo Aguiar (Chief Financial Officer) Exhibit ATLAS LITHIUM CORPORATION’ S
POLICY RELATING TO THE RECOVERY OF ERRONEOUSLY AWARDED COMPENSATION In accordance with
the applicable rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market (the “ Nasdaq Rules ), Section 10D and Rule 10D- 1 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act ) (“ Rule 10D- 1 ), the Board of Directors (the “ Board ) of
Atlas Lithium Corporation (the “ Company ) has adopted this Policy (the “ Policy ) to provide for the recovery of
erroneously awarded Incentive- based Compensation from Executive Officers. All capitalized terms used and not
otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in Section H, below. Recovery of Erroneously Awarded




Compensation (1) In the event of an Accounting Restatement, the Company will reasonably promptly recover the
Erroneously Awarded Compensation Received in accordance with Nasdaq Rules and Rule 10D- 1 as follows: a. After an
Accounting Restatement, the Compensation Committee (if composed entirely of independent directors, or in the absence
of such a committee, the Audit Committee) (the “ Committee ) shall determine the amount of any Erroneously Awarded
Compensation Received by each Executive Officer and shall promptly notify each Executive Officer with a written
notice containing the amount of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation and a demand for repayment or return of such
compensation, as applicable. i. The Company shall maintain documentation of the determination of such reasonable
estimate and provide the relevant documentation as required to the Nasdaq. b. The Committee shall have discretion to
determine the appropriate means of recovering Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on the particular facts and
circumstances. Notwithstanding the foregoing, except as set forth in Section (2) below, in no event may the Company
accept an amount that is less than the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation in satisfaction of an Executive
Officer’ s obligations hereunder. c. To the extent that the Executive Officer has already reimbursed the Company for
any Erroneously Awarded Compensation Received under any duplicative recovery obligations established by the
Company or applicable law, it shall be appropriate for any such reimbursed amount to be credited to the amount of
Erroneously Awarded Compensation that is subject to recovery under this Policy. d. To the extent that an Executive
Officer fails to repay all Erroneously Awarded Compensation to the Company when due, the Company shall take all
actions reasonable and appropriate to recover such Erroneously Awarded Compensation from the applicable Executive
Officer. The applicable Executive Officer shall be required to reimburse the Company for any and all expenses
reasonably incurred (including legal fees) by the Company in recovering such Erroneously Awarded Compensation in
accordance with the immediately preceding sentence. (2) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company
shall not be required to take the actions contemplated by Section (1) above if the Committee determines that recovery
would be impracticable and any of the following three conditions are met: a. The Committee has determined that the
direct expenses paid to a third party to assist in enforcing the Policy would exceed the amount to be recovered. Before
making this determination, the Company must make a reasonable attempt to recover the Erroneously Awarded
Compensation, documented such attempt (s) and provided such documentation to the Nasdaq; b. Recovery would violate
home country law where that law was adopted prior to November 28, 2022, provided that, before determining that it
would be impracticable to recover any amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on violation of home
country law, the Company has obtained an opinion of home country counsel, acceptable to the Nasdaq, that recovery
would result in such a violation and a copy of the opinion is provided to Nasdaq; or c. Recovery would likely cause an
otherwise tax- qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to employees of the Company, to fail
to meet the requirements of Section 401 (a) (13) or Section 411 (a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended,
and regulations thereunder. Prohibition of Indemnification The Company shall not be permitted to insure or indemnify
any Executive Officer against (i) the loss of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation that is repaid, returned or
recovered pursuant to the terms of this Policy, or (ii) any claims relating to the Company’ s enforcement of its rights
under this Policy. Further, the Company shall not enter into any agreement that exempts any Incentive- based
Compensation that is granted, paid or awarded to an Executive Officer from the application of this Policy or that waives
the Company’ s right to recovery of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation, and this Policy shall supersede any such
agreement (whether entered into before, on or after the Effective Date of this Policy). Administration and Interpretation
This Policy shall be administered by the Committee, and any determinations made by the Committee shall be final and
binding on all affected individuals. The Committee is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to make all
determinations necessary, appropriate, or advisable for the administration of this Policy and for the Company’ s
compliance with Nasdaq Rules, Section 10D, Rule 10D- 1 and any other applicable law, regulation, rule or interpretation
of the SEC or Nasdaq promulgated or issued in connection therewith. Amendment; Termination The Committee may
amend this Policy from time to time in its discretion and shall amend this Policy as it deems necessary. Other Recovery
Rights This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Executive Officers and, to the extent required by
applicable law or guidance from the SEC or Nasdagq, their beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators or other legal
representatives. The Committee intends that this Policy will be applied to the fullest extent required by applicable law.
Any employment agreement, equity award agreement, compensatory plan or any other agreement or arrangement with
an Executive Officer shall be deemed to include, as a condition to the grant of any benefit thereunder, an agreement by
the Executive Officer to abide by the terms of this Policy. 12 Any right of recovery under this Policy is in addition to, and
not in lieu of, any other remedies or rights of recovery that may be available to the Company under applicable law,
regulation or rule or pursuant to the terms of any policy of the Company or any provision in any employment
agreement, equity award agreement, compensatory plan, agreement or other arrangement. Definitions For purposes of
this Policy, the following capitalized terms shall have the meanings set forth below. “ Accounting Restatement ” means
an accounting restatement due to the material noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting requirement
under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued
financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements (a “ Big R ” restatement), or that
would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the
current period (a “ little r ” restatement). “ Clawback Eligible Incentive Compensation ” means all Incentive- based
Compensation Received by an Executive Officer (i) on or after October 2, 2023, (ii) after beginning service as an
Executive Officer, (iii) who served as an Executive Officer at any time during the applicable performance period relating
to any Incentive- based Compensation (whether or not such Executive Officer is serving at the time the Erroneously
Awarded Compensation is required to be repaid to the Company), (iv) while the Company has a class of securities listed



on a national securities exchange or a national securities association, and (v) during the applicable Clawback Period (as
defined below). “ Clawback Period ” means, with respect to any Accounting Restatement, the three completed fiscal
years of the Company immediately preceding the Restatement Date (as defined below), and if the Company changes its
fiscal year, any transition period of less than nine months within or immediately following those three completed fiscal
years. “ Erroneously Awarded Compensation ” means, with respect to each Executive Officer in connection with an
Accounting Restatement, the amount of Clawback Eligible Incentive Compensation that exceeds the amount of Incentive-
based Compensation that otherwise would have been Received had it been determined based on the restated amounts,
computed without regard to any taxes paid. “ Executive Officer ” means each individual who is currently or was
previously designated as an “ officer ” of the Company as defined in Rule 16a- 1 (f) under the Exchange Act. “ Financial
Reporting Measures ” means measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles
used in preparing the Company’ s financial statements, and all other measures that are derived wholly or in part from
such measures. Stock price and total shareholder return (and any measures that are derived wholly or in part from
stock price or total shareholder return) shall, for purposes of this Policy, be considered Financial Reporting Measures.
For the avoidance of doubt, a Financial Reporting Measure need not be presented in the Company’ s financial
statements or included in a filing with the SEC. “ Incentive- based Compensation ” means any compensation that is
granted, earned or vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure. “ Nasdaq ”
means The Nasdaq Stock Market. “ Received ” means, with respect to any Incentive- based Compensation, actual or
deemed receipt, and Incentive- based Compensation shall be deemed received in the Company’ s fiscal period during
which the Financial Reporting Measure specified in the Incentive- based Compensation award is attained, even if the
payment or grant of the Incentive- based Compensation to the Executive Officer occurs after the end of that period. «
Restatement Date  means the earlier to occur of (i) the date the Board, a committee of the Board or the officers of the
Company authorized to take such action if Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have
concluded, that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, or (ii) the date a court, regulator or
other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare an Accounting Restatement.



